
 
 

Borough of Tamworth 

 

 
10 December 2013 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council of this Borough to be 
held on TUESDAY, 17TH DECEMBER, 2013 at 6.00 pm in the TOWN HALL, MARKET 
STREET, TAMWORTH, for the transaction of the following business:- 
 

AGENDA 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 2) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-pecuniary) 
in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 
 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of such interest.  
Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   
 

4 To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader, Members of the 
Cabinet or the Chief Executive  

5 Question Time:  

 (i) To answer questions from members of the public pursuant to 
Procedure Rule No. 10. 

 

(ii) To answer questions from members of the Council pursuant to 
Procedure Rule No. 11 

 
 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



6 Tamworth Parliamentary Constituency - Review of Polling Places (Pages 3 - 
56) 

 (Report of the Chief Executive) 
 

7 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
Mid-year Review Report 2013/14 (Pages 57 - 76) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets) 
 

8 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 (Pages 77 - 242) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets) 
 

9 Fraud and Corruption Update Report (Pages 243 - 298) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Operations and Assets) 
 

10 Local Enterprise Partnership Governance Arrangements (Pages 299 - 314) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Education) 
 

11 Revised Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2013-2016 (Pages 315 - 
352) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Waste Management) 
 

12 Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 Fees (Pages 353 - 382) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Waste Management) 
 

13 Review of Anti-Money Laundering Policy (Pages 383 - 394) 

 (Report of the Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer) 

 
Yours faithfully  
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
People who have a disability and who would like to attend the meeting should contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709264 or e-mail committees@tamworth.gov.uk  
preferably 24 hours prior to the meeting.  We can then endeavour to ensure that any particular 
requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Marmion House 

Lichfield Street 

Tamworth 



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

COUNCIL 

HELD ON 19th NOVEMBER 2013 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor J Garner (Chair), Councillors R Kingstone, M Clarke, 

S Claymore, T Clements, D Cook, C Cooke, M Couchman, 
S Doyle, J Faulkner, M Greatorex, G Hirons, A James, J Jenkins, 
A Lunn, M McDermid, R McDermid, K Norchi, J Oates, 
R Pritchard, E Rowe, P Seekings, P Standen and M Thurgood 

 
The following officers were present: Anthony E Goodwin (Chief Executive), John 
Wheatley (Executive Director Corporate Services), John Day (Corporate 
Performance Officer) and Lara Allman (Democratic & Election Services Officer) 
 
 
 

37 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors L Bates, K Gant, M Gant 
and S Peaple. 
 

38 TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS HELD ON 10 

SEPTEMBER 2013  

 
The minutes of the meetings held on 10 September 2013 were approved and 
signed as a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor A Lunn) 
 

39 STATE OF TAMWORTH DEBATE  

 
Councillor D Cook introduced the Tamworth Listens report and moved a motion in 
terms of Rule 4.13(n) to suspend Rule 4.14.5 to allow Members to speak more 
than once and amend Rule 4.14.4 to reduce the length of each speech to 5 
minutes, this was seconded by Councillor R Pritchard and was carried. 
 
The debate was focused on the four key issues that came out of the consultation 
and Tamworth Listens events. Councillor S Claymore introduced the Town Centre 
(Place), Councillor M Greatorex introduced Housing (Place), Councillor J Oates 
introduced Tackling Crime (People) and Councillor S Claymore introduced 
Education and Skills (People) and a full debate followed each introduction. 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Council 19 November 2013 

 

 

2 
 

Following the debate the following motions were approved 
 
RESOLVED:  That: 
 1 Aspire and Prosper Scrutiny focus even more effort on the 

Town’s Education opportunities and Challenge in a 
positive way; 

 2 The cross party Local Plan working group increase its 
work looking at and looking to resolve challenges of the 
21st Century; 

 3 The Council receive an update from Councillor Claymore 
on the skills agenda undertaken by the LEP, and; 

 4 The Council publically thank the 100 plus people that 
attended this years Tamworth Listens event. 
 

  (Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded Councillor J 
Faulkner) 

 
 

  

 The Mayor  
 

Page 2



 
COUNCIL 

 

17 DECEMBER 2013 
 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 

TAMWORTH PARLIAMENTARY CONSTITUENCY – REVIEW OF POLLING PLACES 
 

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None  
 
 

PURPOSE  
 
To inform Members of the comments received from the recent consultation in respect of the 
review of polling districts and polling places undertaken in accordance with the Electoral 
Administration Act 2006 and the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 and to 
make recommendations relating to polling places within the Parliamentary Constituency that 
fall within the Borough of Tamworth.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Council 
 

1. Consider the results from the review process and endorse the officer 
recommendations together with reasons for said proposals for the polling districts as 
detailed in Appendix C including changes to the following polling districts as detailed 
below:  

 
a) GL1 & GL3 Glascote Ward – move from Glascote Heath Primary School to the 

Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Church and; 
b) TR4 & TR5 Trinity Ward – move from Dosthill Primary School to The Boys Club 

(Cadogan Rd). 
 
2. Publish such information as prescribed in compliance with the legislation and; 

    
3. Where required make appropriate recommendations for consideration by Cabinet in 

the Budget Setting Process 2014/15. 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Electoral Administration Act 2006 (EAA 2006) introduced a duty upon all local authorities 
to review their parliamentary polling districts and polling places at least once in every four 
year period. The last such review was completed at the end of 2011. The Electoral 
Administration and Registration Act 2013 (ERA 2013) introduced a change to the timing of 
compulsory reviews of UK Parliamentary polling districts and polling places. It stipulates that 
the next compulsory review must be completed between 1st October 2013 and 31st January 
2015 (inclusive).  
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 3



Local Authorities are required to divide every constituency into polling districts for the 
purpose of Parliamentary elections and to designate a polling place for each polling district. 
Polling places should be within the polling district unless special circumstances make it 
necessary to designate an area outside this. 
 
The consultation period began on Tuesday 1st October 2013 and ran for a period of 6 weeks. 
Notices were placed on the council’s website, council offices and library along with press 
releases in the Tamworth Herald inviting electors to submit comments. Potentially interested 
organisations were written to along with local political parties. Appendix A outlines the 
organisations contacted. 
 
Appendix B details all of the polling places within the parliamentary constituency that have 
been consulted upon. A total of 20 submissions were received. These are detailed in 
Appendix C. Submissions have been received regarding the polling places in the following 
polling districts: 
 

• CA2 (Castle Ward) – 2 responses 

• CA3 (Castle Ward) – 1 response 

• BO3 (Bolehall Ward) – 1 response 

• AM4 (Amington Ward) – 1 response 

• BE1 (Belgrave Ward) – 1 response 

• TR4 & TR5 (Trinity Ward) – 13 responses 

• ST2 (Stonydelph Ward) - 1 response  
 

 
Of the responses identified in Appendix C the majority (13) of these related to the polling 
place for TR4 and TR5 (Dosthill Primary School). On the whole the responses for the 
remaining polling districts indicate that they are generally happy with the current polling 
arrangements. The Acting Returning Officer (ARO), where appropriate, has commented on 
the responses received and proposed recommendations / actions - these are included in 
Appendix C. 
 
In addition we have also received notification from the Glascote Ward – re Glascote Heath 
Primary School (GL1 & GL3) that they no longer wish their school to be used for polling 
purposes (this is detailed in Appendix D). The Sacred Heart Catholic Church (adjacent to 
the school) has expressed an interest in providing a location for future polling purposes. It is 
therefore proposed to relocate the polling place to the Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Church 
for all future elections. 
 
As part of the Electoral Commission best practice guidance, the Authority also undertakes 
surveys on polling day at each of the polling stations to obtain customer feedback on 
potential improvements re location / site – feedback from the 2013 election process did not 
identify any issues. 
 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
In a perfect world all polling districts would have an ideally situated building. In reality this is 
not the case. Therefore, it is best to use the buildings that we have available. These may be 
slightly away from the centre of the polling district but will offer better facilities for electors 
and staff alike. They are also more cost effective. Where no suitable building can be located 
then the use of a temporary polling is required. Currently, we have four temporary polling 
stations: 
 

• CA2 – land adjacent to Durham Close, County Drive 

• ME5 – Buckingham Road  

Page 4



• TR3 – Dorado  

• WI3 – Palmerston Avenue  
 

The average cost for each of these stations is £1,500 each.  
 
Appendices D (Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Church), E (Dosthill Boys Club) and F (The 
Norman Chapel, St Paul’s Church) contain the visit reports for the potential relocated polling 
stations for GL1, GL3, TR4 and TR5. The cost implications for relocating these polling 
stations would be negligible. The advantages include improved accessibility for disabled 
people ensuring that we meet our equalities requirements.  
  
 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
Perhaps the most fundamental point to make here is that there is no such thing within the 
Borough or possibly the country as a purpose built polling station. Secondly, none are 
owned/under the control of the Returning Officer but are instead hired for the day of poll. The 
premises that are used within the Borough range from church halls, schools, to community 
centres and finally temporary stations. It is important to remember the elector when selecting 
suitable premises for the poll. This can at times cause conflict between what premises are 
available and providing a fully accessible polling station that is convenient to use.  
 
The Representation of the People Act 1983 places an obligation on local authorities, so far 
as reasonable and practicable, to designate polling places that are accessible to disabled 
people and keep them under review. When selecting a polling place it is essential that regard 
should be given to ensure it offers accessibility for disabled people as stated by the 
Equalities and Human Rights Commission. If the Authority was to move away from a 
perfectly accessible building in favour of a temporary station so that the location is slightly 
more convenient it could open the door for a claim regarding disability discrimination. Also, 
the generators that the temporary stations use tend to be loud and can cause difficulties for 
those that are hard of hearing as well as being unpleasant for polling staff. Conversely, if the 
Authority was to turn down the use of an accessible building in favour of one that is not as 
suitable for use by disabled people this could also increase the risk of a claim for disability 
discrimination. It is important to remember that despite the growth in absent voting the 
majority of electors (86%) still choose to attend their local polling station. 
 
 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
These have been considered as part of the officer determinations. The review has also 
considered disability and equality legislation on arriving at our conclusion and 
recommendations.  
 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
The current scheme has been in place since the last review and took effect for the 2012 
elections. The majority of electors are happy with the location and suitability of their polling 
place and station. It is important to remember that at the last elections held in May 2013 no 
complaints were received regarding the locations and accessibility to the polling places used. 
It is not tenable financially or from an accessibility point of view to move to temporary stations 
when a perfectly suitable building is currently being used within the polling district. In fact, it is 
the Electoral Commission’s view that the use of temporary stations should be avoided if at all 
possible. 
 
 

Page 5



 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Electoral Administration Act 2006 and Electoral 
Administration and Registration Act 2013 a review of polling stations with the Borough falling 
within the Tamworth Constituency has been undertaken. 
 
 

REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Bernadette Flanagan Elections Officer  
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
The Representation of People Act 1983  
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/2/contents)  
 
The Electoral Administration Act 2006  
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/22/section/16) 
 
The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013  
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/6/contents)  
 
Electoral Commission – Review of polling districts, polling places and polling stations 
(http://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/__data/assets/word_doc/0020/161633/Polling-
district-review-guidance.doc)  
 
 

APPENDICES 
 

Appendix A  List of Consultees including letter and draft scheme. 

Appendix B  List of Parliamentary Polling Stations with the Borough of Tamworth. 

Appendix C Detail of Submissions received from Electors, Consultees and other 
Stakeholders. 

Appendix D Potential Polling Place Visit Report for Sacred Heart Catholic Church 

Appendix E Potential Polling Place Visit Report for Dosthill Boys Club 

Appendix F Potential Polling Place Visit Report for the Norman Chapel, St Paul’s 
Church 

 

 
All responses have been received in conjunction with legislation; a map detailing the polling 
places will be available in the Members room up until 16 December 2013 for perusal.   
 

Page 6



Appendix A - List of Stakeholders and Consultees 

Stakeholder Contact Name 

 Mr Ken Forest  

(R.A.F.A) Royal Air Forces Association, 
Tamworth Branch 

ADSIS

Age UK South Staffordshire  

Birds Bush Primary School  

CASS  Carers Association for South 
Staffordshire (Tamworth) 

Central Methodist Church (Tamworth)   

Citizens Advice Bureau   

Coal Industry Social Welfare Organisation   

Cornerstone Childcare Centre   

Coton & Hopwas Petanque Club   

Coton Green Pre-School Nursery   

Coton Green Village Hall  

Crossroads (Staffordshire)   

Cruse Bereavement Care   

Daybreak   

Donna Louise Children's Hospice Trust   

Dorcas Centre   

Dorcas Centre  

Dosthill Boys Club  

East Staffs Racial Equality Council  

Fibromyalgia Group Staffordshire & West 
Midlands Support 

Friends Of Warwickshire Moor  

GAP & The Next Generation  

Glascote Heath Primary School  

Page 7



Stakeholder Contact Name 

Glascote Methodist Church  

Hodge Lane Conservation Group  

Home-Start (Tamworth)  

Lichfield Friendship Centre  

Manna House Day Nursery  

MENCAP  

Mercian Ward Community Association  

Mercian Ward Community Centre  

Mile Oak Parent & Toddler Group (Tiny Tots)  

Monday Club For The Blind Tamworth  

Multiple Sclerosis Tamworth & Lichfield Branch  

NACRO - The Crime Reduction Charity   

Neighbourhood Watch Tamworth  

Oakhill Primary School  

Orchard Close Resident's Association  

Parents Forum (Staffordshire)  

Park Farm Community Youth Club   

Pathway Project   

Pennymoor Association Trust   

RELATE (South Staffs)   

Rotary Club Of Tamworth Anker   

Royal British Legion   

Samaritans (Tamworth)   

SCOPE Charity Shop   

South Staffordshire Network for Mental Health   

South Staffs Family Mediation Service 
(Tamworth)

Page 8



Stakeholder Contact Name 

SOVA Mentoring Service   

SPIN   

St Andrew's Methodist Church Hall  

St Editha's Church   

St Editha's Parish Church   

St Elizabeth Pre-School    

St Elizabeth's RC Pre-School   

St Elizabeth's RC Primary School   

St Gabriel's Pre-School   

St Gabriel's RC Primary School   

St George's Church   

St. Giles Hospice   

St. John Ambulance Service   

St. Martin In The Delph Church And Centre   

St. Paul's Church   

Staffordshire Buddies   

Staffordshire Wildlife Trust   

Stonydelph Action   

Stonydelph Primary School  

Survivors Of Bereavement By Suicide   

Tamworth & Lichfield Gateway Club   

Tamworth African Caribbean Association   

Tamworth Community Transport Services   

Tamworth Cornerstone Housing Association   

Tamworth Council For Voluntary Service   

Tamworth Covenanting Churches   

Tamworth Credit Union Limited   

Tamworth Darby & Joan Club   

Page 9



Stakeholder Contact Name 

Tamworth District Scout Council   

Tamworth Mainstream & Modern Jazz Club   

Tamworth Special Needs Nursery    

Tamworth Talking Newspaper   

Tamworth Traditional Jazz Club   

Tamworth Vineyard Youth   

The Family Fun Club   

The Fazeley & District Initiative   

The Friends of William MacGregor School   

The New Tamworth Stroke Club   

The Rowan Organisation   

The Unicorns - Swimming Club for Disabled 
Persons (Tamworth) 

Volunteer Centre (Tamworth)   

William McGregor Primary School  

Wilnecote Community Leisure Centre   

Wilnecote Parish Hall   

WRVS (Tamworth)   

Councillor John Garner 

Councillor Evelyn Rowe 

Councillor Michelle Thurgood 

Councillor Marion Couchman 

Councillor David Foster 

Councillor Richard McDermid 

Councillor John Faulkner 

Councillor Ken Norchi 

Councillor Peter Seekings 

Councillor Steven Claymore 

Councillor Allan Lunn 

Councillor Matthew McDermid 

Councillor Chris Cooke 

Councillor Garry Hirons 

Councillor Simon Peaple 

Councillor Michael Greatorex 

Councillor Andrew James 

Councillor Richard Kingstone 

Page 10



Stakeholder Contact Name 

Councillor Ken Gant 

Councillor Maureen Gant 

Councillor Robert Pritchard 

Councillor Margaret Clarke 

Councillor Stephen Doyle 

Councillor Steven Pritchard 

Councillor Lee Bates 

Councillor Daniel Cook  

Councillor Jeremy Oates 

Councillor Tina Clements 

Councillor Joan Jenkins 

Councillor Patrick Standen 

County Councillor Sheree Peaple 

County Councillor Carol Dean 

County Councillor Ben Adams 

County Councillor Brian Jenkins 

  Christopher Pincher MP 

Tamworth Labour Party   

Tamworth Conservative Association   

Tamworth and Lichfield Liberal Democrats   

Tamworth and Lichfield Green Party  

Amington Band Miners Welfare Institute  

Amington Community Enterprise  

Amington Heath Primary School  

Ankermoor Primary School  

Ashcroft Infants School  

Bancroft Community Association  

Barnardos SMART  

Dosthill Primary School  

Flaxhill Junior School  

Florendine Primary School  

Greenacres Primary School  

Heathfields Infants School  

Lakeside Primary School  

Landau Forte Academy   

Larkhall Primary School   

League of Friends of Tamworth Hospitals   

Manna House (Tamworth) - Tamworth Elim 
Church

Moorgate Junior School  

Park Farm Community Centre  

Philip Dix Centre  

Sea Cadet Centre  

St Martin's Centre  

Page 11



Stakeholder Contact Name 

Sunset Close Community Centre   

Tamworth Amateur Boxing Club   

Tamworth Baptist Church  

Tamworth Baptist Church  

Tamworth Carers (For Mental Health)  

Two Gates Primary School  

Wilnecote Junior School  

Woodlands Primary School  

Acting Returning Officer for the Tamworth 
Constituency

Asian Community Group  

Girl Guiding UK  

Huntington's Disease Association (South 
Staffs)

ME Staffordshire Support  

Soroptimist International Of Tamworth  

Tamworth Arts Club   

The Starfish Project  

The Tamworth Lions  

Page 12



W
a

rd
C

o
u

n
ty

D
iv

is
io

n

P
o

lli
n

g

D
is

tr
ic

t

S
ta

ti
o

n

N
o

P
o

lli
n

g
 S

ta
ti
o

n
 N

a
m

e
A

d
d

re
ss

 1
A

d
d

re
ss

 2
A

d
d

re
ss

 3
To

w
n

 
C

o
u

n
ty

P
o

st
c

o
d

e

S
p

it
a

l
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
S
P

1
1

La
n

d
a

u
 F

o
rt

e
 A

c
a

d
e

m
y
 

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

 S
ix

th
 

F
o

rm
A

sh
b

y
 R

o
a

d
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 8

A
A

S
p

it
a

l
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
S
P

2
2

A
sh

c
ro

ft
 I
n

fa
n

ts
 S

c
h

o
o

l
M

ild
e

n
h

a
ll

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 8

R
U

S
p

it
a

l
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
S
P

3
3

F
la

x
h

ill
 J

u
n

io
r 

S
c

h
o

o
l

C
h

e
st

n
u

t 
A

v
e

n
u

e
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 8

Q
Z

S
p

it
a

l
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
S
P

3
4

F
la

x
h

ill
 J

u
n

io
r 

S
c

h
o

o
l

C
h

e
st

n
u

t 
A

v
e

n
u

e
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 8

Q
Z

S
p

it
a

l
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
S
P

4
5

S
t 

A
n

d
re

w
's

 M
e

th
o

d
is

t 
C

h
u

rc
h

 H
a

ll
Th

a
c

k
e

ry
 D

ri
v
e

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 8

H
Y

S
p

it
a

l
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
S
P

5
6

M
o

o
rg

a
te

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

H
o

sp
it
a

l S
tr

e
e

t
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 7

E
E

M
e

rc
ia

n
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
M

E
1

7
M

e
rc

ia
n

 W
a

rd
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 C

e
n

tr
e

M
a

se
fi
e

ld
 D

ri
v
e

Le
y
fi
e

ld
s

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 8

J
B

M
e

rc
ia

n
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
M

E
1

8
M

e
rc

ia
n

 W
a

rd
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 C

e
n

tr
e

M
a

se
fi
e

ld
 D

ri
v
e

Le
y
fi
e

ld
s

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 8

J
B

M
e

rc
ia

n
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
M

E
2

9
La

rk
h

a
ll 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l 

C
lif

to
n

 A
v
e

n
u

e
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 8

E
F

M
e

rc
ia

n
P

e
rr

y
c

ro
ft

s
M

E
3

1
0

C
o

to
n

 G
re

e
n

 V
ill

a
g

e
 H

a
ll

K
ip

lin
g

 R
is

e
C

o
to

n
 G

re
e

n
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

M
e

rc
ia

n
B

o
le

b
ri
d

g
e

M
E
4

1
1

M
o

o
rg

a
te

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

H
o

sp
it
a

l S
tr

e
e

t
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 7

E
E

M
e

rc
ia

n
B

o
le

b
ri
d

g
e

M
E
5

1
2

B
u

c
k
in

g
h

a
m

 R
o

a
d

 -
 T

e
m

p
o

ra
ry

 P
o

lli
n

g
 

S
ta

ti
o

n

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

G
ro

u
n

d
B

u
c

k
in

g
h

a
m

 R
o

a
d

O
ff

 L
ic

h
fi
e

ld
 R

o
a

d
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

C
a

st
le

B
o

le
b

ri
d

g
e

C
A

1
1
3

S
u

n
se

t 
C

lo
se

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 C

e
n

tr
e

 
O

ff
 L

ic
h

fi
e

ld
 S

tr
e

e
t

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 7

Q
J

C
a

st
le

B
o

le
b

ri
d

g
e

C
A

1
1
4

S
u

n
se

t 
C

lo
se

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 C

e
n

tr
e

 
O

ff
 L

ic
h

fi
e

ld
 S

tr
e

e
t

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
9
 7

Q
J

C
a

st
le

W
a

tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
C

A
2

1
5

Th
e

 G
re

e
n

 -
 T

e
m

p
o

ra
ry

 P
o

lli
n

g
 S

ta
ti
o

n
La

n
d

 a
d

ja
c

e
n

t 
to

 

D
u

rh
a

m
 C

lo
se

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

ri
v
e

F
a

ze
le

y
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

C
a

st
le

W
a

tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
C

A
2

1
6

Th
e

 G
re

e
n

 -
 T

e
m

p
o

ra
ry

 P
o

lli
n

g
 S

ta
ti
o

n
La

n
d

 a
d

ja
c

e
n

t 
to

 

D
u

rh
a

m
 C

lo
se

C
o

u
n

ty
 D

ri
v
e

F
a

ze
le

y
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

C
a

st
le

B
o

le
b

ri
d

g
e

C
A

3
1
7

P
h

il 
D

ix
 C

e
n

tr
e

C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 S

tr
e

e
t 

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

C
a

st
le

B
o

le
b

ri
d

g
e

C
A

4
1
8

S
e

a
 C

a
d

e
t 

C
e

n
tr

e
, 
W

e
st

 S
tr

e
e

t
W

e
st

 S
tr

e
e

t
K

e
tt

le
b

ro
o

k
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

A
U

B
o

le
h

a
ll

A
m

in
g

to
n

B
O

1
1
9

A
n

k
e

rm
o

o
r 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

R
e

n
e

 R
o

a
d

B
o

le
h

a
ll

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 3

N
W

B
o

le
h

a
ll

B
o

le
b

ri
d

g
e

B
O

2
2
0

W
ill

ia
m

 M
c

G
re

g
o

r 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

G
la

sc
o

te
 R

o
a

d
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

A
F

B
o

le
h

a
ll

B
o

le
b

ri
d

g
e

B
O

2
2
1

W
ill

ia
m

 M
c

G
re

g
o

r 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

G
la

sc
o

te
 R

o
a

d
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

A
F

B
o

le
h

a
ll

B
o

le
b

ri
d

g
e

B
O

3
2
2

G
la

sc
o

te
 M

e
th

o
d

is
t 

C
h

u
rc

h
N

e
v
ill

e
 S

tr
e

e
t

G
la

sc
o

te
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

B
A

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

 -
 C

u
rr

e
n

t 
P

a
rl
ia

m
e

n
ta

ry
 P

o
lli

n
g

 D
is

tr
ic

ts
 a

n
d

 P
o

lli
n

g
 P

la
c

e
s

1

Page 13



W
a

rd
C

o
u

n
ty

D
iv

is
io

n

P
o

lli
n

g

D
is

tr
ic

t

S
ta

ti
o

n

N
o

P
o

lli
n

g
 S

ta
ti
o

n
 N

a
m

e
A

d
d

re
ss

 1
A

d
d

re
ss

 2
A

d
d

re
ss

 3
To

w
n

 
C

o
u

n
ty

P
o

st
c

o
d

e

B
o

le
h

a
ll

A
m

in
g

to
n

B
O

4
2
3

W
o

o
d

la
n

d
s 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

C
a

n
n

in
g

 R
o

a
d

G
la

sc
o

te
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 3

J
X

A
m

in
g

to

n
A

m
in

g
to

n
A

M
1

2
4

F
lo

re
n

d
in

e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

F
lo

re
n

d
in

e
 S

tr
e

e
t

A
m

in
g

to
n

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 3

D
D

A
m

in
g

to

n
A

m
in

g
to

n
A

M
2

2
4
/1

F
lo

re
n

d
in

e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

F
lo

re
n

d
in

e
 S

tr
e

e
t

A
m

in
g

to
n

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 3

D
D

A
m

in
g

to

n
A

m
in

g
to

n
A

M
2

2
5

F
lo

re
n

d
in

e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

F
lo

re
n

d
in

e
 S

tr
e

e
t

A
m

in
g

to
n

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 3

D
D

A
m

in
g

to

n
A

m
in

g
to

n
A

M
3

2
6

A
m

in
g

to
n

 H
e

a
th

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

Q
u

in
c

e
A

m
in

g
to

n
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

E
N

A
m

in
g

to

n
A

m
in

g
to

n
A

M
4

2
7

G
re

e
n

a
c

re
s 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

Le
v
e

tt
 R

o
a

d
A

m
in

g
to

n
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

A
B

A
m

in
g

to

n
A

m
in

g
to

n
A

M
4

2
8

G
re

e
n

a
c

re
s 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

Le
v
e

tt
 R

o
a

d
A

m
in

g
to

n
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

A
B

G
la

sc
o

t

e
A

m
in

g
to

n
G

L1
2
9

G
la

sc
o

te
 H

e
a

th
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

S
ilv

e
r 

Li
n

k
 R

o
a

d
G

la
sc

o
te

 H
e

a
th

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

E
A

G
la

sc
o

t

e
A

m
in

g
to

n
G

L1
3
0

G
la

sc
o

te
 H

e
a

th
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

S
ilv

e
r 

Li
n

k
 R

o
a

d
G

la
sc

o
te

 H
e

a
th

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

E
A

G
la

sc
o

t

e
S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
G

L2
3
1

O
a

k
h

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

H
a

w
k
sw

o
rt

h
G

la
sc

o
te

 H
e

a
th

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

H
H

G
la

sc
o

t

e
S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
G

L2
3
2

O
a

k
h

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

H
a

w
k
sw

o
rt

h
G

la
sc

o
te

 H
e

a
th

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

H
H

G
la

sc
o

t

e
S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
G

L3
3
3

G
la

sc
o

te
 H

e
a

th
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

S
ilv

e
r 

Li
n

k
 R

o
a

d
G

la
sc

o
te

 H
e

a
th

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

E
A

G
la

sc
o

t

e
S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
G

L4
3
4

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

C
ro

w
d

e
n

 R
o

a
d

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

LS

B
e

lg
ra

v

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
B

E
1

3
5

B
ir
d

s 
B

u
sh

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

B
ir
d

s 
B

u
sh

 R
o

a
d

B
e

lg
ra

v
e

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

N
E

B
e

lg
ra

v

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
B

E
1

3
6

B
ir
d

s 
B

u
sh

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

B
ir
d

s 
B

u
sh

 R
o

a
d

B
e

lg
ra

v
e

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

N
E

B
e

lg
ra

v

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
B

E
2

3
7

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

 B
a

p
ti
st

 C
h

u
rc

h
D

e
rw

e
n

t
B

e
lg

ra
v
e

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

LA

B
e

lg
ra

v

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
B

E
2

3
8

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

 B
a

p
ti
st

 C
h

u
rc

h
D

e
rw

e
n

t
B

e
lg

ra
v
e

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

LA

B
e

lg
ra

v

e
B

o
le

b
ri
d

g
e

B
E
3

3
9

La
k
e

si
d

e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

Le
y
la

n
d

 R
o

a
d

G
la

sc
o

te
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 2

S
A

B
e

lg
ra

v

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
B

E
4

4
0

P
a

rk
 F

a
rm

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 C

e
n

tr
e

G
re

a
tm

e
a

d
K

e
tl
e

b
ro

o
k

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 1

D
L

Tr
in

it
y

W
a

tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
TR

1
4
1

Tw
o

 G
a

te
s 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

 R
o

a
d

Tw
o

 G
a

te
s

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 1

E
N

2

Page 14



W
a

rd
C

o
u

n
ty

D
iv

is
io

n

P
o

lli
n

g

D
is

tr
ic

t

S
ta

ti
o

n

N
o

P
o

lli
n

g
 S

ta
ti
o

n
 N

a
m

e
A

d
d

re
ss

 1
A

d
d

re
ss

 2
A

d
d

re
ss

 3
To

w
n

 
C

o
u

n
ty

P
o

st
c

o
d

e

Tr
in

it
y

W
a

tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
TR

2
4
2

D
o

rc
a

s 
C

e
n

tr
e

O
ff

 B
la

c
k
w

o
o

d
 

R
o

a
d

D
o

st
h

ill
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 1

J
E

Tr
in

it
y

W
a

tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
TR

3
4
3

D
o

ra
d

o
 -

 P
o

rt
a

b
le

 P
o

lli
n

g
 S

ta
ti
o

n
D

o
st

h
ill

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

Tr
in

it
y

W
a

tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
TR

4
4
4

D
o

st
h

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

H
ig

h
 S

tr
e

e
t 

D
o

st
h

ill
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 1

LQ

Tr
in

it
y

W
a

tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
TR

5
4
5

D
o

st
h

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

H
ig

h
 S

tr
e

e
t 

D
o

st
h

ill
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 1

LQ

W
iln

e
c

o
t

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
W

I1
4
6

W
iln

e
c

o
te

 J
u

n
io

r 
S
c

h
o

o
l

S
m

it
h

y
 L

a
n

e
W

iln
e

c
o

te
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 5

LA

W
iln

e
c

o
t

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
W

I2
4
7

W
iln

e
c

o
te

 J
u

n
io

r 
S
c

h
o

o
l

S
m

it
h

y
 L

a
n

e
W

iln
e

c
o

te
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 5

LA

W
iln

e
c

o
t

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
W

I3
4
8

P
a

lm
e

rs
to

n
 A

v
e

n
u

e
 -

 T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 S

ta
ti
o

n
P

a
lm

e
rs

to
n

A
v
e

n
u

e
W

iln
e

c
o

te
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 X

X
X

W
iln

e
c

o
t

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
W

I4
4
9

H
e

a
th

fi
e

ld
s 

In
fa

n
ts

 S
c

h
o

o
l

S
a

x
o

n
 C

lo
se

W
iln

e
c

o
te

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 5

LU

W
iln

e
c

o
t

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
W

I5
5
0

H
e

a
th

fi
e

ld
s 

In
fa

n
ts

 S
c

h
o

o
l

S
a

x
o

n
 C

lo
se

W
iln

e
c

o
te

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 5

LU

W
iln

e
c

o
t

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 S

o
u

th
W

I6
5
1

H
e

a
th

fi
e

ld
s 

In
fa

n
ts

 S
c

h
o

o
l

S
a

x
o

n
 C

lo
se

W
iln

e
c

o
te

Ta
m

w
o

rt
h

S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 5

LU

W
iln

e
c

o
t

e
W

a
tl
in

g
 N

o
rt

h
W

I7
4
6
/1

W
iln

e
c

o
te

 J
u

n
io

r 
S
c

h
o

o
l

S
m

it
h

y
 L

a
n

e
W

iln
e

c
o

te
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 5

LA

S
to

n
y
d

e
l

p
h

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
S
T1

5
2

P
e

n
n

y
m

o
o

r 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 H

a
ll

P
e

n
n

y
m

o
o

r 
R

o
a

d
S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

LG

S
to

n
y
d

e
l

p
h

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
S
T2

5
3

S
t 

M
a

rt
in

's
 C

e
n

tr
e

E
lle

rb
e

c
k

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

J
A

S
to

n
y
d

e
l

p
h

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
S
T2

5
4

S
t 

M
a

rt
in

's
 C

e
n

tr
e

E
lle

rb
e

c
k

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

J
A

S
to

n
y
d

e
l

p
h

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
S
T3

5
5

P
e

n
n

y
m

o
o

r 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 H

a
ll

P
e

n
n

y
m

o
o

r 
R

o
a

d
S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

LG

S
to

n
y
d

e
l

p
h

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
S
T4

5
6

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c

h
o

o
l

C
ro

w
d

e
n

 R
o

a
d

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
Ta

m
w

o
rt

h
S
ta

ff
o

rd
sh

ir
e

B
7
7
 4

LS

3

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



1

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 C

 –
 D

e
ta

il
e

d
 S

u
m

m
a

ry
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 a
n

d
 P

ro
p

o
s

e
d

 A
c

ti
o

n
s

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e

s
R

e
c
e

iv
e

d

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

1
 

S
P

1
 

1
,0

2
9

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

2
 

S
P

2
 

1
,1

0
0

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

3
 

S
P

3
 

1
,4

5
7

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

4
 

S
P

4
 

8
1

9
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Spital

5
 

S
P

5
 

9
5

5
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

6
 

M
E

1
1

,4
0

3
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

7
 

M
E

2
1

,0
8

8
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

8
 

M
E

3
1

,3
0

1
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

9
 

M
E

4
1

6
1

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Mercian

1
0

 
M

E
5

1
,3

5
5

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

1
1

 
C

A
1

 
1

,7
8

6
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

1
2

 
C

A
2

 
2

,1
2

7
 

2
 

S
u

it
a

b
le

 f
o

r 
th

e
 r

e
q
u

ir
e

d
 n

e
e

d
s
 

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

  
  

  
  

W
o
u
ld

 l
ik

e
 t
h
e
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b

e
 

re
lo

c
a

te
d

 t
o

 i
ts

 f
o

rm
e
r 

p
o
s
it
io

n
 l
o

c
a

te
d

 o
n

 
M

ilo
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 S

u
tt
o
n
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

1
3

 
C

A
3

 
8

5
5

 
1

 
N

o
 c

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 m

a
d

e
 

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Castle 

1
4

 
C

A
4

 
9

3
6

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

1
5

B
O

1
1

,2
8

4
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

1
6

B
O

2
2

,2
6

1
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

1
7

B
O

3
1

,5
2

0
 

1
 

 W
h
ils

t 
I 
fi
n
d
 t
h
e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
p
o
lli

n
g
 p

la
c
e
 

e
a
s
y
 t
o
 f
in

d
 a

n
d
 i
t 
s
u
it
s
 m

e
 I
 a

m
 a

w
a
re

 
th

a
t 
p
a
rk

in
g
 c

a
n
 b

e
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
. 
If
 y

o
u
 w

e
re

 
lo

o
k
in

g
 f
o
r 

a
n
 a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 v

e
n
u
e
 S

t 
G

e
o

rg
e

's
 C

h
u
rc

h
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 h

a
p

p
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
. 

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Bolehall

1
8

B
O

4
7

9
4

 
0

 
 

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Page 17



2

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e

s
R

e
c
e

iv
e

d

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

1
9

A
M

1
6

3
1

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

2
0

A
M

2
2

,2
5

9
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

2
1

A
M

3
1

,2
2

3
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Amington 

2
2

A
M

4
1

,8
6

2
 

1
 

T
h

e
 p

ro
p

o
s
a

ls
 s

e
e

m
 t
o

 b
e

 a
d

e
q
u

a
te

 f
o

r 
th

e
 w

a
rd

 a
s
 a

 w
h
o
le

. 
 

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

2
3

G
L
1

1
,5

8
2

 
0

 

F
o

llo
w

in
g

 c
o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

H
e
a
d

te
a
c
h
e
r 

a
t 
G

la
s
c
o
te

 H
e
a
th

 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o

l 
a

n
d

 i
s
s
u
e

s
 w

it
h

 
p
a
rk

in
g
 f
o
r 

e
le

c
to

rs
’ 
a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 

lo
c
a

ti
o
n

 w
e
re

 i
n

v
e

s
ti
g

a
te

d
. 
T

h
e

 
S

a
c
re

d
 H

e
a

rt
 C

h
u

rc
h

 w
a
s
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 

a
s
 a

n
 i
d
e

a
l 
p

la
c
e

 f
o

r 
re

lo
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

s
 i
t 

is
 a

d
ja

c
e
n

t 
to

 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l.
 T

h
e
 

c
h
u
rc

h
 i
s
 h

a
p
p

y
 t
o
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 
th

e
 p

o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

R
e
lo

c
a

te
 f
ro

m
 G

la
s
c
o

te
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 
to

 t
h
e
 S

a
c
re

d
 H

e
a
rt

 
R

o
m

a
n
 C

a
th

o
lic

 C
h
u
rc

h
 

2
4

G
L
2

2
,4

8
6

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

2
5

G
L
3

9
7

0
 

0
 

F
o

llo
w

in
g

 c
o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

H
e
a
d

te
a
c
h
e
r 

a
t 
G

la
s
c
o
te

 H
e
a
th

 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o

l 
a

n
d

 i
s
s
u
e

s
 w

it
h

 
p
a
rk

in
g
 f
o
r 

e
le

c
to

rs
’ 
a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 

lo
c
a

ti
o
n

 w
e
re

 i
n

v
e

s
ti
g

a
te

d
. 
T

h
e

 
S

a
c
re

d
 H

e
a

rt
 C

h
u

rc
h

 w
a
s
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 

a
s
 a

n
 i
d
e

a
l 
p

la
c
e

 f
o

r 
re

lo
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

s
 i
t 

is
 a

d
ja

c
e
n

t 
to

 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l.
 T

h
e
 

c
h
u
rc

h
 i
s
 h

a
p
p

y
 t
o
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 
th

e
 p

o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

R
e
lo

c
a

te
 f
ro

m
 G

la
s
c
o

te
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 
to

 t
h
e
 S

a
c
re

d
 H

e
a
rt

 
R

o
m

a
n
 C

a
th

o
lic

 C
h
u
rc

h
 

Glascote 

2
6

G
L
4

6
5

1
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Page 18



3

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e

s
R

e
c
e

iv
e

d

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

2
7

 
B

E
1

 
1

,5
4

0
 

1
 

N
o

 s
c
h
o

o
l 
s
h
o

u
ld

 b
e

 c
lo

s
e
d

 f
o

r 
p

o
lli

n
g

 
w

h
e
n

 t
h
e
re

 a
re

 a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
. 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

to
o
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
t.
 A

 p
a
re

n
t 
is

 f
in

e
d
 i
f 
th

e
y
 

k
e
e
p

 a
 c

h
ild

 f
ro

m
 s

c
h
o
o
l.
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

2
8

 
B

E
2

 
2

,0
5

8
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

2
9

 
B

E
3

 
1

,0
2

9
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Belgrave 

3
0

 
B

E
4

 
1

,2
5

5
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

3
1

 
T

R
1

 
1

,3
3

4
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

3
2

 
T

R
2

 
1

,2
6

1
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Trinity

3
3

 
T

R
3

 
1

,4
8

5
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

Th
e

 s
u

b
m

is
si

o
n

s 
fo

r 
Tr

in
it
y

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 o
n

 p
a

g
e

s 
4

 t
o

 1
3

 

Page 19



4

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
s
 

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

3
4 & 3
5

T
R

4
 

&
T

R
5

T
R

4
 =

 
1

,0
3

3

T
R

5
 =

 8
8

0
 

1
3

S
c
h

o
o

ls
 a

re
 f
o

r 
e

d
u
c
a

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 c

lo
s
in

g
 

th
e
m

 d
is

ru
p
ts

 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
It
 a

ls
o
 d

is
ru

p
ts

 
e

d
u
c
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 c
a

u
s
e
s
 l
o

g
is

ti
c
a

l 
a
n

d
 

c
h
ild

c
a
re

 p
ro

b
le

m
s
 f

o
r 

w
o
rk

in
g

 p
a

re
n

ts
 

a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 i
n
v
o

lv
e
d
 w

it
h
 l
e
a
d

in
g
 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l.
 A

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 v

e
n
u
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
u
ld

 b
e

 
u

s
e
d

 a
re

 T
h

e
 N

o
rm

a
n

 C
h

a
p

e
l 
a

t 
S

t 
P

a
u

l's
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 a

n
d
/o

r 
th

e
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b
.

T
h

e
 H

e
a

d
te

a
c
h

e
r,

 C
h

a
ir
 o

f 
G

o
v
e
rn

o
rs

, 
T

h
e
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b
, 
T

h
e
 

V
ic

a
r 

o
f 
S

t 
P

a
u
l’s

 C
h
u
rc

h
 (

D
o
s
th

ill
) 

a
n

d
 p

a
re

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 s

c
h
o
o

l 
h

a
v
e

 
p
u
t 
in

 a
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 
s
u
b
m

is
s
io

n
s
 

a
s
k
in

g
 t
h
a
t 
w

e
 l
o
o
k
 a

t 
o
th

e
r 

lo
c
a

ti
o
n

s
 t
o

 h
o

u
s
e

 t
h

is
 p

o
lli

n
g

 
s
ta

ti
o
n
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re

a
. 
P

u
tt
in

g
 

a
s
id

e
 t
h

e
 i
s
s
u
e

 o
f 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o

l 
c
lo

s
in

g
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 i
n

c
o

n
v
e

n
ie

n
c
e

 t
h

is
 

c
a
u
s
e
s
 f
o
r 

p
a
re

n
t 
th

e
 f
a
c
t 
is

 t
h
a
t 

D
o
s
th

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h

o
o

l 
is

 p
o

o
rl
y
 

la
id

 o
u

t 
a

n
d

 c
a

u
s
e

s
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e

s
 

fo
r 

v
o
te

rs
 w

it
h
 d

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
c
a
n
 o

ff
e
r 

n
o
 s

o
lu

ti
o
n

 t
o
 t
h
is

. 
T

h
e

re
 i
s
 a

ls
o

 n
o

 p
a

rk
in

g
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 

a
t 
th

e
 s

c
h
o

o
l 
fo

r 
d

is
a
b

le
d

 o
r 

a
b

le
 

b
o

d
ie

d
 e

le
c
to

rs
. 
T

h
is

 h
a
s
 c

a
u

s
e

d
 

is
s
u
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

a
s
t 
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 w

it
h
 

d
is

a
b
le

d
 e

le
c
to

rs
 a

s
 t
h
e
y
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

u
n

a
b

le
 t
o

 p
a

rk
 t
h

e
ir
 v

e
h

ic
le

s
 a

n
d

 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 p

o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
. 
E

v
e
n
 i
f 

d
is

a
b

le
d

 p
a
rk

in
g

 w
a
s
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 o

n
 

s
it
e
 t
h
is

 w
o
u
ld

 s
ti
ll 

re
q
u
ir
e
 a

n
y
 

d
is

a
b

le
d

 e
le

c
to

r 
to

 w
a

lk
 t
h

e
 

p
e
ri
m

e
te

r 
o
f 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
in

to
 t
h
e
 

p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
. 
It
 i
s
 w

o
rt

h
 n

o
ti
n
g
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 m
a
y
 b

e
 o

p
e
n
 t
o
 a

 
c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
 b

y
 d

is
a
b

le
d

 e
le

c
to

rs
 

s
h

o
u

ld
 t
h

e
y
 n

o
t 
b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

th
e

 p
o

lli
n

g
 s

ta
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 f
in

a
n

c
ia

l 

R
e

lo
c
a

te
 t
h

e
 p

o
lli

n
g

 s
ta

ti
o

n
s
 f
o

r 
T

R
4
 &

 T
R

5
 t
o
 D

o
s
th

ill
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b
, 

C
a
d
o
g
a
n
 R

o
a
d
. 
T

h
is

 f
a
c
ili

ty
 h

a
s
 

n
o
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 p

a
rk

in
g
 

a
n

d
/o

r 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o

r 
d

is
a

b
le

d
 

e
le

c
to

rs
. 
 

Page 20



5

im
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
y
 a

ri
s
e
 f
ro

m
 t
h
is

. 
T

h
e
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b

 i
s
 a

n
 e

x
c
e
lle

n
t 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 a

n
d
 i
s
 a

n
 o

p
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 

s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 g

iv
e

n
 t
h

e
 f
u

lle
s
t 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 b

y
 F

u
ll 

C
o
u
n
c
il.

 F
e
e
s
 

w
o

u
ld

 n
o

 b
e

 d
is

s
im

ila
r 

to
 t
h

e
 f
e

e
s
 

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 p

a
id

 t
o
 D

o
s
th

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h

o
o

l.

T
h

e
 N

o
rm

a
n

 C
h

a
p

e
l 
h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

o
ff

e
re

d
 f
o

r 
u
s
e

 b
y
 R

e
v
’d

 L
o
u

is
e

 
S

h
a
w

. 
T

h
e
 C

h
a
p
e
l 
is

 w
e
ll 

k
n
o
w

n
 i
n
 

th
e
 l
o
c
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 i
s
 u

s
e
d
 f
o
r 

P
A

C
T

 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 r

e
g
u

la
rl
y
. 
R

e
v
’d

 S
h
a
w

 i
s
 

k
e

e
n
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a

l 
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 a

n
d

 h
a
s
 o

ff
e

re
d

 t
h

e
 u

s
e

 
o
f 
th

is
 f
a
c
ili

ty
 f
o
r 

a
 n

o
m

in
a
l 
fe

e
 t
o
 

c
o
v
e
r 

h
e
a
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 l
ig

h
t.
  
 

Page 21



6

Trinity

 
 

 
 

I 
w

is
h

 t
o

 s
h
a

re
 m

y
 t
h

o
u

g
h

ts
 a

ft
e

r 
re

a
d

in
g

 
y
o
u
r 

d
ra

ft
 r

e
v
ie

w
 p

a
p
e
r.

 I
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b

e
 

a
m

a
z
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

w
is

h
e
s
 t
o
 d

is
ru

p
t 

s
o

 m
a

n
y
 s

c
h
o

o
ls

 t
o

 s
e

t 
u

p
 p

o
lli

n
g

 
s
ta

ti
o
n
s
, 
c
a
u
s
in

g
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
d
is

ru
p

ti
o
n
 t
o
 

th
e

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
ir
 f
a

m
ili

e
s
, 
w

h
e

n
 t
h

e
re

 
a
re

 s
o
 m

a
n
y
 p

u
b
lic

/a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
 

n
e
a
rb

y
. 
In

 D
o
s
th

ill
 w

e
 h

a
v
e
 T

h
e
 B

o
y
s
 

C
lu

b
 a

n
d

 T
h

e
 C

o
s
m

o
p

o
lit

a
n

 C
lu

b
 w

it
h

in
 

w
a
lk

in
g
 d

is
ta

n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o
l,
 y

e
t 
it
 i
s
 

d
e
e
m

e
d

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o
 c

lo
s
e
 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
to

 c
6
0
0

 c
h
ild

re
n
. 
I 
re

a
d
 w

it
h
 

in
te

re
s
t 
y
o

u
r 

c
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 i
n

 
2

0
1

1
 w

h
ic

h
 s

ta
te

d
 t
h

e
s
e

 a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

 
o

p
ti
o

n
s
 w

e
re

 n
o

t 
a

p
p

ro
p
ri
a
te

. 
 I
 c

h
a

lle
n
g
e

 
h

o
w

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a

te
 i
t 
is

 f
o

r 
6

0
0

 c
h

ild
re

n
, 
in

 
D

o
s
th

ill
 a

lo
n
e
, 
lo

s
in

g
 a

 d
a
y
s
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
A

 
c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
 a

ls
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 b
y
 g

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 i
n
tr

o
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
fi
n

in
g

 p
a
re

n
ts

 
s
h

o
u
ld

 t
h
e
y
 w

is
h

 t
o
 t
a
k
e

 t
h
e
ir
 c

h
ild

re
n
 o

u
t 

o
f 
s
c
h
o

o
l 
d

u
ri
n

g
 t
e

rm
 t
im

e
. 

 
 

 
 

A
s
 a

 r
e
s
id

e
n
t 
in

 D
o
s
th

ill
, 
a
s
 a

 p
a
re

n
t 
o
f 

c
h
ild

re
n
 t
h
a
t 
a
tt
e
n
d
 D

o
s
th

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l,
 a

n
d
 a

s
 a

 m
e
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
th

a
t 
s
c
h
o
o
l's

 
B

o
a

rd
 o

f 
G

o
v
e

rn
o
rs

, 
I 
s
e

e
 r

e
g

u
la

r 
d
is

ru
p
ti
o
n
 c

a
u
s
e
d

 t
o
 t
h
e
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
b
y
 i
ts

 u
s
e
 a

s
 a

 p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
. 
I 

w
o
u
ld

 l
ik

e
 t
o
 r

e
g
is

te
r 

m
y
 o

p
p
o
s
it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

u
s
e

 o
f 
s
c
h
o

o
ls

 a
s
 p

o
lli

n
g

 s
ta

ti
o

n
s
 w

h
e
re

 
o
th

e
r 

s
u
it
a
b
le

 p
re

m
is

e
s
 e

x
is

t,
 a

n
d
 i
n
 

p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
D

o
s
th

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l.
 

Trinity

 
 

 
 

I 
a
m

 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
in

g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
n
v
it
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 s

u
b
m

it
 

v
ie

w
s
 o

n
 p

o
lli

n
g

 d
is

tr
ic

ts
, 
p

la
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 
s
ta

ti
o
n
s
. 
F

ir
s
tl
y
, 
I 
w

o
u
ld

 l
ik

e
 t
o
 t
h
a
n
k
 y

o
u
 

fo
r 

p
ro

v
id

in
g
 u

s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 t
o
 

Page 22



7

ta
k
e

 p
a
rt

 i
n
 t
h
is

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 
Y

o
u
 m

a
y
 b

e
 

a
w

a
re

 t
h
a
t 
w

e
 h

a
v
e
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 

o
u
r 

v
ie

w
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
b
e
in

g
 u

s
e
d
 a

s
 a

 
p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 t
o
 M

r 
J
o
h
n
 W

h
e
a

tl
e
y
. 
T

h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn

in
g
 B

o
d
y
 o

f 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
o
b
je

c
t 
to

 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
b
e
in

g
 u

s
e
d
 a

s
 a

 p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 

fo
r 

th
e

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 r
e

a
s
o
n

s
: 
 

1
) 

T
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
s
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n

 6
5
0
 p

u
p
ils

. 
C

o
u
n

ts
 a

t 
p

re
v
io

u
s
 e

le
c
ti
o

n
s
 h

a
v
e

 s
h

o
w

n
 

th
a
t 
a
s
 f
e
w

 a
s
 2

5
0
 p

e
o
p
le

 h
a
v
e
 v

o
te

d
 a

t 
th

is
 p

o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
. 
D

is
ru

p
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 

e
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
s
u
c
h

 a
 l
a

rg
e

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

p
u
p
ils

 f
o
r 

s
o
 f
e

w
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
o
 v

o
te

 d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 

s
e
e
m

 l
o
g
ic

a
l.
  

2
) 

E
le

c
ti
o
n

 d
a
y
s
 d

is
ru

p
t 
th

e
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
o

u
r 

p
u
p

ils
. 
T

e
a

c
h
e

r 
tr

a
in

in
g
 d

a
y
s
 a

re
 

u
s
e
d

 t
o
 m

in
im

is
e
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
b
u
t 
a
s
 

e
le

c
ti
o
n

s
 a

re
 o

n
 a

 T
h

u
rs

d
a
y
, 
c
lo

s
u
re

s
 

in
te

rr
u
p
t 
th

e
 f
lo

w
 o

f 
le

a
rn

in
g

 o
v
e
r 

th
e
 

w
e

e
k
 a

n
d

 c
a
n

 h
a

v
e

 a
 n

e
g
a

ti
v
e

 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

n
 

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 F

ri
d
a
y
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 a

n
 

e
le

c
ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
h
a

s
 t
o
 c

lo
s
e
 o

n
 a

n
 

e
le

c
ti
o
n

 d
a
y
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
o
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
m

o
v
in

g
 p

u
p
ils

 t
o
 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
 

3
) 

T
h

e
 s

c
h

o
o

l 
h

a
ll 

w
h

ic
h

 i
s
 u

s
e
d

 f
o

r 
p
o
lli

n
g
 p

u
rp

o
s
e
s
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 b

y
 

v
e
h
ic

le
s
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 H

ig
h
 S

tr
e
e
t;
 t
h
e
 o

n
ly

 
v
e

h
ic

u
la

r 
a
c
c
e

s
s
 i
s
 a

lo
n

g
 P

it
 L

a
n

e
 a

n
d

 
h
e
re

 t
h
is

 i
s
 r

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
. 
V

o
te

rs
 h

a
v
e
 t
o
 p

a
rk

 
in

 t
h
e
 H

ig
h
 S

tr
e
e
t 
a
n
d
 w

a
lk

 a
lo

n
g
 i
t 
to

 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
g
a

te
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

p
la

y
g

ro
u

n
d

 t
o
 t
h

e
 p

o
lli

n
g

 s
ta

ti
o

n
. 
F

o
r 

v
o
te

rs
 w

it
h
 a

 d
is

a
b
ili

ty
, 
it
 p

re
s
e
n
ts

 
d

if
fi
c
u

lt
ie

s
 a

s
 t
h

e
 e

n
tr

a
n
c
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 p

o
lli

n
g

 
s
ta

ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
h
a

ll 
is

 a
t 
th

e
 r

e
a
r.

 

Page 23



8

T
h
is

 m
e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
v
o
te

rs
 w

it
h
 m

o
b
ili

ty
 

p
ro

b
le

m
s
 h

a
v
e

 a
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 d
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 
w

a
lk

 a
s
 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

a
rk

in
g
 f
o

r 
p

e
o

p
le

 w
it
h

 
d

is
a

b
ili

ti
e

s
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 i
n
 c

lo
s
e
 p

ro
x
im

it
y
. 

4
) 

P
a

re
n

ts
 f
re

q
u

e
n

tl
y
 e

x
p

re
s
s
 d

is
m

a
y
 a

t 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
b
e
in

g
 u

s
e
d
 a

s
 a

 p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 d

is
ru

p
ti
o
n
 c

a
u
s
e
d
. 
 

5
) 

W
e
 a

re
 a

w
a
re

 t
h
a
t 
o
th

e
r 

c
o
u
n
c
ils

 s
u
c
h
 

a
s
 N

o
rt

h
 W

a
rw

ic
k
s
h
ir
e
 h

a
v
e
 m

o
v
e
d
 

a
lm

o
s
t 
a
ll 

o
f 
th

e
ir
 p

o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
s
 o

u
t 
o
f 

s
c
h

o
o

ls
 b

e
c
a
u

s
e

 t
h

e
y
 r

e
c
o
g

n
is

e
 h

o
w

 
d
is

ru
p
ti
v
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 t
h
e
s
e
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
is

. 
 W

e
 s

u
g
g
e
s
t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b
 p

re
m

is
e
s
 

in
 C

a
d
o

g
a

n
 R

o
a

d
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

n
 i
d

e
a

l 
a

lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

 a
s
 i
t 
h

a
s
 a

 l
a

rg
e
 c

a
r 

p
a
rk

 a
n

d
 

s
p
a
c
io

u
s
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
w

o
u
ld

 
a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
te

 a
 p

o
lli

n
g

 s
ta

ti
o

n
 t
h

a
t 
w

o
u

ld
 

b
e
n
e
fi
t 
th

e
 w

h
o
le

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
. 

If
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 

n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
, 
th

e
y
 a

 
c
o

m
p
ro

m
is

e
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 t
o

 h
a

v
e

 a
 m

o
b

ile
 

p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 s

it
e
d
 o

n
 t
h
e
 f
ro

n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

s
c
h

o
o

l.
 T

h
is

 i
s
 w

h
a

t 
w

a
s
 i
n
 p

la
c
e

 
p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 a
n
d
 a

llo
w

e
d
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
to

 
re

m
a
in

 o
p
e
n
 w

it
h
 m

it
ig

a
te

d
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 p

u
t 

in
 p

la
c
e
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 p
u
p
ils

 a
n
d
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 S

a
fe

ty
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

. 
W

e
 a

re
 

a
w

a
re

 t
h
a
t 
m

o
b
ile

 p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 

u
s
e
d

 e
ls

e
w

h
e
re

 l
o
c
a
lly

. 
W

e
 l
o
o
k
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 
to

 r
e
c
e
iv

in
g
 d

e
ta

ils
 o

f 
th

e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

 o
n
c
e
 a

ll 
v
ie

w
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
. 

Page 24



9

 
 

 
 

I 
fu

lly
 c

o
n
c
u
r 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 v

ie
w

s
 o

f 
th

e
 

H
e
a
d

te
a
c
h
e
r.

 T
h
e
y
 f
o
rm

e
d
 t
h
e
 b

a
s
is

 o
f 

o
u
r 

c
o
rr

e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 M

r 
J
 W

h
e
a
tl
e
y
 

a
ft
e
r 

fu
ll 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 F

u
ll 

G
o
v
e
rn

in
g
 B

o
d
y
. 
A

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 v

e
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

u
s
e
d

: 
B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b
. 

Trinity

 
 

 
 

It
 s

e
e

m
s
 u

n
re

a
s
o
n

a
b

le
 f
o

r 
th

e
 l
a

rg
e

 
p
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
to

 b
e
 c

lo
s
e
d

 t
o
 p

u
p
ils

 f
o
r 

a
 

d
a
y
 j
u
s
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
ll 

a
s
 a

 
p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
. 
T

h
is

 c
a
u
s
e
s
 d

is
ru

p
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
fa

m
ili

e
s
. 
A

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 

v
e
n
u
e
s
: 
D

o
s
th

ill
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b
 o

r 
M

o
b
ile

 
S

ta
ti
o
n

Page 25



1
0

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
s
 

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

 
 

 
 

I 
w

o
u
ld

 l
ik

e
 t
o
 r

e
g
is

te
r 

m
y
 a

n
n
o
y
a
n
c
e
 a

t 
D

o
s
th

ill
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
v
in

g
 t
o
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 a

s
 a

 
p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 a

s
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

c
lo

s
e

d
 a

n
d

 t
h
a

t 
re

s
u

lt
s
 i
n

 e
x
tr

a
 c

o
s
ts

 t
o

 
p

a
re

n
ts

. 
 W

it
h

 D
o

rc
a
s
 c

e
n
tr

e
 b

e
in

g
 u

s
e
d

 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 i
n

 C
o
tt
a
g
e
 

F
a
rm

 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
to

 b
e
 

u
s
e
d

 a
n

d
 t
h

e
re

fo
re

 i
n
c
o

n
v
e
n

ie
n
c
in

g
 

p
a

re
n

ts
, 
te

a
c
h

e
rs

 a
n

d
 p

u
p

ils
. 

 
 

 
 

I 
o
b
je

c
t 
to

 D
o
s
th

ill
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
b
e
in

g
 c

lo
s
e
d
 f
o
r 

v
o

ti
n

g
. 
O

u
r 

c
h

ild
re

n
's

 e
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 i
s
 m

o
re

 
im

p
o
rt

a
n
t.
 P

le
a
s
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 

p
re

m
is

e
s
. 

Trinity

 
 

 
 

I 
h
a
d
 b

e
e
n
 t
o
ld

 t
h
a
t 
w

e
 c

a
n
 p

u
t 
a
n
 e

m
a
il 

to
 y

o
u
 w

it
h
 r

e
g
a
rd

s
 D

o
s
th

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 
b
e

in
g
 u

s
e
d

 a
 p

o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
. 
M

y
 

p
re

fe
re

n
c
e

 w
o

u
ld

 b
e

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 s

c
h

o
o

l 
re

m
a

in
 o

p
e
n

 a
n

d
 N

O
T

 b
e

 u
s
e
d

 a
s
 a

 
p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 e

v
e
ry

 y
e
a
r.

 

Page 26



1
1

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
s
 

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

T
ri

n
it

y
 

 
 

 

I 
a
m

 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
in

g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
n
v
it
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 s

u
b
m

it
 

v
ie

w
s
 o

n
 P

o
lli

n
g

 D
is

tr
ic

ts
, 
P

la
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 
S

ta
ti
o
n
s
. 
I 
o
b
je

c
t 
to

 D
o
s
th

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h

o
o

l 
b
e

in
g

 u
s
e
d

 a
s
 a

 P
o

lli
n

g
 S

ta
ti
o

n
 f
o

r 
th

e
 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 r
e

a
s
o

n
s
. 
T

h
e

 s
c
h

o
o

l 
h
a

s
 t
o
 

c
lo

s
e

 d
u
ri

n
g

 p
o

lli
n

g
 d

a
y
s
 d

is
ru

p
ti
n

g
 t
h

e
 

le
a

rn
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 s

tu
d

e
n

ts
. 
T

h
e

re
 i
s
 p

o
o
r 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o

 t
h

e
 s

it
e

 b
y
 v

e
h

ic
le

 m
a

k
in

g
 i
t 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 f
o
r 

th
o
s
e
 v

o
te

rs
 w

h
o
 h

a
v
e
 m

o
b
ili

ty
 

is
s
u
e
s
. 
 I
t 
a
ls

o
 m

a
k
e
s
 t
h
o
s
e
 t
h
a
t 
w

o
rk

 
le

s
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 v

o
te

. 
 I

 v
o
te

 a
t 
th

e
 D

o
rc

a
s
 

c
e
n
tr

e
 p

o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
 w

h
ic

h
 I
 c

a
n
 d

ri
v
e
 t
o
 

o
n
 m

y
 w

a
y
 t
o
 w

o
rk

. 
T

h
e
 b

o
y
s
' c

lu
b
 w

o
u
ld

 
a
p
p
e
a
r 

to
 b

e
 a

 m
u
c
h
 b

e
tt
e
r 

s
it
e
 f
o
r 

a
 

p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
. 
 I
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 i
s
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 e

d
g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 p

re
s
e
n
t 
p
o
lli

n
g
 a

re
a
, 

b
u
t 
if
 i
n
s
te

a
d
 o

f 
s
p
lit

ti
n
g
 T

R
4
 a

n
d
 T

R
5
 

a
lo

n
g
 t
h
e
 m

a
in

 r
o
a
d
 a

n
d
 s

p
lit

 t
h
e
 d

is
tr

ic
t 

e
a
s
t/
w

e
s
t 
th

e
n

 y
o
u
 c

o
u
ld

 h
a

v
e
 a

 p
o
lli

n
g
 

s
ta

ti
o

n
 a

t 
th

e
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b

 a
n
d

 a
n

o
th

e
r 

o
n
e

 
a
t 
th

e
 N

o
rm

a
n
 C

h
a
p
e
l 
(n

e
x
t 
to

 S
t 
P

a
u
l’s

 
C

h
u
rc

h
 D

o
s
th

ill
).

 

Page 27



1
2

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
s
 

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

T
ri

n
it

y
 

 
 

 

I 
a
m

 w
ri
ti
n
g
 t
o
 e

x
p
re

s
s
 m

y
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
a
l 
u
s
e
 o

f 
D

o
s
th

ill
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
a
s
 a

 
p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
. 
 E

v
e
ry

 t
im

e
 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 

e
le

c
ti
o
n

 (
C

o
u
n
c
il/

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
o
r 

e
v
e
n
 t
h
e
 

d
a
ft
n
e
s
s
 t
h
a
t 
w

a
s
 P

C
C

's
),

 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
is

 
c
lo

s
e
d
 l
e
a
d
in

g
 t
o
 d

is
ru

p
ti
o
n

 t
o
 b

o
th

 
c
h
ild

re
n
, 
te

a
c
h
e
rs

 a
n
d
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
. 
W

it
h
 t
h
e
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 
re

q
u

ir
e
d

 i
n

s
e

t 
d

a
y
s
 a

 y
e

a
r 

- 
c
lo

s
in

g
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
fo

r 
e
le

c
ti
o
n
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 i
n
 

lo
s
s
 o

f 
v
a
lu

a
b
le

 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 t
im

e
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

c
h

ild
re

n
. 
 N

o
t 
to

 m
e

n
ti
o

n
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

d
 

c
h

ild
c
a
re

 c
o

s
ts

 o
r 

d
a

y
s
 l
o

s
t 
o

f 
w

o
rk

 d
u

e
 t
o

 
c
h
ild

c
a
re

 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
I 
b
e
lie

v
e
 i
t 
is

 n
o
t 

n
e

c
e

s
s
a
ry

 t
o

 u
s
e

 t
h

e
 s

c
h

o
o

l 
a

s
 a

 p
o

lli
n

g
 

s
ta

ti
o

n
. 
 H

e
re

 a
re

 m
y
 s

u
g
g
e

s
ti
o

n
s
 f
o

r 
a

lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

 s
it
e

s
 a

n
d

 v
e

n
u

e
s
: 

T
h
e
 N

o
rm

a
n

 C
h
a
p
e
l 
a
t 
S

t 
P

a
u
ls

 C
h
u
rc

h
 

D
o
s
th

ill
 C

o
s
m

o
p

o
lit

a
n

 C
lu

b
 (

I 
re

c
o

g
n

is
e
 

th
e
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 a

 c
o
s
t 
- 

h
o
w

e
v
e
r 

y
o
u
 p

a
y
 f
o
r 

th
e
 D

o
rc

a
s
 C

e
n
tr

e
 s

o
 w

h
y
 n

o
t 
th

e
 D

o
s
th

ill
 

C
o
s
) 

T
h

e
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b

 (
a

g
a

in
 c

o
s
t 
a

tt
a

c
h

e
d

) 
A

 p
o

rt
a

b
le

 c
a
b

in
 o

n
 t
h

e
 c

a
r 

p
a

rk
 o

f 
th

e
 

D
o
s
th

ill
 C

o
s
 

A
 P

o
rt

a
b
le

 C
a
b
in

 o
n
 t
h
e
 B

ro
o
m

 F
ie

ld
 

T
u
rn

 t
h
e
 m

o
b
ile

 l
ib

ra
ry

 i
n
to

 a
 p

o
lli

n
g
 

s
ta

ti
o

n
A

s
 a

 l
a

s
t 
re

s
o
rt

 I
 u

n
d

e
rs

ta
n
d

 t
h

e
 H

e
a
d

 
T

e
a
c
h
e
r 

o
f 
D

o
s
th

ill
 h

a
s
 o

ff
e
re

d
 t
o
 h

o
s
t 
a
 

p
o

rt
a

b
le

 c
a
b

in
 o

n
 t
h

e
 m

a
in

 p
la

y
g

ro
u
n

d
 -

 

Page 28



1
3

a
s
s
u
m

in
g

 a
ll 

s
a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

re
 

ta
k
in

g
 i
n

to
 a

c
c
o

u
n

t 
- 

th
e

re
 i
s
 n

o
 r

e
a

s
o

n
 

w
h
y
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
h
a
s
 t
o
 c

lo
s
e
. 

W
h

ils
t 
I 
re

c
o
g
n

is
e

 t
h

e
 n

e
e

d
 f
o

r 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 t
o
 a

ll 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 -

 I
 t
h

in
k
 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

s
h

o
u

ld
 

re
c
o

g
n

is
e

 t
h

e
 c

h
a

n
g

in
g

 w
a
y
 i
n

 w
h

ic
h

 
p
e
o
p
le

 v
o
te

. 
 A

s
 m

o
re

 a
n
d
 m

o
re

 p
e
o
p
le

 
c
h

o
s
e
 t
o
 v

o
te

 b
y
 p

o
s
t 
- 

o
r 

n
o
t 
v
o
te

 a
t 
a
ll 

- 
I 
th

in
k
 y

o
u

 n
e
e

d
 t
o

 c
o

n
s
id

e
r 

th
e

 n
u

m
b
e

r 
o
f 
p
o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 D

o
 y

o
u
 r

e
a
lly

 
n
e
e
d
 o

n
e
 o

n
 C

o
tt
a
g
e
 f
a
rm

 w
h
e
n

 t
h
e
 

D
o

rc
a
s
 c

e
n

tr
e

 i
s
 a

 s
to

n
e

s
 t
h

ro
w

 a
 w

a
y
. 

M
y
 v

ie
w

 i
s
 i
f 
p
e
o
p
le

 w
a
n
t 
to

 v
o
te

 t
h
e
y
 w

ill
 

- 
m

o
s
t 
p

e
o

p
le

 h
a

v
e

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o

 c
a

rs
 a

n
d

 
q
u
it
e
 o

ft
e
n
 v

o
te

 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 w

a
y
 t
o
 a

n
d
 f
ro

m
 

w
o
rk

. 
 I
f 
n
o
t,
 e

n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 t
h
e
m

 t
o
 v

o
te

 m
y
 

p
o
s
t 
o
r 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
ly

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 

c
h
a
ri

ti
e
s
 t
o
 h

e
lp

 p
e
o
p
le

 g
e
t 
to

 p
o
lli

n
g
 

s
ta

ti
o
n
s
. 
 I
 a

m
 s

u
re

 A
g
e
 U

K
 w

o
u
ld

 w
o
rk

 
w

it
h
 y

o
u
 o

n
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 t
h
e
 e

ld
e
rl
y
 t
o
 v

o
te

. 
 

M
y
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 t
u
rn

 o
u
t 
ra

te
 f
o
r 

th
e
 e

le
c
ti
o
n
s
 w

a
s
 r

e
la

ti
v
e
ly

 l
o
w

 -
 w

it
h
 

s
o
m

e
 p

o
lli

n
g
 s

ta
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 D

o
s
th

ill
 a

re
a
 

g
e
tt
in

g
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 2

0
 v

o
te

s
. 

Page 29



1
4

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
s
 

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

 
 

 
 

T
h
e
 T

ru
s
te

e
s
 f
e
e
l 
th

a
t 
it
 i
s
 a

 s
h
a
m

e
 t
o
 

c
lo

s
e

 t
h

e
 s

c
h
o

o
l 
fo

r 
a

 d
a

y
 w

h
ic

h
 d

o
e

s
 n

o
t 

h
a
v
e
 p

a
rk

in
g
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 f
o
r 

v
o

te
rs

 w
h
e
n
 w

e
 

h
a
v
e
 a

 p
e
rf

e
c
tl
y
 g

o
o
d
, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 f
a
c
ili

ty
 

to
 h

ir
e
 a

t 
th

e
 B

o
y
s
 C

lu
b
 a

p
p
ro

x
 1

5
0
is

h
 

y
a
rd

s
 a

w
a
y
. 

T
ri

n
it

y

 
 

 
 

I 
w

is
h

 t
o

 s
h
a

re
 m

y
 t
h

o
u

g
h

ts
 a

ft
e

r 
re

a
d

in
g

 
y
o
u
r 

d
ra

ft
 r

e
v
ie

w
 p

a
p
e
r.

 I
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b

e
 

a
m

a
z
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

w
is

h
e
s
 t
o
 d

is
ru

p
t 

s
o

 m
a

n
y
 s

c
h
o

o
ls

 t
o

 s
e

t 
u

p
 p

o
lli

n
g

 
s
ta

ti
o
n
s
, 
c
a
u
s
in

g
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
d
is

ru
p

ti
o
n
 t
o
 

th
e

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
ir
 f
a

m
ili

e
s
, 
w

h
e

n
 t
h

e
re

 
a
re

 s
o
 m

a
n
y
 p

u
b
lic

/a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
 

n
e
a
rb

y
. 
In

 D
o
s
th

ill
 w

e
 h

a
v
e
 T

h
e
 B

o
y
s
 

C
lu

b
 a

n
d

 T
h

e
 C

o
s
m

o
p

o
lit

a
n

 C
lu

b
 w

it
h

in
 

w
a
lk

in
g
 d

is
ta

n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o
l,
 y

e
t 
it
 i
s
 

d
e
e
m

e
d

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o
 c

lo
s
e
 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
to

 c
6
0
0

 c
h
ild

re
n
. 
I 
re

a
d
 w

it
h
 

in
te

re
s
t 
y
o

u
r 

c
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 i
n

 
2

0
1

1
 w

h
ic

h
 s

ta
te

d
 t
h

e
s
e

 a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

 
o

p
ti
o

n
s
 w

e
re

 n
o

t 
a

p
p

ro
p
ri
a
te

. 
 I
 c

h
a

lle
n
g
e

 
h

o
w

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a

te
 i
t 
is

 f
o

r 
6

0
0

 c
h

ild
re

n
, 
in

 
D

o
s
th

ill
 a

lo
n
e
, 
lo

s
in

g
 a

 d
a
y
s
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
A

 
c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
 a

ls
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 b
y
 g

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 i
n
tr

o
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
fi
n

in
g

 p
a
re

n
ts

 
s
h

o
u
ld

 t
h
e
y
 w

is
h

 t
o
 t
a
k
e

 t
h
e
ir
 c

h
ild

re
n
 o

u
t 

o
f 
s
c
h
o

o
l 
d

u
ri
n

g
 t
e

rm
 t
im

e
. 

Page 30



1
5

W
a
rd

R
e

f
P

D
R

e
f

N
o

 o
f 

E
le

c
to

rs
(a

s
 a

t 
0

1
/1

0
/1

3
) 

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
s
 

R
e

c
e

iv
e

d
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

Is
s
u

e
s
 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 
R

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s
 

3
6

 
W

I1
 

1
,3

2
3

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

3
7

 
W

I2
 

1
,1

8
8

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

3
8

 
W

I3
 

9
7

9
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

3
9

 
W

I4
 

6
5

4
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

4
0

 
W

I5
 

1
,1

4
8

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

4
1

 
W

I6
 

1
,3

8
1

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

W
il
n

e
c
o

te

4
2

 
W

I7
 

2
8

6
 

0
 

  
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

4
3

 
S

T
1

1
,3

1
7

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

4
4

 
S

T
2

1
,8

2
8

 
1

 
N

o
 c

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 m

a
d

e
 

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

4
5

 
S

T
3

1
,5

2
0

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

S
to

n
y
d

e
lp

h
 

4
6

 
S

T
4

1
,1

5
8

 
0

 
  

 N
o

 c
h
a

n
g
e

 
 N

o
 c

h
a

n
g
e

 

 
 

 
5

8
,5

5
2

 
2

0
 

 
 

 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



Potential polling place / polling station – evaluation 
checklist

Part A –  Potential polling place details 
Polling place identifier Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Church  

Polling place name Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Church 

Polling place address Silver Link Road 
Glascote Heath 
Tamworth
B77 2EA 

Number of electors 
(If more than one 
polling station within the 
polling place, identify 
split of electors) 

GL1 – 1,582 electors split station 

GL3 = 970 electors 

Total = 1,679 

3 Stations in total 

Number of postal voters 
GL1 = 257 
GL3 = 105 

Building availability for 
future
elections/referendums 

Yes but must ensure that it is booked in advance.  

Polling place review 
Check ! Comment 

! Are there suitable transport links? Yes Bus stopped is located opposite 
the church.  

! Are there any access issues regarding 
main/busy roads, railways, rivers, etc.?  

No

! Is the polling place capable of 
accommodating more than one polling 
station together with the necessary staff and 
equipment? If so, could it accommodate all 
allocated voters going in and out of the 
polling stations, even where there is a high 
turnout?

Yes Two rooms within the church 
would need to be utilised. The 
larger of these rooms would be 
used for the split station.  

! Is the building readily available in the event 
of any unscheduled elections? 

Yes But as much notice as possible 
would need to be given.

! Is there any possibility that the building may 
be demolished as part of a new 
development? 

No

Identify any complaints/comments received from stakeholders at previous 
electoral events 

The Headteacher of Glascote Heath Primary contacted the Elections Office and 
asked if we could have a look into relocating the polling station. The school 
suggested the Church and as it is adjacent to the school this should caused no 
inconvenience should this polling station be relocated. This location also offers 
ample car parking and suits the needs of the disabled voter far better. The 
management team at the Church are more than happy to accommodate us for 
polling day and are very active within the local community. A move to the church 
would also incur a small cost saving compared to the fees charged by the school. 
The church has offered their facilities for a fee of £200 compared to £268 charged 
by the school. Page 33



Part B – External areas access and facilities 
Check (!) Comments 

! Are there good public transport links to the 
polling place? 

Yes Bus stop across the road 

! Is the approach to the building safe and free from 
obstructions and does it have a dropped kerb? 

Yes 
The premises are accessed via a 
large car park to the front.  

! Is the building clearly identifiable? Yes  

! Is additional signage required between street and 
entrance?

If additional signage is needed this 
could be placed upon the fence 
boarding the road 

! Is there the facility to put up the required signage 
for polling day? 

Yes  

! Are there parking facilities for disabled people? Yes 

There are several dedicated 
disabled parking spaces that are 
located directly in front of the main 
entrance.  

! Are there parking facilities for polling staff? Yes  

! Does the approach to the building have external 
lighting?

Yes  

Yes ! Does the building have level access? Yes/No.  
If no – 

! Has a purpose built ramp been installed? 

! If so, does it have a handrail? 

! Does the ramp have a gentle slope? 

! Does the building require a temporary ramp or is 
there an alternative disabled access? 

! Is the entrance door wide enough for a disabled 
person using a motorised wheelchair? 

Yes  

! Are the doors light enough for frail/elderly voters 
to open? 

Yes  

! Can the ‘Guidance for voters’ notice be clearly 
displayed outside the premises, as required by 
the election rules? 

Yes  

! Are there any external security concerns? No  

! Can tellers be accommodated outside the 
building?

Yes  

Page 34



External plan – B1 

Page 35



Part C – Internal areas access and facilities 
Check (!) Comments 

! Are all doors easy to open (including by wheelchair 
users) or do they need to be permanently locked 
back?

Yes  

! Are there any internal steps or 
obstructions/hazards? 

No  

! Are any doormats level with the floor? Yes  

! Is the floor covering non-slip (including in wet 
weather)?

Yes  

! Are there any corridors that may cause access 
problems?

No  

! Is there adequate lighting in the corridors? Yes  

! Are there toilet facilities? Yes Including disabled facilities.  

! Is there a kitchen that staff can use? Yes  

! Is the area adequately lit for day and night time?  Yes  

! Is there adequate space for signage? Yes  

! How many polling stations can the building 
accommodate? 

3/4

! Does the building have a telephone available (land 
line) in the event of mobile network problems? 

Yes  

Page 36



Part D – The polling station(s) 
Check (!) Comments 

! Is there sufficient space to accommodate and 
manage the flow of a high volume of electors in the 
case of a high turnout of electors? 

Yes  

! If multiple polling stations need to be provided, are 
there other rooms available, or can the space be 
clearly divided to provide adequate room for more 
than one polling station? 

Yes There are two separate rooms 
that are large enough to 
accommodate busy polling 
stations.

! Is there sufficient space inside the polling station to 
comfortably accommodate staff, voters, polling 
agents and observers? 

Yes  

! Could ballot booths be positioned in a way that 
would preserve the secrecy of the ballot, even 
where there may be a high volume of electors? 

Yes  

! Is there adequate lighting for day and night time? Yes  

! Is there suitable furniture (tables and chairs) 
available for all types of election for polling staff 
and for those voters who may need to rest? 

Yes  

! Could motorised wheelchairs be accommodated? Yes  

! Can the official notices be clearly displayed, 
including the large-print version of the ballot 
paper(s)?

Yes  

Page 37



Internal – The polling station(s) – D1 

Polling Station 1 – GL1 split station
Dimensions: 7.5m x 10m 

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 38



 
Station 2 - GL3 
Dimensions: 7.6m x 6m 

Page 39



Page 40



Potential Polling place / polling station – evaluation 
checklist

Part A –  Potential polling place details 
Polling place identifier Dosthill Boys Club 

Polling place name Dosthill Boys Club 

Polling place address Cadogan Road 
Dosthill
Tamworth
B77 1PD 

Number of electors 
(If more than one 
polling station within the 
polling place, identify 
split of electors) 

TR4 – 1,033 
TR5 - 880 

Number of postal voters 
TR4 – 169 
TR5 – 176

Building availability for 
future
elections/referendums 

Yes but must ensure that it is booked in advance.  

Polling place review 
Check ! Comment 

! Are there suitable transport links? Yes Bus stopped is located opposite. 

! Are there any access issues regarding 
main/busy roads, railways, rivers, etc.?  

No  

! Is the polling place capable of 
accommodating more than one polling 
station together with the necessary staff and 
equipment? If so, could it accommodate all 
allocated voters going in and out of the 
polling stations, even where there is a high 
turnout?

Yes There are several room options 
depending on whether we would 
wish to house both polling 
stations here. These are either 
the Sports Hall or the Multi-
Activity Room. 

! Is the building readily available in the event 
of any unscheduled elections? 

Yes But as much notice as possible 
would need to be given.

! Is there any possibility that the building may 
be demolished as part of a new 
development? 

No

Identify any complaints/comments received from stakeholders at previous 
electoral events 

The Headteacher, Chair of Governors, The Boys Club, The Vicar of St Paul’s Church (Dosthill) and 
parents from the school have put in a number of submissions asking that we look at other locations 
to house this polling station within the local area. Putting aside the issue of the school closing and 
the inconvenience this causes for parent the fact is that Dosthill Primary School is poorly laid out 
and causes access issues for voters with disabilities. The school can offer no solution to this. There 
is also no parking available at the school for disabled or able bodied electors. This has caused 
issues in the past particularly with disabled electors as they have been unable to park their vehicles 
and access the polling station. Even if disabled parking was available on site this would still require 
any disabled elector to walk the perimeter of the school into the polling station. It is worth noting that 
the authority may be open to a challenge by disabled electors should they not be able to access the 
polling station and financial implications may arise from this. The Boys Club is an excellent 
alternative and is an option that should be given the fullest consideration by Full Council. Fees 
would no be dissimilar to the fees currently paid to Dosthill Primary School. Costs for the rooms are 
as follows: 
Multi-Activity Room = £256 (half this cost would be re-charged to NW Borough Council when they 
have elections)  
Sports Hall = £336 (one third of which would be re-charged to NW Borough Council when they have 
elections.)

Page 41



Part B – External areas access and facilities 
Check (!) Comments 

! Are there good public transport links to the 
polling place? 

Yes Bus stop across the road 

! Is the approach to the building safe and free from 
obstructions and does it have a dropped kerb? 

Yes 
The premises are accessed via a 
large car park to the front.  

! Is the building clearly identifiable? Yes 
The building and location is 
extremely well known with this 
locale.  

! Is additional signage required between street and 
entrance?

If additional signage is needed this 
could be placed upon the fence 
boarding the road 

! Is there the facility to put up the required signage 
for polling day? 

Yes  

! Are there parking facilities for disabled people? Yes 

There are several dedicated 
disabled parking spaces that are 
located to the front left of the main 
entrance.  

! Are there parking facilities for polling staff? Yes  

! Does the approach to the building have external 
lighting?

Yes  

Yes ! Does the building have level access? Yes/No.  
If no – 

! Has a purpose built ramp been installed? 

! If so, does it have a handrail? 

! Does the ramp have a gentle slope? 

! Does the building require a temporary ramp or is 
there an alternative disabled access? 

! Is the entrance door wide enough for a disabled 
person using a motorised wheelchair? 

Yes  

! Are the doors light enough for frail/elderly voters 
to open? 

Yes  

! Can the ‘Guidance for voters’ notice be clearly 
displayed outside the premises, as required by 
the election rules? 

Yes  

! Are there any external security concerns? No  

! Can tellers be accommodated outside the 
building?

Yes 
There is a reception area with 
seating that could be used to by 
tellers.  

Page 42



External plan – B1 

Page 43



Part C – Internal areas access and facilities 
Check (!) Comments 

! Are all doors easy to open (including by wheelchair 
users) or do they need to be permanently locked 
back?

Yes  

! Are there any internal steps or 
obstructions/hazards? 

No  

! Are any doormats level with the floor? Yes  

! Is the floor covering non-slip (including in wet 
weather)?

Yes  

! Are there any corridors that may cause access 
problems?

No  

! Is there adequate lighting in the corridors? Yes  

! Are there toilet facilities? Yes Including disabled facilities.  

! Is there a kitchen that staff can use? Yes  

! Is the area adequately lit for day and night time?  Yes  

! Is there adequate space for signage? Yes  

! How many polling stations can the building 
accommodate? 

3/4

! Does the building have a telephone available (land 
line) in the event of mobile network problems? 

Yes  

Page 44



Part D – The polling station(s) 
Check (!) Comments 

! Is there sufficient space to accommodate and 
manage the flow of a high volume of electors in the 
case of a high turnout of electors? 

Yes  

! If multiple polling stations need to be provided, are 
there other rooms available, or can the space be 
clearly divided to provide adequate room for more 
than one polling station? 

Yes The Sports Hall and Multi-
Activity Room are large enough 
to accommodate multiple busy 
polling stations. 

! Is there sufficient space inside the polling station to 
comfortably accommodate staff, voters, polling 
agents and observers? 

Yes  

! Could ballot booths be positioned in a way that 
would preserve the secrecy of the ballot, even 
where there may be a high volume of electors? 

Yes  

! Is there adequate lighting for day and night time? Yes  

! Is there suitable furniture (tables and chairs) 
available for all types of election for polling staff 
and for those voters who may need to rest? 

Yes  

! Could motorised wheelchairs be accommodated? Yes  

! Can the official notices be clearly displayed, 
including the large-print version of the ballot 
paper(s)?

Yes  

Page 45



Internal – The polling station(s) – D1 

Entrance 

Option 1 The Multi-Activity Room – TR4 only (plus station from N Warwickshire BC)   
Dimensions: 7.5m x 13.4m 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



Option 2 The Sports Hall – TR4 & TR5 (plus station from N Warwickshire BC)  
Dimensions: 24m x 12m 

Plan of Dosthill Boys Club 

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



Potential Polling place / polling station – evaluation 
checklist

Part A –  Potential polling place details 
Polling place identifier The Norman Chapel, St Paul’s Chapel 

Polling place name The Norman Chapel, St Paul’s Chapel 

Polling place address Church Road 
Dosthill
Tamworth
B77 1LU 

Number of electors 
(If more than one 
polling station within the 
polling place, identify 
split of electors) 

TR5 - 880 

Number of postal voters TR5 – 176  

Building availability for 
future
elections/referendums 

Yes but must ensure that it is booked in advance.  

Polling place review 
Check ! Comment 

! Are there suitable transport links? Yes Bus stop is located on Church 
Road.

! Are there any access issues regarding 
main/busy roads, railways, rivers, etc.?  

No  

! Is the polling place capable of 
accommodating more than one polling 
station together with the necessary staff and 
equipment? If so, could it accommodate all 
allocated voters going in and out of the 
polling stations, even where there is a high 
turnout?

No  

! Is the building readily available in the event 
of any unscheduled elections? 

Yes But as much notice as possible 
would need to be given.

! Is there any possibility that the building may 
be demolished as part of a new 
development? 

No

Identify any complaints/comments received from stakeholders at previous electoral 
events

The Headteacher, Chair of Governors, The Boys Club, The Vicar of St Paul’s Church (Dosthill) and 
parents from the school have put in a number of submissions asking that we look at other locations 
to house this polling station within the local area. Putting aside the issue of the school closing and 
the inconvenience this causes for parent the fact is that Dosthill Primary School is poorly laid out 
and causes access issues for voters with disabilities. The school can offer no solution to this. There 
is also no parking available at the school for disabled or able bodied electors. This has caused 
issues in the past particularly with disabled electors as they have been unable to park their vehicles 
and access the polling station. Even if disabled parking was available on site this would still require 
any disabled elector to travel the perimeter of the school into the polling station. It is worth noting 
that the authority may be open to a challenge by disabled electors should they not be able to access 
the polling station and financial implications may arise from this. The Norman Chapel has been 
offered for use by Rev’d Louise Shaw. Rev’d Shaw is keen to support the local community and has 
offered the use of this facility for a nominal fee to cover heating and light. The Chapel is well known 
in the locality and is used for PACT meetings regularly. In reality this building is more suited to 
holding a meeting rather than a polling station. The fact is that it will not alleviate some of the issues 
that are currently experience at Dosthill Primary School, namely parking and easier access for 
disabled people.  Page 49



Part B – External areas access and facilities 
Check (!) Comments 

! Are there good public transport links to the 
polling place? 

Yes Bus stop across the road 

! Is the approach to the building safe and free from 
obstructions and does it have a dropped kerb? 

Yes 
The polling station would be 
accessed via the church yard.  

! Is the building clearly identifiable? Yes 

The building and location is 
extremely well know with this locale 
and is the current site for PACT 
meetings.  

! Is additional signage required between street and 
entrance?

If additional signage is needed this 
could be placed upon the fence 
boarding the road and within the 
church yard.  

! Is there the facility to put up the required signage 
for polling day? 

Yes  

! Are there parking facilities for disabled people? No

Parking is extremely limited 2/3 at 
best. This would mean that electors 
would need to park on Church 
Road.  

! Are there parking facilities for polling staff? Yes  

! Does the approach to the building have external 
lighting?

Yes  

No

No

n/a

! Does the building have level access? Yes/No.  
If no – 

! Has a purpose built ramp been installed? 

! If so, does it have a handrail? 

! Does the ramp have a gentle slope? 

! Does the building require a temporary ramp or is 
there an alternative disabled access? 

A temporary ramp would need to be 
constructed for the inside of the 
building.

! Is the entrance door wide enough for a disabled 
person using a motorised wheelchair? 

Yes If both doors are opened 

! Are the doors light enough for frail/elderly voters 
to open? 

No Heavy oak doors 

! Can the ‘Guidance for voters’ notice be clearly 
displayed outside the premises, as required by 
the election rules? 

Yes  

! Are there any external security concerns? No  

! Can tellers be accommodated outside the 
building?

No  

Page 50



External plan – B1 

Page 51



Part C – Internal areas access and facilities 
Check (!) Comments 

! Are all doors easy to open (including by wheelchair 
users) or do they need to be permanently locked 
back?

No Door would need to be 
permanently locked back 

! Are there any internal steps or 
obstructions/hazards? 

No  

! Are any doormats level with the floor? Yes  

! Is the floor covering non-slip (including in wet 
weather)?

Yes  

! Are there any corridors that may cause access 
problems?

No  

! Is there adequate lighting in the corridors? n/a

! Are there toilet facilities? Yes Toilet facilities Including 
disabled facilities are located in 
a separate building adjacent to 
the Norman Chapel.  

! Is there a kitchen that staff can use? Yes The kitchen area is located in 
the same room as the polling 
station would be housed.  

! Is the area adequately lit for day and night time?  Yes  

! Is there adequate space for signage? Yes  

! How many polling stations can the building 
accommodate? 

1

! Does the building have a telephone available (land 
line) in the event of mobile network problems? 

No  

Page 52



Part D – The polling station(s) 
Check (!) Comments 

! Is there sufficient space to accommodate and 
manage the flow of a high volume of electors in the 
case of a high turnout of electors? 

No  The Norman Chapel would 
struggle to located more than 10 
electors at anyone time once 
space has been allotted for 
booth etc.

! If multiple polling stations need to be provided, are 
there other rooms available, or can the space be 
clearly divided to provide adequate room for more 
than one polling station? 

No  

! Is there sufficient space inside the polling station to 
comfortably accommodate staff, voters, polling 
agents and observers? 

Yes  

! Could ballot booths be positioned in a way that 
would preserve the secrecy of the ballot, even 
where there may be a high volume of electors? 

No See note above 

! Is there adequate lighting for day and night time? Yes  

! Is there suitable furniture (tables and chairs) 
available for all types of election for polling staff 
and for those voters who may need to rest? 

Yes  

! Could motorised wheelchairs be accommodated? Yes As long as a temporary ramp is 
in situ.

! Can the official notices be clearly displayed, 
including the large-print version of the ballot 
paper(s)?

Yes  

Page 53



Internal – The polling station(s) – D1 

The Norman Chapel – TR5 
Dimensions: 4.8m x 9m 

Kitchen Area

 

 
 
 
 

Page 54



 
Toilet Block 

Entrance to Norman Chapel 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 
Entrance to Norman Chapel 
 

Page 56



COUNCIL 
 

17th DECEMBER 2013 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder Operations and Assets 
 

 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year 
Review Report 2013/14 

 
 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None 
 

 

PURPOSE 
 

To present to Members the Mid-year review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

and Annual Investment Strategy. 
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That Council: 
 
Accept the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2013/14. 
 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

This mid year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice, and 
covers the following 
 

• An economic update for the first six months of 2013/14; 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy; 

• The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators); 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2013/14; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2013/14; 

• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2013/14; 

• Icelandic Banking Situation; 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2013/14; 
 

The main issues for Members to note are: 
 

1. The Council has complied with the professional codes, statutes and guidance. 
 

2. There are no issues to report regarding non-compliance with the approved prudential 
indicators. 

 
3. The investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year is 0.87% (1.12% for 

the same period in 2012/13) compared to the 3 Month LIBID benchmark rate of 
0.38% (0.73% for the same period in 2012/13). This excludes all investments 

Agenda Item 7

Page 57



currently classified as ‘At Risk’ in the former Icelandic Banking institutions. 
 
The aim of this report is to inform Members of the treasury and investment management 
issues to enable all Members to have ownership and understanding when making decisions 
on Treasury Management matters. In order to facilitate this, training on Treasury 
Management issues has been delivered for Members in February and October 2010 and 
September of 2011. Further training is being arranged for early 2014. 
 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
 

 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 

Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has been 
adopted throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes. 
 

 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION   

 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) issued its revised Code 
of Practice for Treasury Management in November 2009 (revised 2011) following 
consultation with Local Authorities during that summer. The revised Code suggests that 
members should be informed of Treasury Management activities at least twice a year, but 
preferably quarterly. This is the second monitoring report for 2013/14 presented to Members 
this year and therefore ensures this Council is embracing Best Practice in accordance with 
CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice. Cabinet also receive regular monitoring reports as part of 
the quarterly healthcheck on Treasury Management activities and risks. 
 
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the year 
will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the Treasury Management operations ensure this 
cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering maximising 
investment return. 

The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can meet its 
capital spending operations. This management of longer term cash may involve arranging 
long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any 
debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

Treasury Management is defined as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. ” 
 

Page 58



1 Introduction 
 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management (revised November 2011) was adopted by this Council on 13th 
December 2012.  
 
The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:  

1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets 
out the policies and objectives of the Council’s Treasury Management activities. 

2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives. 

3. Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement - 
including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy - 
for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual Report (stewardship 
report) covering activities during the previous year. 

4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 
Treasury Management policies and practices and for the execution and 
administration of Treasury Management decisions. 

5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of Treasury Management strategy 
and policies to a specific named body. For this Council the delegated body is the 
Audit and Governance Committee. 

This mid year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice, and 
covers the following: 

• An economic update for the first six months of 2013/14; 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy; 

• The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators); 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2013/14; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2013/14; 

• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2013/14; 

• Icelandic Banking Situation; 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2013/14. 

2 Economic update 

2.1 Economic performance to date 

During 2013/14 economic indicators suggested that the economy is recovering, albeit from 
a low level. After avoiding recession in the first quarter of 2013, with a 0.3% quarterly 
expansion the economy grew 0.7% in Q2. There have been signs of renewed vigour in 
household spending in the summer, with a further pick-up in retail sales, mortgages, house 
prices and new car registrations.  

The strengthening in economic growth appears to have supported the labour market, with 
employment rising at a modest pace and strong enough to reduce the level of 
unemployment further.  Pay growth also rebounded strongly in April, though this was mostly 
driven by high earners delaying bonuses until after April’s cut in the top rate of income tax. 
Excluding bonuses, earnings rose by just 1.0% year-on -year, well below the rate of inflation 
at 2.7% in August, causing continuing pressure on household’s disposable income. 

Page 59



The Bank of England extended its Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS) into 2015 and 
sharpened the incentives for banks to extend more business funding, particularly to small 
and medium size enterprises. To date, the mortgage market still appears to have been the 
biggest beneficiary from the scheme, with mortgage interest rates falling further to new lows. 
Together with the Government’s Help to Buy scheme, which provides equity loans to credit-
constrained borrowers, this is helping to boost demand in the housing market. Mortgage 
approvals by high street banks have risen as have house prices, although they are still well 
down from the boom years pre 2008.  

Turning to the fiscal situation, the public borrowing figures continued to be distorted by a 
number of one-off factors. On an underlying basis, borrowing in Q2 started to come down, 
but only slowly, as Government expenditure cuts took effect and economic growth started to 
show through in a small increase in tax receipts. The 2013 Spending Review, covering only 
2015/16, made no changes to the headline Government spending plan, and monetary policy 
was unchanged in advance of the new Bank of England Governor, Mark Carney, arriving. 
Bank Rate remained at 0.5% and quantitative easing also stayed at £375bn. In August, the 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) provided forward guidance that Bank Rate is unlikely to 
change until unemployment first falls to 7%, which was not expected until mid 2016. 
However, 7% is only a point at which the MPC will review Bank Rate, not necessarily take 
action to change it. The three month to July average rate was 7.7%. 

CPI inflation (MPC target of 2.0%), fell marginally from a peak of 2.9% in June 2013 to 2.7% 
in August 2013. The Bank of England expects inflation to fall back to 2.0% in 2015. 

Financial markets sold off sharply following comments from Ben Bernanke (the Fed 
chairman) in June that suggested the Fed. may ‘taper’ its asset purchases earlier than 
anticipated. The resulting rise in US Treasury yields was replicated in the UK. Equity prices 
fell initially too, as Fed. purchasing of bonds has served to underpin investor moves into 
equities out of low yielding bonds.  However, as the market moves to realign its 
expectations, bond yields and equities are likely to rise further in expectation of a continuing 
economic recovery.  Increases in payroll figures have shown further improvement, helping 
to pull the unemployment rate down from a high of 8.1% to 7.3%, and continuing house 
price rises have helped more households to escape from negative equity. In September, the 
Fed. surprised financial markets by not starting tapering as it felt the run of economic data in 
recent months had been too weak to warrant taking early action.  Bond yields fell sharply as 
a result, though it still only remains a matter of time until tapering does start. 

Tensions in the Eurozone eased over the second quarter, but there remained a number of 
triggers for a renewed flare-up.  Economic survey data improved consistently over the first 
half of the year, pointing to a return to growth in Q2, so ending six quarters of Eurozone 
recession. 

2.2 Outlook for the next six months of 2013/14 

Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences weighing on the UK. 
Volatility in bond yields is likely during 2013/14 as investor fears and confidence ebb and 
flow between favouring more risky assets i.e. equities, and safer bonds. Downside risks to 
UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include: 

• A return to weak economic growth in the US, UK and China causing major 
disappointment to investor and market expectations 

• The potential for a significant increase in negative reactions of populaces in 
Eurozone countries against austerity programmes, especially in countries with very 
high unemployment rates e.g. Greece and Spain, which face huge challenges in 
engineering economic growth to correct their budget deficits on a sustainable basis. 

Page 60



• The Italian political situation is frail and unstable: the coalition government fell on 29 
September. 

• Problems in other Eurozone heavily indebted countries (e.g. Cyprus and Portugal) 
which could also generate safe haven flows into UK gilts. 

• Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth in western economies, 
especially the Eurozone and Japan. 

• Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU and US, 
depressing economic recovery in the UK. 

• Geopolitical risks e.g. Syria, Iran, North Korea, which could trigger safe haven flows 
back into bonds 

Upside risks to UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates 
include: - 

• UK inflation being significantly higher than in the wider EU and US, causing an 
increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields. 

• Increased investor confidence that sustainable robust world economic growth is firmly 
expected, together with a reduction or end of QE operations in the US, causing a 
further flow of funds out of bonds into equities. 

• A reversal of Sterling’s safe-haven status on a sustainable improvement in financial 
stresses in the Eurozone. 

• In the longer term - a reversal of QE in the UK; this could initially be implemented by 
allowing gilts held by the Bank to mature without reinvesting in new purchases, 
followed later by outright sale of gilts currently held. 

• Further downgrading by credit rating agencies of the creditworthiness and credit 
rating of UK Government debt, consequent upon repeated failure to achieve fiscal 
correction targets and sustained recovery of economic growth, causing the ratio of 
total Government debt to GDP to rise to levels that provoke major concern. 

The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is now weighted to the upside 
after five months of robust good news on the economy. However, only time will tell just how 
long this period of strong economic growth will last, and it remains exposed to vulnerabilities 
in a number of key areas.  The longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, due 
to the high volume of gilt issuance in the UK, and of bond issuance in other major western 
countries.  Near-term, there is some residual risk of further QE if there is a dip in strong 
growth or if the MPC were to decide to take action to combat the market’s expectations of 
an early first increase in Bank Rate. If the MPC does takes action to do more QE in order to 
reverse the rapid increase in market rates, especially in gilt yields and interest rates up to 10 
years, such action could cause gilt yields and PWLB rates over the next year or two to 
significantly undershoot the forecasts in the table below.  The tension in the US over 
passing a Federal budget for the new financial year starting on 1 October and raising the 
debt ceiling in mid October saw the possibility of bond yields temporarily dipping until 
agreement was reached between the opposing Republican and Democrat sides. 
Conversely, the eventual start of tapering by the Fed. will cause bond yields to rise. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



2.4 Capita’s Interest Rate Forecast  

 
(The Capita Assets Services forecasts above are for PWLB certainty rates.) 

 

Expectations for the first change in Bank Rate in the UK are now dependent on how to 
forecast when unemployment is likely to fall to 7%.  Financial markets have taken a very 
contrary view to the MPC and have aggressively raised short term interest rates and gilt 
yields due to their view that the strength of economic recovery is now so rapid that 
unemployment will fall much faster than the Bank of England forecasts.  They therefore 
expect the first increase in Bank Rate to be in quarter 4 of 2014.  There is much latitude to 
disagree with this view as the economic downturn since 2008 was remarkable for the way in 
which unemployment did not rise to anywhere near the extent likely, unlike in previous 
recessions.  This meant that labour was retained, productivity fell and now, as the MPC 
expects, there is major potential for unemployment to fall only slowly as existing labour 
levels are worked more intensively and productivity rises back up again.  The size of the 
work force is also expected to increase relatively rapidly and there are many currently self 
employed or part time employed workers who are seeking full time employment.  Capita 
Asset Services take the view that the unemployment rate is not likely to come down as 
quickly as the financial markets are currently expecting and that the MPC view is more 
realistic.  The prospects for any increase in Bank Rate before 2016 are therefore seen as 
being limited. However, some forecasters are forecasting that even the Bank of England 
forecast is too optimistic as to when the 7% level will be reached and so do not expect the 
first increase in Bank Rate until Spring 2017. 

3       Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

         Strategy update 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2013/14 was approved by 
Council on 26th February 2013.  
 

There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the position in 
the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already approved. 

 

4 The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators) 

This part of the report is structured to update: 

 

• The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 

• How these plans are being financed; 

• The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 
indicators  and the underlying need to borrow; and 

• Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

Page 62



 

4.1   Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure 

This table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since the 
capital programme was agreed at the Budget.   

 

 

 

 

 

4.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme   

The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans 
(above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the capital 
programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital expenditure. Any 
borrowing element of the table increases the underlying indebtedness of the Council by way 
of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), although this will be reduced in part by 
revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue Provision). This direct 
borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury 
requirements. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital 
Expenditure 
by Service 

2013/14 
Original 

Programme 
£m 

Budget 
B’fwd 
from 
2012/13   
£m 

Virements 
to 

Programme 
in Year 
£m 

Total 
2013/14 
Budget  
£m 

Actual 
Spend @ 
Period 6  
£m 

2013/14 
Revised 
Estimate 
£m 

General 

Fund 

0.505 1.933 0.348 2.786 0.442 1.873 

HRA 6.993 2.845 - 9.838 2.981 8.787 

Total 7.498 4.778 0.348 12.624 3.423 10.660 

Capital Expenditure 2013/14 
Estimate 

£m 

2013/14 
Revised Estimate 

£m 

Supported - - 

Unsupported 12.624 10.660 

Total spend 12.624 10.660 

Financed by:   

Grant 0.456 0.426 

General Fund Receipts  0.696  0.695 

Section 106 Receipts 0.083 0.020 

General Fund Reserve 0.197 0.197 

General Fund Contingencies 0.340 - 

HRA Contingency 0.100 - 

Sale of Council House Receipts 0.836 0.356 

Contribution from BRF 0.178 0.178 

Regeneration Reserve 0.500 0.150 

Major Repairs Reserve 5.594 5.594 

Revenue Contribution to Capital 3.644 3.044 

   

Total financing 12.624 10.660 

Borrowing need - - 

Page 63



4.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement, External 
Debt and the Operational Boundary 

The table at 4.3.2 shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing 
for a capital purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position over the period. This is 
termed the Operational Boundary. 

4.3.1 Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 

We are on target to achieve the original forecast Capital Financing Requirement. 

 

4.3.2 Prudential Indicator – External Debt / the Operational Boundary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Increase due to voluntary revenue provision in respect of finalisation of Heritable Bank 
recovery and reversal of capitalisation during 2013/14.  

4.4 Limits to Borrowing Activity 

The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over the 
medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose. 
Net external borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2013/14 and next two financial 
years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years. The Council 
has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered to if this 
proves prudent.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Executive Director Corporate Services reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the 
current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.   

 

 2012/13 
Outturn  

£m 

2013/14 
Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2013/14 
Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

CFR – Non Housing 1.525 1.50 1.227 

CFR – Housing 68.054 68.063 68.044 

Total CFR 69.579 69.563 69.271 

Net movement in CFR (0.09) (0.052) (0.308)* 

Operational Boundary    

Expected Borrowing 72.268 72.268 72.268 

Other long term liabilities - - - 

Total debt  31 March 72.268 72.268 72.268 

 2012/13 
Outturn  

£m 

2013/14 
Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2013/14 
Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

Gross borrowing 65.06 65.06 65.06 

Plus other long term 
liabilities 

- - - 

Less investments (21.815) (15.655) (21.343) 

Net borrowing 43.245 49.405 43.717 

CFR (year end position) 69.579 69.563 69.271 

Page 64



A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised 
Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set 
and revised by Members. It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be 
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. It is the expected 
maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003.  

 

 

 

 

 

5 Investment Portfolio 2013/14 

In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and 
liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the Council’s 
risk appetite. As set out in Section 2, it is a very difficult investment market in terms of 
earning the level of interest rates commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low 
and in line with the 0.5% Bank Rate. The continuing Euro zone sovereign debt crisis, and its 
potential impact on banks, prompts a low risk and short term strategy. Given this risk averse 
environment, investment returns are likely to remain low.  

The Council held £26.124m of investments as at 30th September 2013 (£20.982m at 31 
March 2013) with the investment portfolio yield at 0.83% against a benchmark of the 3 
months LIBID of 0.38%. A full list of investments held as at 30th September 2013 is detailed 
in Appendix 2. 
 
The Executive Director Corporate Services confirms that the approved limits within the 
Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 2013/14. 
 
The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2013/14 is £200k, and performance for the 
year is projected to be £28k above budget. 
 
CIPFA Benchmarking Club 
 
The Council is a member of the CIPFA Treasury Management Benchmarking Club which 
is a means to assess our performance over the year against other members (35 
Authorities).  
 
Our average return for In House Investments for the period October 2012 to September 
2013 was 0.92% compared to the group average of 1.01% (information from CIPFA 
Benchmarking Draft Report Q2 - 2013/14) excluding the impaired investments in Icelandic 
banks. This is considered to be a good result in light of the current financial climate, our 
lower levels of deposits/funds and shorter investment time-lines due to Banking sector 
uncertainty, when compared to other Authorities. 
 
 
 
 
 

Authorised limit for 
external debt 

2013/14 
Original 
Indicator 

£m 

Current 
Position 

£m 

2013/14 
Revised 
Indicator 

£m 

Borrowing 89.112 89.112 89.112 

Other long term liabilities 3.000 3.000 3.000 

Total 92.112 92.112 92.112 

Page 65



 
This can be analysed further into the following categories: 
 

Excluding Impaired 
Investments 

Average Balance Invested                
£ m 

Average Rates Received 
% 

Category 
Tamworth 
Borough 
Council 

CIPFA 
Benchmarking 

Club 

Tamworth 
Borough 
Council 

CIPFA 
Benchmarking 

Club 

Investments < 365 days 
Managed in-house 

11.70 59.00 1.32 1.16 

Investments > 365 days 
Managed in-house 

- 31.00 - 2.15 

Callable & Structured 
Deposits 

- 26.5 - 2.00 

Call Accounts        5.90 36.60 0.92 0.79 

Money Market Funds 8.70 23.40 0.39 0.44 

DAMDF (Govt Debt 
Management Office) 

< min 7.00 0.25 0.25 

CD’s Gilts & Bonds < min 17.20 0.18 0.92 

Average of All 
Investments Managed 
in-house 

26.40 144.00 0.92 1.01 

 
 
The data above and graphs below display that despite the Council being a small investor in 
the markets, performance is marginally better in the <365 day investments, when compared 
with other members of the benchmarking club and affirms our ‘low appetite for risk’ in the 
continuing unsettled markets.  

Page 66



Investment Counterparty criteria 

The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the 
requirement of the Treasury Management function.   

 

 

 

Page 67



6  Borrowing 

The Council’s revised capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2013/14 is £69.271m. The 
CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. If the CFR is 
positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external borrowing) or from 
internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing). The balance of external and 
internal borrowing is generally driven by market conditions. Table 4.4, Limits to Borrowing 
Activity, shows the Council has borrowings of £65.06m and has utilised £4.211m of cash 
flow funds in lieu of borrowing. This is a prudent and cost effective approach in the current 
economic climate. 
 
No new external borrowing was undertaken from the PWLB or the money markets in the 
first half of the year.   
 
As outlined below, the general trend has been a reduction in interest rates during the six 
months, across all maturity bands.  
 
It is anticipated that further borrowing will not be undertaken during this financial year. 
 
The graph and table below show the movement in PWLB rates for the first six months of the 
year to 30th September 2013:     
 

 
 

7 Debt Rescheduling 

 
Debt rescheduling opportunities have been limited in the current economic climate and 
consequent structure of interest rates. No debt rescheduling was undertaken during the first 
six months of 2013/14. 
 

 
 

Page 68



 
8 Icelandic Banks Update 
 
Appendix 3 contains details of the situation with Icelandic investments as at 30th September 
2013. 
 
Expectations of future receipts and timeframes based on current information regarding each 
bank are given below; 
 
 

• Glitnir  
 

On 15th March 2012, the Council received £2.554m being the majority of our deposits with 
the bank. The balance of our approved claim, equating to £587k, is being held in an interest 
bearing ESCROW account. The release of these funds is dependent on a change in 
Icelandic Law which currently does not allow the distribution of ISK outside the country. 
Interest will accrue on these funds until the date of final settlement which is still unknown.  
 

• Heritable  
 
As at the end of September the Council had received £1.415m against our claim of 
£1.505m, a total recovery of 94.02%. It is anticipated that this will be the final figure 
received, though the Administrators are withholding a sum as a contingency against 
disputed claims.  
   

• Kaupthing, Singer and Friedlander  
 
As at the end of September the Council had received £2.604m against our claim of 
£3.175m. Current estimates given by the Administrator project a total recovery of 85.25% or 
approximately £2.707m with the majority of repayments being received by June 2015. 
 

 

9       Exchequer Banking Arrangement 
 
Members will be aware that the Authority’s bank is Co-Operative Bank Limited. The current 
banking arrangements are due for re-tender from 31st March 2015. 
 
It has been well publicised that the Co-Operative Bank has been suffering from financial 
difficulties which has resulted in a restructure and change in equity provider and 
consequential change in mutuality status. As part of this process a large amount of the 
Banks liabilities / losses have fallen on the bond holders – agreement is required from the 
bondholders to accept the restructure (due around 12th December 2013). Failure of the 
bondholders to accept the restructuring would result in the bank being placed in a Special 
Resolution Regime – which gives the Government a framework for dealing with failing 
banks.. 
 
Current banking arrangements and balances held with the bank have been significantly 
reduced over the past months with negligible amounts being held in over-night facilities and 
day – to – day banking operations. 
 
The Authority was advised that (letter 18th November 2013) the Co-operative Bank would 
not re-tender for Local Authority banking contracts. 
 

Page 69



 
 
In light of the above and purely as a precautionary measure the Authority is arranging a 
contingency banking arrangement to enable payments to be processed in December 
(onwards) if the results of the bondholder vote are not in favour of the restructure.  
 
In addition and subject to the favourable result of agreement by the bondholders to the 
restructure the Authority intends to bring forward its banking tendering arrangements to 
early Autumn 2014 or earlier if circumstances dictate.  
 
The above actions are deemed to be prudent in light of the current banking uncertainty 
 ( Risk : Medium) – the banking operation is reviewed on a daily basis. 
 
 

REPORT AUTHOR 

Please contact Phil Thomas Financial Accountant extension 239 
 

 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Local Government Act 2003 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public 
Services 2011 

 Treasury Management Strategy & Prudential Indicators 
Report 2013/14 

Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2013/14 

Financial Healthcheck Period 6, September 2013 

 
Background Papers:- 

CIPFA Treasury Management Benchmarking Club Report 
Quarter 2 September 2013 

  
 

 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix   1 : Prudential Indicators 
Appendix   2 : Current Investment List 
Appendix   3 : Icelandic Banking Situation 
 

Page 70



APPENDIX 1 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2012/13 2013/14 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Extract from budget and rent 
setting report 

Actual 
Original 
Estimate 

Revised 
Estimate 

Estimate Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Capital Expenditure      

Non - HRA 1.622 0.505 1.873 2.723 0.425 

HRA  3.365 6.993 8.787 12.801 17.20 

TOTAL 4.987 7.498 10.66 15.524 17.625 

       

Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream 

% % % % % 

Non - HRA (0.90) (2.28) 1.67 (0.77) 6.50 

HRA  14.37 15.67 15.10 14.96 14.11 

       

Net borrowing requirement £m £m £m £m £m 

brought forward 1 April 47.850 45.610 43.245 43.717 46.593 

carried forward 31 March 43.245 49.405 43.717 46.593 51.469 

in year borrowing requirement (4.605) 3.795 (0.472) 2.876 4.875 

       

Capital Financing Requirement 
as at 31 March 

£m £m £m £m £m 

Non – HRA 1.525 1.500 1.227 1.163 
71.650 

0.503 

HRA  68.054 68.063 68.044 71.631 77.448 

TOTAL 69.579 69.563 69.271 72.794 77.951 

       
Annual change in Capital 
Financing Requirement  

£m £m £m £m £m 

Non – HRA  (0.080) (0.052) (0.298) (0.064) (0.660) 

HRA  (0.009) - (0.010) 3.587 5.817 

TOTAL  (0.089) (0.052) (0.308) 3.523 5.157 

       

Incremental impact of capital 
investment decisions  

£ : p £ :  p £ :  p £ :  p £ :  p 

Increase in Council tax (band D) 
per annum  * 

0.28 
 

(0.05) (0.05) (0.03) 0.13 

Increase in average housing rent 
per week 
(housing authorities only) 

0.08 (0.01) (0.01) 0.16 0.68 

 

Page 71



 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
INDICATORS  

2012/13 2013/14 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

  Actual 
Original 
Estimate 

Revised 
Estimate 

Estimate Estimate 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Authorised Limit for external 
debt -  

     

borrowing 89.112 89.112 89.112 89.112 89.112 

other long term liabilities 3.000 3.000 3.000 3.000 3.000 

TOTAL 92.112 92.112 92.112 92.112 92.112 

       
Operational Boundary for 
external debt -  

     

borrowing 72.268 72.268 72.268 75.855 81.672 

other long term liabilities - - - - - 

TOTAL 72.268 72.268 72.268 75.855 81.672 

       
Actual external debt 65.060 65.060 65.060 - - 

      

Interest rate exposure      

Limits on fixed interest rates 
based on net debt 

58.000 49.409 49.409 52.828 63.271 

Limits on variable interest rates 
based on net debt 

7.000 6.506 6.506 6.685 7.156 

Limits on fixed interest rates  
Debt only 

65.060 65.060 65.060 66.849 71.555 

Limits on fixed interest rates  
Investments only 

23.574 26.085 26.085 23.369 13.808 

Limits on variable interest rates  
Debt only 

6.506 6.506 6.506 6.685 7.156 

Limits on variable interest rates  
Investments only 

9.429 10.434 10.434 9.347 5.523 

       
Upper limit for total principal 
sums invested for over 364 
days 

3.000 2.500 2.500 2.000 2.000 

(per maturity date)      
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 
during 2013/14 

upper limit lower limit 

under 12 months  20% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 20% 0% 

24 months and within 5 years 25% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 75% 0% 

10 years and above 100% 0% 

Page 72



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 2
 

C
u

rr
e
n

t 
In

v
e
s
tm

e
n

t 
L

is
t 

3
0
th

 S
e
p

te
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
3
 

  

 
S

n
a

p
s
h

o
t 
a

t 
3

0
th

 S
e
p

te
m

b
e

r 
2

0
1

3
 

 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

ICELANDIC BANKING SITUATION (30/09/2013)

Deposit with; Ref Number Date Invested Amount %

1 GLITNIR 1696 10/10/2007 1,000,000

GLITNIR 1715 31/08/2007 1,000,000

GLITNIR 1754 14/12/2007 1,000,000

Total Principal 3,000,000
Estimated of Contractual or Interest due to point of 

administration (subject to currency exchange rate 

fluctuations)

140,911

Total of Claim 3,140,911

Repayments Received to date (2,554,432) * 81.33

Outstanding at 30/09/2013 586,479 **

- Best case recovery 100%

2 Heritable Bank 1802 12/09/2008 500,000

Heritable Bank 1803 15/09/2008 1,000,000

Total Principal 1,500,000

Interest due at point of administration 07/10/2008 5,127

Total of Claim 1,505,127

Repayments Received to date (1,415,080) 94.02

Outstanding at 30/09/2013 90,047

- Potential final recovery received of 94.02% (declaired 23/08/13, though Administrators are retaining a
contingency for disputed claims that could be distributed at a later date).

3 Singer & Friedlander 1716 31/08/2007 1,000,000

Singer & Friedlander 1740 31/10/2007 1,000,000

Singer & Friedlander 1746 14/01/2008 1,000,000

Total Principal 3,000,000

Interest due at point of administration 08/10/2008 175,256

Total of Claim 3,175,256

Repayments Received to date (2,603,710) 82.00

Outstanding at 30/09/2013 571,546

- Current indications project an 85.25% recovery of our investments 

Summary

Total Principal 7,500,000

Interest 321,294

Total of Claim 7,821,294

Repayments Received to date (6,573,222) 84.04

Outstanding at 30/09/2013 1,248,072

1 Registered Bank in Iceland - In Administration under Icelandic Law

2 Registered Bank in UK - In Administration in UK by Ernst & Young

Under English Law

3 Registered Bank in UK - In Administration in UK by Ernst & Young

Under English Law

*Partial repayment received on the 15th March 2012 in GBP/EUR/USD/NOK. The balance is currently being 

held in Icelandic Krone (ISK). Release of these funds is dependent on a change in Icelandic Law which 

currently does not allow the distribution of ISK outside the country. **Interest is accrueing on these funds (+ 

£74k interest at 01/04/2013) but the final value may change due to exchange rate fluctuations.

 
 

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Council 
 

17th December  2013 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR OPERATIONS AND ASSETS 
 
 

LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 
  
 

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 

 
This proposal is not exempt information for the purposes of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) 
to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

PURPOSE 

 
For Council to consider; 
 

Ongoing agreement of the Authority’s current Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 
Working Age customers, originally agreed at Council on 13th December 2012, 
including 1% up ratings to Applicable Amounts applied for 2014/15. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Council endorse 
 
The continuation of the Authority’s Local Council Tax Reduction scheme for a further 
year, without change, for 2014/15. 
 
To then review the scheme following completion of the first year, identification of 
delivery of the scheme’s financial target and full implications of potential changes that 
may arise re consultation/equalities/potential challenge. 

 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report details the key issues arising from the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme. 
 

 
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished Council Tax Benefit from 1 April 2013.  It 
was replaced by a new Local Council Tax Reduction scheme. Grant funding was 
reduced by 10% and is distributed via the Department for Communities and Local 
Government rather than by the Department for Work and Pensions. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 77



The Government specified that Pensioners must be protected from any grant cuts. 
Accordingly, regulations that mirror the obsolete Council Tax Benefit (Persons who 
have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) 2006 were laid for 
Pensioners, which must be adhered to.  For Working Age customers, Councils 
continue to be free to decide their schemes, which are subject to an overall 10% 
reduction in grant funding previously received. 
 
The Authority worked closely with all other Staffordshire District Councils, 
Staffordshire County Council and the Fire Authority, to design an over arching 
scheme. Local considerations were then also separately made by each Authority to 
achieve the savings requirements, based on each area’s demographic make up and 
budgetary restrictions.  
 
Options were presented to Cabinet on 25th July 2012, as Tamworth Borough Council 
had a target saving of £700,000 from Council Tax Benefit expenditure for Working 
Age customers.  Full Equality Impact Assessments were given for each option.   On 
15th August 2012, Cabinet’s preferred option for a Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme was decided. 
 

 
Consultation 
 

An eight week consultation period then commenced with the public, focus 
groups and all other stakeholders to gauge views about the proposals. A total of 
10 drop in events were held, both with the public and various groups. The drop 
in sessions attracted almost 800 visitors.  Every benefit customer (over 7000) 
was also sent a consultation questionnaire along with a consultation leaflet 
which explained that Council Tax Benefit was being abolished and encouraging 
them to give their views on its proposed replacement in Tamworth.  

 

� 828 responses were received, which is a statistically robust number. This  
represented 1.075% of Tamworth’s population, which compared favourably 
to the response rate of all other Staffordshire Local Authorities of between 
0.3% and 0.6% of their residents/groups. 

 

� The degree of endorsement for the proposals was varied, with most 
support being received for the proposal which provides continued 
protection for those entitled to a Severe Disability Premium. Least support 
was received to regarding the removal of Second Adult Rebate (this 
applied to less than 30 Working Age customers).  There was a high level of 
support for five out of the ten proposals as outlined below: 

 
 
 
1.3   High level of support 

 
� Level of support for pensioners, severely disabled and in receipt of a 

Severe   Disability Premium, claimants with disabled children and 
claimants receiving a War Pension  

� Continuing to disregard childcare costs  
� Claimants and the level of savings allowed  
� Continuing to exclude Child Benefit payments  
� Continuing to protect those claiming a Severe Disability Premium.  

 

Page 78



 
 
 
 

1.4  There was a moderate level of support for the remaining five of the ten proposals 
as outlined below; 

 
Moderate level of support 

 
� calculation of support based on 75% of Council Tax liability rather than 100%, 

meaning everyone who is not proposed to be protected from any reductions 
has to pay at least 25% of their Council Tax liability  

� limit the calculation of support to no more than 75% of Band D liability   
� removal of Second Adult Rebate for all working age customers  
� inclusion of maintenance payments as income  
� increased non dependant charges of £5 per week (previously £3.30 pw) and 

£10 per week (previously £6.55 - £9.90 pw, depending on gross pay received). 
 
 
The results of the consultation were detailed in the Localisation of Council Tax 
Consultation Final Report, presented to Council on 17th December 2012. There were 
no material implications raised following the consultation and the scheme was agreed 
without further amendment.  
 
 
 
 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The current scheme was modelled on delivering an estimated benefit reduction in the 
region of £700k., necessitated by grant cuts. 
 
The scheme has been running for 9 months.  Current estimates indicate, based on 
monitoring data @ 31st October 2013, a projected surplus for the year.  However due 
to potential volatility in final year end results, it is far too early to make an informed 
decision on potential changes to the scheme. 
 
The Authority has received one request to review its policy, the result of a national 
campaign made by Gingerbread Single Parent Charity, regarding the inclusion of 
maintenance as income.  Any future changes to the scheme would need to be 
consulted.  Therefore it is proposed at this point in time that the Authority awaits the 
full year cost of the scheme before considering any changes prior to consultation and 
equalities reviews. 
 
 
 
CONCLUSIONS  
 
Current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 
The scheme delivers the required savings based on the 10% grant reduction and 
provides some contingency in case the claim base increases. 
 

Page 79



The Department for Communities and Local Government have confirmed that if a 
scheme is not amended, there is no cause to re consult with the public. This has 
been confirmed separately from a legal perspective.  However, Section 13 A(2) and 
Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as well as Schedule 1A, 
paragraph 16 of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 legislate that the scheme 
must be agreed by Council, annually. 
 
 

 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS  

 
 
Full Equality Impact Assessments were considered and taken into account when the 
scheme was finalised and agreed. 
 
If the Authority’s Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme was not endorsed or in place 
by the 31st January 2013 then the default scheme would have had to be applied. The 
implementation of a default scheme would have resulted in the Authority having to 
implement the previous scheme, financing the 10% reduction and suffering additional 
benefit cost from 2013 /14 (onwards) as the then existing benefit limits were up rated. 
 
           
  
 
 

 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
 
Funding for the replacement of the previous Council Tax Benefit scheme was 
changed from AMEY (unrestricted reimbursement of Council Tax Benefit subsidy) to 
DEL (restricted, pre allocated grant figure).  The Council must be aware that there 
must continue to be a contingency if, for instance, a major local employer goes into 
administration.  
 
 
 

REPORT AUTHOR 

 
Karen Taylor x 529                     
 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

• Draft 2014/15 Local Council Tax Reduction Policy  (subject to 1% uprating of 
Applicable Amounts, when known) 

• The Welfare Reform Act 2012 -
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/5/pdfs/ukpga_20120005_en.pdf 

• Cabinet Report - 'Preferred option for a Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
dated 15th August 2012 & subsequent Council ratification 

• Localisation of Council Tax Consultation Final Report, presented on 17th  
December 2012 

 
 
 
 

Page 80



Appendices 
 
 
Council Tax Reduction caseload summary       Appendix 1 
Council Tax Reduction Expenditure summary  Appendix 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
 
 
Council Tax Local Reduction Scheme 2013 onwards 
 

The Government is committed to retaining Council Tax support for the most 
vulnerable in society and took forward plans for Councils to develop local Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes. The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished Council Tax Benefit, 
paving the way for new localised schemes.   . 

Consideration of the Department for Communities and Local Government policy 
intention document - Localising Support for Council Tax Vulnerable people – key 
Local Authority Duties was also made when devising Tamworth’s Local Council Tax 
Reduction scheme. 

Localising Support for Council Tax – Funding Arrangements Consultation gave details 
of how funding for a Council Tax Reduction Schemes has been reduced from 2013 
onwards.  Accordingly, regard for these budgetary cuts also influenced the design of a 
Local Council Tax Reduction scheme.  

Localising Support for Council Tax - Taking Work Incentives into Account was also 
considered when drafting the policy. 
 
If Councils did not have a local scheme in place by 31st January 2013, the 
Government would have imposed a ‘default scheme’ which is the obsolete Council 
Tax Benefit scheme.  This option was not sustainable as that scheme was fully 
subsidised by the Department for Work and Pensions, regardless of caseload and 
new schemes have a fixed annual grant only which is at least 10% less than before. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



0
6
.1

1
.2

0
1
3
 0

9
:3

8
:3

2
h

b
r0

0
0
3
a

1
 o

f 
1

C
T
S
 C

a
se

lo
a
d

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

T
a
m

w
o

rt
h

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 

C
o

u
n

ci
l

Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



0
6
.1

1
.2

0
1
3
 0

9
:3

6
:3

7
h

b
r0

0
0
4
a

1
 o

f 
1

C
T
S
 E

xp
e
n

d
it

u
re

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

T
a
m

w
o

rt
h

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 

C
o

u
n

ci
l

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

15th August 2012 
 

 

 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR CORE SERVICES AND ASSETS 
 

 

 

LOCALISING SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 
 

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
This proposal is not exempt information for the purposes of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) 
to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 

PURPOSE 
 
To seek a decision from Cabinet, further to the presentation given on 25th July, of the 
preferred consultation option for a Local Council Tax Support scheme.  The scheme 
will replace Council Tax Benefit, to help to those of working age on a low income pay 
their Council Tax from 1 April 2013. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet decide on one of the three options and associated desired subset 
identified in the main report (attached Appendix / Slide extract) for which they want to 
form the base of Tamworth’s Local Council Tax Support scheme. The approved 
option and subset will form the basis of public consultation on the proposed scheme 
which will commence following the decision. 
 
 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 confirmed that Council Tax Benefit will be abolished 
from 1 April 2013, to be replaced by a new Localised Council Tax Support scheme.  
Grant funding will be reduced by 10% and distributed via the Department for 
Communities and Local Government rather than by the Department for Work and 
Pensions. 
 
The Government have specified that Pensioners must be protected from any grant 
cuts. Accordingly, regulations that mirror the current Council Tax Benefit (Persons 
who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) 2006 will be devised for 
Pensioners, which must be adhered to.  For Working Age customers, Councils are 
free to decide their schemes, which will be subject to an overall 10% reduction in 
grant funding currently received. 
 
Tamworth Borough Council is working closely with all other Staffordshire Local 
Authorities, Staffordshire County Council and the major preceptors, to devise an over 
arching County-wide scheme. 
 
 

Page 231



 
The 3 options presented to Cabinet on 25th July  for consideration were; 
 

(1) Protect pensioners (this is a statutory requirement) only 
 

(2) Protect pensioners and all claimants who are disabled or who have a disabled   
child 

 
(3) Protect pensioners and only claimants who are severely disabled. 

 
The attached slides give a reminder of the indicative financial savings for each 
option.   
 
 
 

 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
None identified as a direct result of this report. However, there are financial 
implications associated with each scheme option for consultation, as set out in the 
presentation to Cabinet on 25th July.  The costs of the consultation exercise itself will 
be managed within existing resources and met by a DCLG grant. 
 
 

 

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
Full Equality Impact Assessments must be considered for all possible scheme 
options, in order to avoid legal challenge.   
 
An Equality Impact Assessment for each option is attached.  Cabinet should note that 
Options 1 and 3 are concluded as being equitable, whilst Option 2 has been 
assessed as inequitable because of the overall effects on the remaining working age 
claim base. 
 
 

 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Funding for the replacement of the current Council Tax Benefit scheme will be 
changed from Annual Managed Expenditure (unrestricted reimbursement of Council 
Tax Benefit subsidy) to Departmental Expenditure Limit (restricted, pre allocated 
grant figure).  The Council must be aware that there will be little room for contingency 
if, for instance, a major local employer goes into administration. 
 
 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
The Government is committed to retaining Council Tax Support for the most 
vulnerable in society and taking forward plans for Councils to develop local Council 
Tax reduction schemes. The Welfare Reform Act 2012 contains provisions for the 
abolition of Council Tax Benefit, paving the way for new localised schemes.   On 17th 
May 2012, Localising Support for Council Tax – A Statement of Intent was published. 
 
 

Page 232



The Statement of Intent set out policy statements of intent for the regulations to be 
provided under the Local Government Finance Bill for England and explains the 
policy intent of the regulations and how they will enable the delivery of local Council 
Tax support.  The document is specific in the rules for pensioners but has given 
Local Authorities little direction regarding policy for Working Age customers. 
 
On 16th July 2012, the Localising support for council tax: Draft Council Tax Reduction  
Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) Regulations were then released (Appendix 1 
hyperlink). 
 

Consideration of the Department for Communities and Local Government policy 
intention document - Localising Support for Council Tax Vulnerable people – key 
Local Authority Duties (Appendix 2 hyperlink) must also be made when introducing 
the new Localised Council Tax Support scheme. 

The document – Localising Support for Council Tax – Funding Arrangements 
Consultation (Appendix 3 hyperlink) gives details of how funding for a Council Tax 
reduction scheme will be reduced from 2013 onwards.  Accordingly, regard for these 
budgetary cuts must also influence the design of a Localised Council Tax Support 
scheme.  

A further document -  Localising Support for Council Tax - Taking Work Incentives 
into Account (Appendix 4 hyperlink) should also be considered when drafting the 
policy. 
 
If Councils do not have a local scheme in place by 31st January 2013, the 
Government will impose a ‘default scheme’ which is the current Council Tax Benefit 
scheme.  This option is not sustainable as the current scheme is fully subsidised by 
the Department for Work and Pensions, regardless of caseload and any new scheme 
will have a fixed annual grant only which will be at least 10% less than it is now. 
 
Please refer to the slides presented on 25th July for details on the possible options for 
a working age Localised Council Tax Support Scheme. Once an option is chosen, a 
consultation period must then commence with all stakeholders.  It is recommended 
that 8 weeks is allowed for consultation.   Post consultation, the scheme must be 
approved by full Council before 31st January 2013. 
 
 

 

REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Karen Taylor, Head of Benefits  ext 529. 
 

 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Presentation slides from Cabinet meeting of 25th July 2012. 
Equality Impact Assessment for each of the 3 options 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 233



APPENDICES 
 
 

Document 
Name  

Description Location 

(1)  Localising 
Support for 
Council Tax; 
Draft Council Tax 
Reduction 
Schemes 
(Prescribed 
Requirements)Re
gulations 

 

sets out the draft 
key regulations 
under the Local 
Government 
Finance Bill 

http://www.communities.gov.uk/publication
s/localgovernment/draftprescribedreqsregs 

 

(2)  Localising 
Supportfor 
Council Tax 
Vulnerable 
people  
 
– key local 
authority duties 

 

Sets out 
consideration to 
be made of the 
requirements of 
the Equality Act 
2010 

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents
/localgovernment/pdf/2148567.pdf 

 
 
 
(3)   Localising 
Support for 
Council Tax  
Funding 
arrangements  - 
consultation 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Outlines how the 
Government 
intends to 
distribute funding 
to support local 
schemes  

 

 

 

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents
/localgovernment/pdf/2146648.pdf 

(4)  Localising 
Support for 
Council Tax – 
Taking Work 
Incentives into 
account 
 

Guidance on how 
to design local 
Council Tax 
reduction 
schemes for 
working-age 
applicants that 
will also support 
the wider 
objectives of 
welfare reform 

http://www.communities.gov.uk/publication
s/localgovernment/lsctworkincentives 

 

 

 
 

Page 234



 
 
 

Page 235



Page 236

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

COUNCIL 
 

13th December  2012 
 
REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR CORE SERVICES AND ASSETS 

 
PROPOSED LOCALISING SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX SCHEME FOLLOWING 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES   
 

 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
This proposal is not exempt information for the purposes of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) 
to the Local Government Act 1972 
 
PURPOSE 
 
For Council to consider; 
 

The proposed Local Council Tax Support Scheme for Tamworth from 1st April 
2013.  Options for the scheme were presented to Cabinet on 25th July, and on 
15th August 2012 Cabinet chose the preferred option.  Cabinet then endorsed this 
scheme on 28th November 2012.  It must now be considered at full Council as the 
final scheme must have Council approval. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Council endorse the proposed Local Council Tax Support scheme, having given 
consideration to the Localisation of Council Tax Consultation Final Report – 
Appendix 1, the estimated grant reduction figures – Appendix 2 and the Equality 
Impact Assessment for this option – Appendix 3. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report details the key issues arising from the Local Support for Council Tax 
Scheme. 
 
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 confirmed that Council Tax Benefit will be abolished 
from 1 April 2013, to be replaced by a new Localised Council Tax Support scheme.  
Grant funding will be reduced by 10% and distributed via the Department for 
Communities and Local Government rather than by the Department for Work and 
Pensions. The proposed scheme aims to deliver the required reduction in Council 
Tax benefit costs without being a cost to the General Fund or Preceptors – estimated 
at c. £700k. 
 
The Government have specified that Pensioners must be protected from any grant 
cuts. Accordingly, regulations that mirror the current Council Tax Benefit (Persons 
who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) 2006 will be devised for 
Pensioners, which must be adhered to.  For Working Age customers, Councils are 
free to decide their schemes, which will be subject to an overall 10% reduction in 
grant funding currently received. 

Page 237



 
The Authority has worked closely with all other Staffordshire District Councils, 
Staffordshire County Council and the Fire Authority, to design an over arching 
scheme. Local considerations were then also separately made by each Authority to 
achieve the savings requirements, based on each area’s demographic make up and 
budgetary restrictions.  
 
Options were presented to Cabinet on 25th July 2012 on how to deliver the reduced 
benefit cost from current Council Tax Benefit expenditure for working age customers 
in line with legislative requirements.  Full Equality Impact Assessments were given for 
each option.   On 15th August 2012, Cabinet’s preferred option for a Local Council Tax 
Support scheme was decided, taking into account the grant cuts being imposed from 
1st April 2013. 

 
Consultation Responses 
 
An eight week consultation period then commenced with the public, focus groups and 
all other stakeholders to gauge views about the proposals. A total of 10 drop in events 
were held, both with the public and various groups. The drop in sessions attracted 
almost 800 visitors.  Every benefit customer (totalling in excess of 7300 claimants at 
the time) was also sent a consultation questionnaire along with a consultation leaflet 
which explained that Council Tax Benefit is being abolished and encouraging them to 
give their views on its proposed replacement in Tamworth.  
 

� 828 responses were received, which is a statistically robust number. This  
represents 1.075% of Tamworth’s population, which compares favourably 
to the response rate of all other Staffordshire Local Authorities of between 
0.3% and 0.6% of their residents/groups. 

 

� The degree of endorsement for the proposals was varied, with most support 
being received for Proposal 9, which provides continued protection for 
those entitled to a Severe Disability Premium. Least support was received 
to Proposal 4 under which the Second Adult Rebate would be removed and 
those of a working age would be responsible for paying 100% of their 
Council Tax bill. There was a high level of support for five out of the ten 
proposals as outlined below: 

 
High level of support 

 
� Level of support for pensioners, severely disabled and in receipt of a 

Severe Disability Premium, claimants with disabled children and 
claimants receiving a War Pension (Proposal 1); 

� Continuing to disregard childcare costs (Proposal 5); 
� Claimants and the level of savings allowed (Proposal 6); 
� Continuing to exclude Child Benefit payments (Proposal 7); 
� Continuing to protect those claiming a Severe Disability Premium 

(Proposal 9). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 238



There was a moderate level of support for the remaining five of the ten proposals as 
outlined below; 
 

Moderate level of support 
 

� calculation of support based on 75% of Council Tax liability rather than 100%, 
meaning everyone who is not proposed to be protected from any reductions 
has to pay at least 25% of their Council Tax liability (Proposal 2); 

� limit the calculation of support to no more than 75% of Band D liability  
(Proposal 3); 

� removal of Second Adult Rebate for all working age customers (Proposal 4); 
� inclusion of maintenance payments as income (Proposal 8); 
� increased non dependant charges of £5 per week (currently £3.30 pw) and £10 

per week (currently £6.55 - £9.90 pw, depending on gross pay received). 
 
Please refer to Appendix 1 – Localisation of Council Tax Consultation Final Report 
for full details of the consultation responses 
 
 
 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The proposed scheme has been modelled on delivering an estimated benefit 
reduction in the region of £700k. 
 
Based on recent caseload, the proposed scheme would deliver estimated benefit 
reductions of £718k (Appendix 2).  
 
 
CONCLUSIONS  
 
Proposed Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
The scheme as endorsed for consultation (Cabinet 15th August 2012) delivers the 
estimated grant reduction- Appendix 2,  required under the new Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme (10 % reduction on previous grant payments). 
 
The results of the consultation are detailed in the Localisation of Council Tax 
Consultation Final Report – Appendix 1. There are no material implications raised 
following the consultation – as detailed above (Executive Summary), if the proposed 
scheme is endorsed without further amendment.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 239



LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS  
 
 
Full Equality Impact Assessments were considered and taken into account when the 
scheme proposals were drafted. Appendix 3 gives details of the Equality Impact 
Assessment made prior to it being chosen as the preferred option, and prior to 
consultation. 
 
If the Authority’s Local Support to Council Tax Scheme is not endorsed or in place by 
the 31st January 2013 then the default scheme will have to be applied. The 
implementation of a default scheme would result in the Authority having to implement 
the existing scheme, financing the 10% reduction and suffering additional benefit cost 
in 2013 /14 (onwards) as the existing benefit limits may be up-lifted by inflation. 
      
  
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Funding for the replacement of the current Council Tax Benefit scheme will be 
changed from Annual Managed Expenditure (unrestricted reimbursement of Council 
Tax Benefit subsidy) to Departmental Expenditure Limit (restricted, pre allocated 
grant figure).  The Council must be aware that there will be little room for contingency 
if, for instance, a major local employer goes into administration.  
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Karen Taylor x 529                     
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Cabinet Report / Slides – Cabinet 15th August 2012 
Draft Vulnerability Policy 
Draft Summary Local Council Tax Support Policy 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Localisation of Council Tax Consultation Final Report – Appendix 1 
Estimated grant reduction figures – Appendix 2 
Equality Impact Assessment for the chosen option – Appendix 3 
Table of estimated weekly £ extra to pay based on proposed scheme – Appendix 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 240



 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
Council Tax Local Support Scheme Proposals 2013/14 (onwards) 
 
The Government is committed to retaining Council Tax Support for the most 
vulnerable in society and taking forward plans for Councils to develop local Council 
Tax reduction schemes. The Welfare Reform Act 2012 contains provisions for the 
abolition of Council Tax Benefit, paving the way for new localised schemes.   On 17th 
May 2012, Localising Support for Council Tax – A Statement of Intent was published. 
 

The Statement of Intent sets out policy statements of intent for the regulations to be 
provided under the Local Government Finance Bill for England and explains the 
policy intent of the regulations and how they will enable the delivery of local Council 
Tax support.  The document is specific in the rules for pensioners but has given 
Local Authorities little direction regarding policy for Working Age customers. 

 

Consideration of the Department for Communities and Local Government policy 
intention document - Localising Support for Council Tax Vulnerable people – key 
Local Authority Duties was also made when devising the proposed Local Council Tax 
Support scheme. 

 

Localising Support for Council Tax – Funding Arrangements Consultation gave 
details of how funding for a Council Tax reduction scheme will be reduced from 2013 
onwards.  Accordingly, regard for these budgetary cuts must also influence the 
design of a Local Council Tax Support scheme.  

 

Localising Support for Council Tax - Taking Work Incentives into Account was also 
considered when drafting the policy. 
 
If Councils do not have a local scheme in place by 31st January 2013, the 
Government will impose a ‘default scheme’ which is the current Council Tax Benefit 
scheme.  This option is not sustainable as the current scheme is fully subsidised by 
the Department for Work and Pensions, regardless of caseload and any new scheme 
will have a fixed annual grant only which will be at least 10% less than it is now. 
 

 
The results of the consultation have not identified any requirement to make any 
changes to the scheme. Cabinet have recommended that the scheme as consulted 
should be endorsed as the Authorities response to achieving the required reduction 
in Council Tax Support  (namely 10% reduction) as required by legislation without 
imposing a further burden on the General Fund Budget 2013 / 14.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 241



Page 242

This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCIL 

 
 
 

17TH DECEMBER 2013 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR OPERATIONS AND ASSETS 
 
 

FRAUD & CORRUPTION UPDATE REPORT 
 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE  
 
This report provides the Council with a review and update of the Counter Fraud & Corruption 
Policy Statement, Strategy & Guidance Notes and the Whistleblowing Policy . 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that the Council adopts: 
 

1. the Counter Fraud & Corruption Policy Statement, Strategy & Guidance Notes 
(Appendix 1), and 

2. the Whistleblowing Policy (Appendix 2) 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
At its meeting of the 31st October 2013, the Audit & Governance Committee endorsed the 
revised Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement, Strategy and Guidance Notes 
(Appendix 1) and the revised Whistleblowing Policy (Appendix 2).  Both Policies plan to be  
endorsed by the Appointments and Staffing Committee at its meeting on the 11th December 
2013 and have been endorsed by the Trade Unions.   
 
The main changes to the policies take into account the changes required under the 
Enterprise & Regulatory Reform Act 2013 which states that any disclosure made using the 
Whistleblowing Policy, within reasonable belief of the worker making the disclosure, will only 
be protected if it is made in the public interest. 
 
 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
None 

Agenda Item 9

Page 243



 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
None 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Angela Struthers ex 234 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Counter Fraud & Corruption Policy Statement, Strategy & Guidance Notes 
Appendix 2 – Whistleblowing Policy 
 

Page 244



Appendix 1 

This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

 
  

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11

pt, Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11

pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11

pt, Bold

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

COUNTER FRAUD AND CORRUPTION POLICY STATEMENT, 

STRATEGY & GUIDANCE NOTES 

 
 
 
 

Document Status: Draft 

 

 
 

Originator: A Struthers 
 

Updated: A Struthers 
 

Owner: Executive Director – Corporate Services 
 

Version: 01.01.02 
 

Date: 30/07/13 

 

 
 
 

Approved by  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 245



 

 

 
Document Location 
 
This document is held by Tamworth Borough Council, and the document 
owner is John Wheatley, Executive Director – Corporate Services. 
 
Printed documents may be obsolete. An electronic copy will be available on 
Tamworth Borough Council;s Intranet. Please check for current version before 
using.   
  
 

 
Revision History 
Revision Date Version Control Summary of changes 

1/3/12 1.01.01 Scheduled review  

30/07/13 1.01.02 Scheduled review 

   

   

   

 
 

 

Approvals 
Name Title Approved 

Full Council Committee Approval   

Appointments & 
Staffing 
Committee 

Committee Approval  

Audit & 
Governance 
Committee 

Committee Approval Yes 

CMT Group Approval Yes 

TULG Trade Union Consultation Yes 

John Wheatley Executive Director – Corporate Services Yes 

Angela Struthers Head of Internal Audit Services Yes 

 
 
 

Document Review Plans 
 
This document is subject to a scheduled annual review. Updates shall be 
made in accordance with business requirements and changes and will be with 
agreement with the document owner. 
 
 

Distribution 
 

Page 246



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

3 
 

 

The document will be available on the Intranet and the website. 
 
 
 

 
 

CONTENTS PAGE 

 
 

               Page 
 

Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement    5 
 
 
 

Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
 
1.0 Introduction         6 
 
2.0 Objectives          9 
 
3.0 Roles and Responsibilities      10 
 
4.0 Culture         10 
 
5.0 Prevention         11 
 
6.0 Detection and Investigation      15 
 
7.0 Recovery, Sanctions & Redress     16 
 
8.0 Training & Awareness       17 
 
9.0 Sharing Information       17 
 
10.0 Implementing the Strategy      18 
 
11.0 Conclusions        18 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 247



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

4 
 

 

Counter Fraud and Corruption Guidance Notes 
 

 
1.0 Why do we need a Counter Fraud and     19 

Corruption Strategy? 
 
2.0 Why do we need this advice?     20 
 
3.0 How to recognise a fraud.      21 
 
4.0 How to prevent it.       21 
 
5.0 What to do on suspecting a fraud.      23 

5.1 Action by employees 
5.2 Action by managers 

 
6.0 What happens to the allegation.     24 
 
Appendix 1  The Seven Principles Of Public Life  25 
 
Appendix 2  Statement of Expected Responsibilities  26 
 
Appendix 3  Fraud Response Plan     29 
 
Appendix 4 How to Report any Suspected Frauds,  30 

Corruption, Other Irregularities or Concerns. 
 

Page 248



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

5 
 

 

 
TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
COUNTER FRAUD AND CORRUPTION POLICY STATEMENT 

 
1.0 Tamworth Borough Council fully recognises its responsibility in relation 

to the spending of public money (Protecting the Public Purse) and is 
committed to the fullest support for Councillors and Employees in 
upholding the reputation of the Council and maintaining public 
confidence in its integrity. It also recognises its responsibilities under 
the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 , Money Laundering Regulations 2007 
and the Bribery Act 2010.   

 
2.0 The Council is committed to maintaining an ethical culture which does 

not and will not tolerate any form of fraud and corruption.  Any such 
issues will be thoroughly investigated and, if confirmed, dealt with 
rapidly in the strongest possible way.  We will seek the strongest 
possible sanctions against those who seek to defraud the Council. This 
includes taking appropriate action against employees, Councillors, 
contractors, external individuals and organisations. 

 
3.0 To deliver the Council’s corporate priorities, aims and strategic 

objectives we need to maximise the financial resources available to us.  
In order to do this we must reduce the risk of fraud to an absolute 
minimum. 

 

4.0 This Policy Statement, together with the Counter Fraud & Corruption 
Strategy and Guidance Notes, is intended to provide advice and 
information to Employees and Councillors but suppliers, contractors 
and the general public are also encouraged to use this advice and 
guidance.  

 

Page 249



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

6 
 

 

COUNTER FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

STRATEGY 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This strategy is a key element of the Council’s overall corporate 

governance arrangements which aim to ensure the Council is well 
managed and does the right things, in the right way, for the right 
people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable way.  The 
Council has a range of other interrelated policies and procedures that 
provide a corporate framework to counter fraud activity.  These have 
been formulated in line with appropriate legislative requirements and 
include: 

 

• Standing Orders & Financial Regulations, 

• National Code of Local Government Conduct, 

• Whistleblowing Policy, 

• Accounting procedures and records, 

• Sound internal control systems, 

• Effective Internal Audit, 

• Effective recruitment & selection procedures, 

• Disciplinary Procedures, 

• Fraud rResponse pPlan, 

• Benefits Prosecution Policy, 

• Data Protection Policy, 

• IT Security Policy, 

• Personnel Security Policy, 

• Physical Security Policy, 

• Constitution, 

• Scheme of Delegation, 

• Members hHandbook, 

• Code of Corporate Governance, 

• Gifts & Hospitality Policy & Register, 

• Anti-money Laundering Policy and Guidance, 

• Conflict of Interests Policy, 

• Other council procedures as appropriate, 

• Any relevant professional Codes of Ethics or obligations. 
 

1.2 All references to fraud within this document include any type of fraud-

related offence.  Fraud, theft, bribery and corruption are defined as 

follows: 

 

Fraud – “the intention to make gain or cause loss by false 

representation, failing to disclose information or abuse of positionan 

intentional false representation, including failure to declare information 

Page 250



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

7 
 

 

or abuse of position that is carried out to make gain, cause loss or 

expose another to the risk of loss.”.  (The Fraud Act 2006Audit 

Commission) 

 

Theft – “ a person shall be guilty of theft if he/she dishonestly 

appropriates property belonging to another with the intention of 

permanently depriving the other of it”.  (The Theft Act 1968). 

 

Bribery – “A person (“P”) is guilty of an offence if either of the following 

cases applies. 

Case 1 is where— 

(a) P offers, promises or gives a financial or other advantage to another 

person, and 

(b) P intends the advantage— 

(i) to induce a person to perform improperly a relevant function or 

activity, or 

(ii) to reward a person for the improper performance of such a function 

or activity. 

(3) Case 2 is where— 

(a) P offers, promises or gives a financial or other advantage to another 

person, and 

(b) P knows or believes that the acceptance of the advantage would 

itself constitute the improper performance of a relevant function or 

activity. (The Bribery Act 2010) 
 
Corruption - “the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an 
inducement or reward which may influence the action of any person.” 
(Fraud Audit Manual, the Audit Commission) 

 
1.3 A dishonest act or fraudulent activity may be, but is not limited to, an 

act or activity that is unethical, improper, or illegal such as: 
 
theft of an asset including, but not limited to, money, tangible property, 
intellectual property etc; 
 
misappropriation, misapplication, destruction, removal, or concealment 
of property; 
 
false claims and/or misrepresentation of facts; 
 
alteration orf falsification of paper or electronic documents, including 
the inappropriate destruction of paper or electronic documents; 

Page 251



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

8 
 

 

 
inappropriate use of computer systems including hacking and software 
piracy; 
 
embezzlement; 
 
bribery, or corruption of any kind; 
 
unlawful or undeclared conflict of interest; 
 
unauthorised use or misuse of Council property, equipment, materials 
or records.; 
 
 

1.4 Although a dishonest or fraudulent act may have criminal and/or civil 
law consequences, the Council is not required to use a determination 
by a criminal or civil body as the basis for determining whether an act is 
dishonest or fraudulent, nor must the act rise to the level of a crime or 
violation of civil law in order to constitute a violation of the Council’s 
Conduct and Capability Policy.   
 

1.5 The Council also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. 
partners, suppliers/contractors and service users) which it comes into 
contact with, will act towards the Council with integrity and without 
actions involving fraud or corruption.  The Council in turn will 
endeavour to ensure that all of its dealings will be on the same basis. 

 
1.6 In administering its aims and responsibilities the Council is totally 

committed to deterring fraud and corruption, whether it is attempted on 
or from within the Council, and is committed to an effective counter 
fraud and corruption strategy designed to: 

 

• limit, as far as possible, the opportunities to commit 
fraudulent acts - prevention, 

• enable any such acts to be detected at an early stage, 
and 

• deal with any subsequent investigations in a prompt, 
thorough and professional manner. 

 
1.7 Overall responsibility for dealing with fraud and corruption rests with 

the Executive Director Corporate Services, who is the nominated 
Section 151 Officer having a statutory duty under Section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 to ensure that there are proper 
arrangements in place to administer the Council’s financial affairs.  He 
is therefore the principal contact for all Councillors and employees. 

 
1.8 Internal scrutiny of the Council’s various activities occurs as a result 

of:- 

Page 252



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

9 
 

 

 

• the Executive Director Corporate Services Section 151 
responsibilities and Section 114 Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 responsibilities, 

• the establishment of sound Internal Audit arrangements 
in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2011, and 

• the responsibilities placed on the Monitoring Officer under 
Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989. 

 
1.9 External scrutiny of the Council’s various activities occurs as a result of 

involvement by:- 
 

• Local Government Ombudsman, 

• External Auditor, 

• Central Government Departments and Parliamentary 
Committees, 

• HM Revenues and Customs, 

• The Department for Work and Pensions 

• The general public. 
 
1.10 This Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy is based on a series of 

comprehensive and inter-related  procedures designed to deter any 
attempted fraudulent or corrupt act.  These cover:- 

 

• Culture,  

• Prevention,  

• Detection and Investigation,   

• Recovery, Sanction and Redress, 

• Training and Awareness,  

• Sharing Information,  

• Implementing the Strategy. 
 
 
2.0 Objectives 
 
2.1 The key objectives of this Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy are 

to: 

Increase awareness of the counter-fraud responsibilities at all 
levels within and outside the Council; 

Further embed and support the effective management of fraud 
risk within the Council; 

Support counter-fraud activities across the Council; 

Minimise the likelihood and extent of loss through fraud and 
corruption. 

Page 253



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

10 
 

 

2.2 All of the above will directly support the achievement of the Council 
priorities whilst ensuring that statutory responsibilities are met. 

 

 

3.0 Roles and Responsibilities 

3.1 Roles and responsibilities for identifying and mitigating against the risk 
of fraud must be clearly understood and embraced effectively.   

3.2 The risk of fraud and corruption is considered in the Council’s corporate 
risk management arrangements.  Chief Officers must therefore ensure 
that: 

Their risk register accurately reflects the risk of fraud and 
corruption including any emerging risks; 

Controls, including those in a computerised environment and for 
new systems and procedures, are effective and are properly 
maintained and documented; 

There is compliance with the Council’s Financial Regulations 
and associated guidance, Standing Orders and any other 
relevant codes of practice; 

Those engaged in countering fraud and corruption, have the 
appropriate authority, skills and knowledge to undertake this 
work effectively; 

That the necessary framework agreements to counter fraud are 
in place where the Council is working with other organisations 
either by way of contract or partnership.  The Council will not 
knowingly enter into any contractual agreement with an 
organisation that fails to comply with its Code of Practice and/or 
other related procedures.  

Findings from fraud investigations lead to relevant system 
changes.  
 

4.0 Culture 
 
4.1 The Council has determined that the culture and ethics of the Authority 

is are one of honesty and openness in all its dealings, with opposition 
to fraud and corruption.  This strategy forms part of the governance 
arrangements for the authority. 

 
4.2 The Council’s Councillors and employees play an important part in 

creating and maintaining this culture.  They are encouraged to raise 
any matters that concern them relating to the Council’s methods of 
operation in accordance with this Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy 
withor the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy. 

 

Page 254



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

11 
 

 

4.3 The Council is committed to driving down Benefit Fraud.  Both public 
perception and organisational culture play key roles in achieving this 
aim.  All Councillors and Employees are therefore required to report 
any known material changes affecting Benefit claims to the Benefits 
Office.  This specifically includes theiryour own entitlement and of any 
tenants or sub-tenants that theyyou may have.  Failure to do so will 
result in the Councillor or Employee being subject to the Benefits 
Prosecution Policy and Conduct and Capability Procedures.  In 
addition, it is also a requirement that the timely transfer of information 
is  you received in your normal business activities relating to any other 
customer who has alerted you to a fact that affects the award of 
Benefit. awards is completed  

 
4.4 The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy ensures that those raising 

concerns know they will be treated seriously and their concerns are 
properly investigated in a confidential and impartial manner.  In raising 
concerns employees can be assured that there will be no victimisation, 
and anonymity will be respected wherever possiblethey will be 
protected if the disclosure is made in the public’s interest and will not 
affect their employment situation or future prospects with the Council.
  

 
4.5 Employees can raise their concerns in the first instance with their line 

manager but where employees feel unable to raise concerns with their 
immediate line manager/ supervisor, they can deal direct with any of 
the following:- 

 

• the Section 151 Officer (Executive Director Corporate 
Services), 

• Internal Audit,  

• the  Chief Executive,  

• the Monitoring Officer,  

• any member of Corporate Management Team, 

• the External Auditor, or 

• any Trade Union Representative. 
 
4.6 Elected Councillors, suppliers, contractors, and the general public are 

also encouraged to report concerns through any of the above routes. 
 
4.7 Unless there are good reasons to the contrary, any allegations 

received by way of confidential letters or telephone calls will be taken 
seriously and investigated in an appropriate manner.  All concerns will 
be treated in confidence and every effort will be made not to reveal the 
employee’s your identity if  theyyou so wish.  At the appropriate time, 
however, the employeeyou may need to come forward as a witness, 
but this will be discussed with themyou, as to whether and how the 
matter can be proceeded with. 
 

Page 255



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

12 
 

 

4.8 The Nolan Committee set out the seven guiding principles that apply to 
people who serve the public.  The Council will develop our working 
behaviour around these principles, which are attached as Appendix 1. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.0 Prevention 
 
5.1 Employees 
 
5.1.1 The Council recognises that a key preventative measure in the fight 

against fraud and corruption is to take effective steps at the recruitment 
stage to establish, as far as possible, the previous record of potential 
employees, in terms of their propriety and integrity. In this regard 
temporary, agency and contract employees should be treated in the 
same manner as permanent employees.  Chief Officers are 
responsible for ensuring agencies engaged for the supply of temporary 
employees have rigorous vetting processes and that references are 
sought direct from previous clients with regard to the suitability and 
integrity of the candidate. 

 
5.1.2 Employee recruitment is required to be in accordance with procedures 

laid down by the Council.  Written references covering the known 
honesty and integrity of potential employees and, where required, 
evidence of a licence to practice must always be obtained.  All 
qualifications will be verified.  There will be an open and fair policy of 
recruitment with no ‘canvassing’ or ‘favouritism’. 

 
5.1.3 Employees of the Council are expected to follow any Code of Conduct 

relating to their personal Professional Body and also abide by the 
terms and conditions of employment as set out in the Contract of 
Employment and the National Scheme of Conditions.   The Council will 
report any known impropriety to the relevant Institution for them to 
consider appropriate disciplinary action. 

 
5.1.4 Employees are reminded that they must comply within Section 117 of 

the Local Government Act 1972 which requires any interests in 
contracts that have been or are proposed to be entered into by the 
Council areto be declared.  The legislation also prohibits the 
acceptance of fees or rewards other than by means of proper 
remuneration.  Details are described within the Code of Conduct. 

 
5.1.5 Managers are required to observe the formal Conduct and Capability 

Procedures. 
 

Page 256



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

13 
 

 

5.1.6 All employees are required to declare in a public register (held by the 
Monitoring Officer) any offers of gifts or hospitality which are in any way 
related to the performance of their duties in relation to the Authority.  
Employees should also declare private work (paid or unpaid) etc., 
which if permitted must be carried out during hours when not employed 
on Council work, and should not be conducted from Council premises 
or use any Council equipment/assets.   

 
5.1.7 The above matters are brought to the attention of employees via 

induction training and subsequently by internal communications. 
 
5.1.8 Management at all levels are responsible for ensuring that employees 

are aware of the Authority’s Financial Regulations and Standing 
Orders, and that the requirements of each are being met.  They are 
also responsible for ensuring that appropriate procedures are in place 
to safeguard the resources for which they are responsible, which 
include accounting control procedures, working manuals and operating 
procedures.  Management must ensure that all employees have 
access to these rules and regulations and that employees receive 
suitable training.   

 
5.1.9 Managers should strive to create an environment in which employees 

feel able to approach them with concerns they may have about 
suspected irregularities.  If managers and employees are unsure of the 
appropriate action they should consult with the Internal Audit Section. 

 
5.2 Councillors 
 
5.2.1 Councillors are required to operate within: - 
 

• Sections 49 - 52 of the Local Government Act 2000, 

• Local Authorities (Members’ Interest) Regulations 1992 
(S.I. 618) 

• The National Code of Local Government Conduct  

• Any local code or amendments agreed and 

• The Council’s Standing Orders and Financial 
Regulations. 

5.2.2 These matters are specifically brought to the attention of elected 
Councillors at their induction and subsequent training.  Councillors are 
required to provide the Monitoring Officer with specific information 
concerning their personal and prejudicialdisclosable pecuniary interests 
and to keep that information up to date, as required by the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989by sections 29-34 of the Localism 
Act 2011.  The Members’ Interests Register is held by the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
5.3 Systems 

Page 257



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

14 
 

 

 
5.3.1 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation, Standing Orders and Financial 

Regulations place a duty on all Councillors and employees to act in 
accordance with best practice when dealing with the affairs of the 
Council.  

 
5.3.2 The Executive Director Corporate Services has a statutory 

responsibility under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
ensure proper administration of financial affairs.  Various Codes of 
Practice outlining systems, procedures and responsibilities are widely 
distributed to employees. 

 
5.3.3 The Internal Audit Section assesses regularly the level of risk within the 

Council with a view to preventing fraud and corruption.  Such 
assessments are discussed with Chief Officers and, where appropriate, 
incorporated into work plans. 

 
5.3.4 Significant emphasis has been placed on thorough documentation of 

financial systems, and every effort is made to continually review and 
develop these systems in line with best practice to ensure efficient and 
effective internal controls and to include adequate separation of duties.  
The adequacy and appropriateness of the Council’s financial systems 
are independently monitored by both the Internal Audit Section and 
External Audit.  Any weaknesses identified in internal control will be 
reported to management whose duty it will be to ensure that corrective 
action is taken.  The Section 151 Officer will use his statutory power to 
enforce the required changes if necessary. 

 
5.3.5  Chief Officers will ensure that internal controls, including those in a 

computerised environment, are effectively maintained and documented 
and will investigate any potential weaknesses. 

 
5.3.6 Chief Officers must ensure that proportionate counter fraud measures 

are applied to new systems/procedures. 
 
5.3.7 It is evident across the country that an increasingly wide variety of 

frauds are being perpetrated.  The larger frauds may involve the 
creation of multiple identities and false addresses, and involve different 
agencies.  Employees are therefore encouraged to liaise with those 
other agencies, exchanging information, where possible and 
appropriate to help prevent and detect such fraud.  It is important that 
arrangements exist, and are developed, to encourage the exchange of 
information with other agencies including:- 

 

• other local and statutory authorities, 

• Chief Financial Officer Group, 

• local, regional and national Auditor networks,  

• government departments, 

• police forces, 

Page 258



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

15 
 

 

• the Audit Commission,  

• the National Anti-Fraud Network, and 

• any other Fraud Networks/Forums. 
 
5.3.8 The Council has established formal procedures to respond to 

complaints received about any aspect of service delivery.  Issues 
relating to fraud and corruption will be passed directly to the Executive 
Director Corporate Services. Specific guidance has also been issued to 
all employees in relation to Proceeds of Crime and Money Laundering. 
The Monitoring Officer acts as the Council’s Money Laundering 
Reporting Officer.  

 
5.3.9 The Council will involve the police to prosecute offenders where 

fraudulent or corrupt acts are discovered.  This will be a matter for the 
Executive Director Corporate Services, Monitoring Officer and the 
Chief Executive to decide, in consultation with the relevant Chief 
Officer. 

 
6.0 Detection and Investigation 
 
6.1 The Council’s preventative systems, particularly internal control 

systems, provide indicators of fraudulent activity and are designed to 
deter any fraudulent activity. 

 
6.2 It is often the alertness of elected Councillors, council employees, and 

the general public to the possibility of fraud and corruption, that 
enables detection to occur and appropriate action to take place. 

 
6.3 Many frauds are discovered by chance,  ‘tip-off’ or general audit work 

and arrangements are in place to enable such information to be 
properly dealt with. 

 
6.4 Chief Officers are required by Financial Regulations to report all 

suspected instances of fraud and corruption to the Executive Director 
Corporate Services.  Early reporting is essential to the success of this 
strategy, and; 

 

• ensures the consistent treatment of information regarding 
fraud and corruption, 

• facilitates a thorough investigation of any allegation 
received by an independent unit (Internal Audit), and 

• ensures maximum protection of the Council’s interests. 
 

Suspicions that any transaction or dealing may involve the proceeds of 
crime should be reported to the Monitoring Officer, who will ensure 
such suspicions are reported to the appropriate authorities as required 
by the relevant Act. 
 

Page 259



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

16 
 

 

6.5 The investigating officer will be appointed by the Executive Director 
Corporate Services.  The investigating officer will usually be an Internal 
Audit Officer, or in the case of Benefit Frauds, a Benefits Investigations 
Officer.  The investigating officer will;- 

 

• deal promptly and confidentially with the matter, 

• record all evidence received, 

• ensure that evidence is sound and adequately supported, 

• ensure security of all evidence collected, 

• liaise as necessary and appropriate with the relevant 
Chief Officer,  

• liaise as necessary with external agencies e.g. Police, 

• notify the Council’s insurers if appropriate.  
 
6.6 The Council can be expected to deal swiftly and thoroughly with any 

employee who attempts to defraud the Council or who is corrupt.  The 
Council will deal positively with fraud and corruption or suspicions 
thereof.  Where appropriate, the Council’s disciplinary procedures will 
be implemented.  

 
6.7 There is a need to ensure that any investigation process is not misused 

and, therefore, any abuse such as raising unfounded malicious 
allegations may be dealt with as a disciplinary matter. 

 
6.8 When it is found that fraud or corruption has occurred due to a break 

down in the Council’s systems or procedures, Chief Officers will ensure 
that appropriate improvements in systems of control are promptly 
implemented in order to prevent a reoccurrence. 

 
6.9 Depending on the nature and anticipated extent of the allegations, the 

Internal Audit section will normally work closely with management and 
other agencies such as the police to ensure that all allegations and 
evidence is properly investigated and reported upon. 

 
6.10 The Council’s disciplinary process will be used where the outcome of 

the Audit iInvestigation indicates improper behaviour. 
 
6.11 The Council will normally wish the police to independently prosecute 

offenders where financial impropriety is discovered. 
 

6.12 Any Councillor who is the subject of allegations of wrong doing can be 
referred to the Standards CommitteeMonitoring Officer ofto the 
Aauthority (details on the website), who will determine what action 
should be taken.   
 

6.13 All contractors, consultants and organisations receiving funding from 
the Council who are accused of wrong doing will be the subject of an 
investigation and where appropriate an independent decision may be 
taken to terminate the agreement/grant.  

Page 260



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

17 
 

 

 
6.14 The Council’s External Auditor has a responsibility to review the 

Council’s arrangements for the prevention, detection and investigation 
of fraud and corruption and report accordingly. 

7.0 Recovery, Sanctions & Redress 

7.1 Where the Council identifies fraud then it will: 
 
Recover, prosecute or apply other sanctions to perpetrators, where 
appropriate.  

7.2 Where fraud or corruption by employees is indicated, then action will 
be taken in accordance with the Council’s Conduct and Capability 
Policy.  This may be in addition to any civil recovery action or 
sanctions.   

7.3 The Council aims to be effective in recovering any losses incurred to 
fraud using, as appropriate, criminal and/or civil law.  Success rates will 
be monitored routinely as an indicator and part of the quality process.   

7.4 Wherever possible, redress should be applied.  This ensures that the 
Council is seen as recovering money lost to fraud.   

 
8.0 Training & Awareness 
 
8.1 The Council recognises the importance of training in the delivery of 

high quality services.  The Council supports the concept of fraud 
awareness training for managers and for employees involved in 
internal control systems to ensure that their responsibilities and duties 
in this respect are regularly highlighted and reinforced.  Chief Officers 
are responsible for training employees and promoting awareness of 
fraud issues.  

 
8.2 Investigation of fraud and corruption centres around the Council’s 

Internal Audit and Benefits sections.  Employees engaged in these 
sections, for the detection and prevention of fraud, are properly and 
regularly trained in all aspects of it.  The training plans of the sections 
will reflect this requirement. 

 
8.3 Employees who ignore such training and guidance may face the 

possibility of disciplinary action. 
 
8.4   Regular training seminars will be provided for Councillors on a wide 

range of topics including declarations of interest and the Code of 
Conduct as detailed in the Constitution. 
 

8.5   The Council will maintain an up to date awareness of the types of fraud 
that it may be exposed to, especially given the ongoing financial 
situation and the resourcefulness of potential fraudsters.  It will review 
national developments and strengthen systems and procedures 
accordingly using the following key sources of information: 

Page 261



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

18 
 

 

 
National Fraud Reports 
 
National Anti-Fraud Network 
 
Midlands Fraud Forum 
 
Local Networking through Staffordshire and the Midlands 
 
Any other sources of fraud awareness/updates etc.  

 
 
9.0 Sharing Information 
 
9.1 The Council is committed to working with other agencies in the 

detection and prevention of fraud.  
 
9.2 Information will be shared internally and with other government 

departments and other agencies eg insurance companies for the 
purposes of fraud prevention and detection.  This information will be 
shared in accordance with the principles of the Data Protection Act 
1998 and other appropriate legislation. 

 
9.3   The Council participates in national data sharing exercises, i.e. the 

National Fraud Initiative to enable the proactive detection of fraud. 
 

10.0 Implementing the Strategy 

10.1 Internal Audit will undertake an annual assessment of the effectiveness 
of existing counter-fraud and corruption arrangements against: 
 
CIPFA’s Red Book 2 Fraud Standards 
 

Other best practice/statutory guidance as required 

 
The roles and responsibilities as set out in Appendix 2 of this strategy. 

 

10.110.2 Internal Audit will complete the a Counter Fraud Work Plan as 
detailed in Appendix 5on an annual basis. 

10.210.3 Internal Audit will report its findings to the Audit and Governance 
Committee who will consider the effectiveness of the counter-fraud risk 
management arrangements.   

 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,

Hanging:  1.27 cm, Outline numbered

+ Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3,

… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +

Aligned at:  0 cm + Tab after:  0.63 cm

+ Indent at:  0.63 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, First

line:  0 cm

Page 262



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

19 
 

 

11.0 Conclusions 
 
11.1 The Council’s systems, procedures, instructions and guidelines are 

designed to limit, as far as is practicable, acts of fraud and corruption.  
All such measures will be kept under constant review to ensure that 
they keep pace with developments in prevention and detection 
techniques regarding fraudulent or corrupt activity. 

 
11.2 The Council will maintain a continuous review of all its systems and 

procedures through the Executive Director Corporate Services and 
Internal Audit, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer where 
required. 

 

Page 263



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

20 
 

 

COUNTER FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

GUIDANCE NOTES 

 
1.0 Why Do We Need a Counter Fraud And Corruption Strategy? 
  
1.1 Even though the vast majority of people working for the Council are 

honest and diligent, the Council cannot be complacent.  Fraudulent or 
corrupt acts may include: 

 
System issues ie where a process/system exists which can be 

abused by either employees or members of the 
public (eg Housing Allocations) 

Financial issues ie where individuals or companies have 
fraudulently obtained money from the Council 
(eg invalid invoices/work not done, Housing 
Benefit fraud) 

Equipment issues  ie where Council equipment is used for personal 
use (eg personal use of council telephones) 

Resource issues ie where there is misuse of resources (eg theft of 
building materials/cash) 

Other issues ie activities undertaken by officers of the Council 
which may be: unlawful; fall below established 
standards or practices; or amount to improper 
conduct (eg receiving unapproved hospitality)  

 
(This is not an exhaustive list.) 

 
1.2 The prevention of fraud, and the protection of the public purse is 

EVERYONE’S BUSINESS.  It is important that all employees know: 
 

• how to recognise a fraud, 

• how to prevent it, and 

• what to do if they suspect that they have come upon a fraud. 
 
1.3 This guidance has been drawn up to provide information to employees 

at all levels.  The strategy and guidance attempt to assist employees 
and others with suspicions of any malpractice.  The overriding concern 
is that it is in the public interest for the malpractice to be corrected and, 
if appropriate, sanctions and redress applied. 

 
1.4 It is important that employees should be able to use any mechanism 

without fear of victimisation, and fully know that their concerns will be 
addressed seriously, quickly and discreetly. 

1.5 It is important that the whole Council works together to reduce Benefit 
Fraud.  All employees are therefore required to transfer relevant 
information gathered in their normal day to day activities about possible 
Benefit irregularities to the Benefits Office, at Marmion House.  So, for 

Page 264



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

21 
 

 

example, if during a routine visit/interview, the employee you becomes 
aware that a customer is working and “signing on” (which they may be 
entitled to do) so but  the employeeyou must tell the Benefits office this 
information.  The Benefits office will assess the matter and investigate 
where appropriate.  The employee reporting the concern is You are not 
expected to and must not delve any further. 

 
1.6 The Council has determined that it should have a culture of honesty 

and openness in all its dealings, with opposition to fraud and 
corruption.  The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy  does this by :- 

 

• making it clear that vigilance is part of the job.  Knowingly not 
raising concerns may be a serious disciplinary offence, 

• recognising that early action may well prevent more worry or 
more serious loss/damage, 

• making it safe and simple to convey critical information ensuring 
that any concern in this area is seen as a concern and not a 
grievance, 

• encouraging information exchange, remembering that there are 
two sides to every story, 

• providing a way in which concerns can be raised in confidence 
and not necessarily via the nominated line manager or 
supervisor, 

• recognising the need for discretion, 

• ensuring the anonymity of the individual, where possible, should 
this be preferred by the employee, and by protecting employers 
from reprisals. 

 
1.7 Under the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, any disclosure 

made using the Whistleblowing Policy, within reasonable belief of the 
worker making the disclosure will only be protected if it is made in the 
public interest.  More detail is found in the Whistleblowing Policy.In line 
with the above, the Council encourages employees and others with 
serious concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work to come 
forward and voice those concerns.  It is recognised that certain cases 
will have to proceed on a confidential basis.  The Whistleblowing Policy 
is intended to encourage and enable employees to raise serious 
concerns within the Council rather than overlooking them.  The Policy 
can found on the Council’s website (www.tamworth.gov.uk). 

 
1.8 There is a need to ensure that any investigation process is not misused 

and, therefore, any abuse such as raising unfounded malicious 
allegations may be dealt with as a disciplinary matter. 

 
2.0 Why Do We Need This Advice?  
 
2.1 It is important that employeesyou follow the advice given and do not try 

to handle the problem themselfyourself, without expert advice and 
assistance.  A badly managed investigation may do more harm than 

Page 265



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

22 
 

 

good.  There are a number of internal and external processes which 
have to be followed to yield a satisfactory conclusion. 

 
 
 
 
 
3.0 How To Recognise A Fraud 
 
3.1 Each employee must be aware of fraud and the areas within their 

responsibility where fraud may occur. 
 
3.2 Fraud can happen wherever employees or independent contractors 

complete official documentation and can take financial advantage of 
the Council.  The risk of fraud is enhanced where employees or 
contractors are in positions of trust or responsibility and are not 
checked or subjected to effective monitoring or validation.  
Consequently the following areas are susceptible to fraud:- 

 

• claims for work done by independent contractors, 

• travel and expense claims, 

• cash receipts/ petty cash, 

• payroll, 

• ordering, and 

• stocks and assets. 
 
3.3 Fraud involves the falsification of records, failing to disclose information 

or abuse of position.  Managers need to be aware of the possibility of 
fraud when presented with claims/forms/documentation etc.  Issues 
which may give rise to suspicions are:- 

 

• documents that have been altered, “Tippex” used thereon, or 
different pens and different hand writing, 

• claims that cannot be checked, particularly if prior authorisation was 
not given, 

• strange trends (usinge comparisons and reasonableness), 

• confused, illegible text and missing details, 

• delays in documentation, completion or submission, and 

• no vouchers or receipts to support claims. 
 
3.4 There are a number of indications of an employee being in a situation 

whereby they could be acting fraudulently.  Common indicators could 
be:- 

 

• living beyond their means, 

• under financial pressure , 

• not taking annual leave, and  

Page 266



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

23 
 

 

• solely responsible for a “risk” area and/or possibly refusing to 
allow another officer to be involved in their duties and/or have 
minimal supervision. 

 
4.0 How To Prevent It 
 
4.1 By establishing an adverse culture to fraud and corruption the Council 

can help to prevent its occurrence.   
 
4.2 Managers need to :- 
 

� Minimise the opportunity for fraud – this can be achieved by 
putting in place robust systems of internal controls and checks.   

� Reduce the “Pay – Off” – this is achieved by increasing the 
chances of detection and increasing the penalty for the 
perpetrator so risks outweigh the benefits of getting “away with 
it.” 

 
4.3 There are 8 basic control types which management should concern 

themselves with: - 
 

Supervision 
 

Supervisory checks should be completed and recorded by the line 
manager on the work completed by his/her team. 

 
Organisation 

 
Within each system, there should be policies/procedures setting out 
how functions should be carried out.  There should be clear 
structures/rules which employees should work within.  

 
Authorisation 

 
Within a system there should be authorisation controls e.g. controls to 
authorise a payment (electronic/physical signature), and the correct 
level of authority is used in decision making. 

 
Personnel 

 
There should be clear roles and responsibilities and appropriate level 
of delegation.  The right person should be doing the right job. 

 
Segregation of Duties 

 
Seeks to avoid the sole ownership for the processing and control 
functions of any activity, by one employee. 

 
Physical 

Page 267



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

24 
 

 

 
This relates to physical controls e.g. access to monies, documents, 
security of premises etc, should be appropriate and restricted where 
necessary.  Where restricted access is necessary, access to keys/door 
numbers, etc, should be retained by the person granted access rights.  
They should not be left on the premises.  Inventory checks ensure that 
assets are controlled.   

 
Arithmetical Accuracy  

 
Checks completed by another person to confirm the accuracy of data 
input/independent reconciliations of cash floats etc. 

 
Management Functions 

 
Within the system there should be controls for monitoring and reporting 
upon activity e.g. the production of audit trail reports from systems etc.  
Monitoring to highlight irregularity/non-compliance with rules and 
procedures and reporting – being accountable for actions. 

 
4.4. Employees need to be aware of the possibility of fraud when presented 

with claims/forms/ documentation, etc.  They should also have an 
awareness of internal rules and procedures; i.e. financial regulations, 
standing orders, declarations of outside work, hospitality etc. 

 
4.5 Deterrence and prevention is the primary aim and if managers 

implement and control areas as mentioned in 4.3, any deviation from 
the set procedure should be highlighted in a timely manner.    

 
 
 
 
5.0 What To Do On Suspecting A Fraud 
 
5.1  Action By Employees 
 
5.1.1 The Council is committed to the highest possible standards of 

openness, probity and accountability.  Any employee who believes 
such standards are being breached should report their suspicions.  
This can be done via the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy or byyou can 
contacting the Executive Director Corporate Services, Internal Audit or 
a Chief Officer. 

 
5.1.2 The employeeYou should report the matter immediately, make a note 

of theiryour suspicions and provide as much factual information to 
support theiryour concerns as possible.  Concerns are better raised in 
writing. 

 

Page 268



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

25 
 

 

5.1.3 The background and the history of the concern, giving names, dates 
and places where possible, should be set out and the reason why the 
individual is particularly concerned about the situation.  Those who do 
not feel able to put their concern in writing can telephone or meet the 
appropriate officer.  The earlier the concern is expressed, the easier it 
is to take action.  Individuals may invite their trade union or 
professional association to raise a matter on their behalf. 

 
5.1.4 Employees should Do not try to carry out an investigation 

themselfyourself.  This may damage any investigation carried out by 
the Internal Audit section, the Benefits Investigations Officer or an 
appointed investigator.  The employee can hHelp the official 
investigators by providing information as and when requested and by 
giving a written statement when required. 

 
5.2 Action By Managers 
 
5.2.1 If managers become suspicious of any action by an employee or 

supplier or such suspicions are reported to them they should follow 
these simple rules. 

 

• if possible establish if the irregularity (potential fraud, corruption 
or error) is a genuine error or possible fraud. 

• contact their Chief Officer or any other officer as identified in the 
Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy, who will contact the 
Executive Director Corporate Services or the Internal Audit 
section. 

• contact the Director Transformation & Corporate Performance, 
where there may be implications under the disciplinary 
procedures for officers. 

• do nothing else, except remain vigilant and await further 
instructions from the investigating team. 

 
5.2.2 The Council is required to report any cases in which it is suspected that 

transactions involve the proceeds of crime. If employees or managers 
have any such suspicion, this should be reported immediately to the 
Monitoring Officer, who shall advise on the necessary action and 
ensure the matter is reported to the appropriate authorities. 

 
5.2.3 Details of the relevant contacts can be found in Appendix 4.  
 
6.0 What Happens To The Allegation 
 
6.1 The Executive Director Corporate Services or his investigating officer, 

will normally carry out a full enquiry even where there is clear evidence 
of an offence following the Fraud Response Plan (Appendix 3).  A full 
report will be copied and sent to:- 

 

• the relevant Chief Officer, and 

Page 269



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

26 
 

 

• the Chief Executive to consider if there needs to be any police 
involvement. 

 
6.2 It is essential that the Executive Director Corporate Services 

investigation should be a complete one and the investigating officer to 
whom it is delegated is entitled to expect the fullest co-operation from 
all employees. 
 

6.3 A full detailed report on any system control failures and recommended 
actions to address the failures will be issued to the relevant manager in 
the format of an internal audit report. 

Page 270



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

27 
 

 

Appendix 1 
 
The Seven Principles of Public Life (Nolan Committee) 
 
 
Selflessness 
 
Holders of public office take decisions in terms of the public interest.  They 
should not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. 
 
Integrity 
 
Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or 
other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might influence 
them in the performance of their official duties. 
 
Objectivity 
 
In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, 
holders of public office should make choices on merit. 
 
Accountability 
 
Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the 
public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their 
office. 
 
Openness 
 
Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions 
and actions that they take.  They should give reasons for their decisions and 
restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly demands. 
 
Honesty 
 
Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to 
their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way 
that protects the public interest. 
 
Leadership 
 
Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by 
leadership and example.  
 

Page 271



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

28 
 

 

Appendix 2 

Statement of Expected Responsibilities 

 

Stakeholder Expected Responsibilities 

Chief Executive Ultimately accountable as Head of Paid Service for the 
effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements for 
countering fraud and corruption as well as corporate 
governance. 

 

Executive Director 
Corporate Services 
(Section 151 Officer) 

The Executive Director Corporate Services has a 
statutory duty, under Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Sections 114 and 116 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 and Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2011 to ensure the proper 
administration of the Council’s financial affairs.  This 
includes Internal Audit and Benefit Fraud. 

 

Solicitor to the 
Council (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To advise Councillors and officers on ethical issues, 
standards and powers to ensure that the Council 
operates within the Law and Statutory Codes of 
Practice.  The operation of the Council’s Money 
Laundering Policy And Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act (RIPA) 2000 Policies and Procedures. 

Maintain a Register of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests. 

 

Director 
Transformation & 
Corporate 
Performance 

To put in place a corporate recruitment and selection 
policy and monitor compliance against it. 

 

Chief Officers To ensure that fraud and corruption risks are 
considered as part of the Council’s corporate risk 
management arrangements.  To ensure that actions to 
mitigate risks in this area are effective.  To notify the 
Executive Director Corporate Services of any fraud 
arising in a timely manner. 

 

Corporate 
Management Team 

Challenge new policies and strategies to ensure that 
fraud and corruption risks have been taken into 
account.  Review the corporate framework designed to 
promote an over-riding counter-fraud culture on a 
regular basis.  This will include monitoring and 
evaluating arrangements to ensure effectiveness and 

Page 272



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

29 
 

 

compliance with best practice. 

 

Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 

To monitor the Council’s policies and consider the 
effectiveness of the arrangements for Counter Fraud 
and Whistleblowing. 

 

Standards 
Committee 

The Committee monitors and advises upon the Code 
of Conduct for members. 

 

Deputy lLeader & 
Portfolio holder – 
Core 
ServOperationsices 
and Assets 

To champion the Council’s Counter Fraud & Corruption 
arrangements and promote them at every opportunity.  

Elected Councillors To support and promote the development of a strong 
counter fraud culture. 

 

Audit 
CommissionExternal 
Audit 

Statutory duty to ensure that the Council has in place 
adequate arrangements for the prevention and 
detection of fraud, corruption and theft. 

 

Internal Audit Responsible for developing and implementing the 
Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement, 
Strategy and Guidance Notes and investigating any 
issues reported under this policy.  Reporting on the 
effectiveness of controls to the Audit and Governance 
Committee.  To ensure that all suspected or reported 
irregularities are dealt with promptly and in accordance 
with this Strategy and that action is identified to 
improve controls and reduce the risk of recurrence. 

 

Senior Managers To promote employee awareness and ensure that all 
suspected or reported irregularities are immediately 
referred to Executive Director Corporate Services.  To 
ensure that there are mechanisms in place within their 
service areas to assess the risk of fraud, corruption 
and theft and to reduce these risks by implementing 
robust internal controls.  

 

Employees To comply with Council policies and procedures, to be 
aware of the possibility of fraud, corruption and theft, 
and to report any genuine concerns to the appropriate 

Page 273



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

30 
 

 

management, the Chief Executive, the Executive 
Director Corporate Services or Internal Audit.  

Public, Partners, 
Suppliers, 
Contractors and 
Consultants 

To be aware of the possibility of fraud and corruption 
against the Council and report any genuine concerns 
or suspicions.  To ensure that effective controls are in 
place to mitigate risks to the Council. 

 

 

 

 

Page 274



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

31 
 

 

Appendix 3 
 

Tamworth Borough Council 
 

Fraud Response Plan 

OPERATIONAL CONTROL 

 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT STAFF HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 

 

 
Preliminary 

Investigation 

Authorise (inc. requirements of RIPA 

re surveillance) and co-ordinate 

initial investigation  

Carry out in-depth investigation.  
Obtain all relevant evidence.  
Secure all original documents 

Sources of 

Notification 

Complete SI 

control form. 

Assess staff 

requirement 

File for future 

reference 

Yes No 

Are initial suspicions confirmed? 

Assess situation disclosed. Discuss possible 

suspensions 

No 

Yes 

Determine action to be taken 

Determine what interviews are required Draft interview questions and agree 

with Head of Internal Audit 

Is criminality a possibility? 

Consult police 

informally Arrange 

interviews 

Conduct and 

record interviews 

Yes No 

Is any further work required? 

Complete further work  

Review and approve audit report 

Issue report as appropriate Set up any necessary supporting files 

Carry out all post-audit reviews 
Police 

 

Departmental 

management 

Yes 

Prepare audit report 

No 

Criminal? Disciplinary? 

Page 275



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

32 
 

 

Appendix 4 

 

HOW TO REPORT ANY SUSPECTED FRAUDS, CORRUPTION, OTHER 
IRREGULARITIES OR CONCERNS 

 

To contact Internal Audit Services 
 

Contact: Angela Struthers, Head of Internal Audit Services 

    Tel: 01827 709234       email:  angela-struthers@tamworth.gov.uk 

    Write to  Head of Internal Audit Services (Confidential) 
  Tamworth Borough Council 
  Marmion House,  
  Lichfield Street 
  Tamworth  
  B79 7BZ 
 
Alternatively you can contact: 
 
John Wheatley, Executive Director Corporate Services 
Tel: 01827 709252  email: john-wheatley@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
Jane Hackett, Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer 
Tel: 01827 709258 email: jane-hackett@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
Tony Goodwin, Chief Executive 
Tel: 01827 709220 email: tony-goodwin@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
To contact the Council’s external auditor 
Write to: 
 
The Audit Commission 
2nd Floor, No 1 Friarsgate 
1011 Stratford Road 
Solihull 
West Midlands 
B90 4BNGrant Thornton UK LLP 
Colmore Plaza 
20 Colmore Circus 
Birmingham 
West Midlands 
B4 6AT 
 
Tel: 0844 798 71730121 212 4000 
 
Audit Commission  
 Whistleblowing hotline: 0845 052 26460303 444 8330 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Page 276



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

33 
 

 

 
To report Housing and Council Tax Benefit Fraud contact; 
Tamworth Borough Council Benefits Fraud Team : 01827 709525/541 
 
National Benefit Fraud Hotline 08003286340 0800 854 440 or 
text phone number 08003286341 0800 328 0512 or 
Write to PO Box No. 647, Preston, PR1 1WA

Page 277



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

34 
 

 

Appendix 5 
TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL INTERNAL AUDIT COUNTER FRAUD WORK PLAN 2012/13 
 

 

CREATING AN ANTI-FRAUD CULTURE 

 
OBJECTIVE RISK PROGRESS 

To build an anti-fraud culture through the adoption 
of various measures to promote counter fraud 
awareness by: 
a)Roll out of the e learning package on 
governance (includes counter fraud & 
whistleblowing) 
b)Provide drop in sessions (if required) to staff 
and members 
c)Continue to make available counter fraud 
strategies/policies on the intranet/website 
 

1.  Failure to make staff, member and the public that their 
suspicions will be treated confidentially, objectively and 
professionally. 
 

 

RESOURCE (DAYS) 5 

Comment [j1]: Should this say 
2013/14? 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

P
age 278



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

35 
 

 

 

 

DETERRING FRAUD 
 
OBJECTIVE RISK PROGRESS 

Review communications so that the most 
effective ways of communicating with staff are 
utilised. 
 
 

A lack of robust strategic approach to deterring fraud can 
undermine actions to build an anti-fraud culture 
 

 

Resources (Days)  

P
age 279



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

36 
 

 

 

 

PREVENTING FRAUD 

 
OBJECTIVE RISK PROGRESS 

Review the existing counter fraud policy 
statement, strategy and guidance notes and 
update and amend as appropriate. 
 

Out of date policies and procedures which do not cover 
relevant legislation  

 

Review financial guidance and update and 
amend as appropriate. 
 

Out of date policies and procedures which do not cover 
relevant legislation 

 

Review and update the fraud risk register in line 
with potential system weaknesses identified 
during audits or investigations. 
 

Potential risks not identified  

Resources (Days) 12 

P
age 280



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

37 
 

 

 

 

DETECTING FRAUD 

 
OBJECTIVE RISK PROGRESS 

Undertake enquiries as a result of the 
outcome of the Audit Commission’s 
National Fraud Initiative 
 

If not undertaken, there is a risk that the opportunity to abuse a 
system weakness may be heightened as the risk of being 
caught maybe deemed negligible by the perpetrator. 
 

 

Undertake local proactive exercises at the 
Authority as agreed with the Executive 
Director Corporate Services 
 

If not undertaken, there is a risk that the opportunity to abuse a 
system weakness may be heightened as the risk of being 
caught maybe deemed negligible by the perpetrator. 
 

 

Resources (Days) 12 

P
age 281



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

38 
 

 

 

 

INVESTIGATIONS 

 
OBJECTIVE RISK PROGRESS 

All referrals will be investigated in accordance 
with the Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy 
Statement and Strategy. 

The risk of not investigating is that fraud goes 
unpunished and there is no resulting deterrent effect thus 
increasing the prevalence of fraud further. 
 
The staff (or others) making the allegation feel they are 
not taken seriously and referrals cease to be made.   
 

 

Resources (Days) 20 

P
age 282



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

39 
 

 

 

 

SANCTIONS 

 
OBJECTIVE RISK PROGRESS 

Ensure that the sanctions are applied 
correctly and consistently. 
 
 

If sanctions are not imposed there is no deterrence of fraud. 
 

 

Resources (Days)  

P
age 283



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

40 
 

 

 

 

REDRESS 

 
OBJECTIVE RISK PROGRESS 

Maintain comprehensive records of time spent on 
each investigation so that this can be included in 
any compensation claim. 
 
 
Identify and maintain a record of the actual 
proven amount of loss so that appropriate 
recovery procedures can be actioned.   
 
 

Fraudsters may not realise that any and all measures will 
be taken to recover any money lost to fraud. 
 

 

Resources (Days)  

P
age 284



 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

41 
 

 

 

 

MANDATORY COUNTER FRAUD ARRANGEMENTS (STRATEGIC WORK) 

 
OBJECTIVE RISK PROGRESS 

Attendance at relevant fraud forums/meetings to 
ensure that professional knowledge and skills are 
maintained. 
 
Completion and agreement of work plan. 
 
Regular meetings with the Executive Director 
Corporate Services. 
 
Quarterly report of counter fraud work. 
 
Attendance at relevant training as required. 
 
 

Failure to ensure the completion of mandatory strategic 
work may mean that the professional knowledge and skills 
are not maintained to a high standard. 
 

 

Resources (Days) 5 

 
TOTAL RESOURCES (Days) 

 
54 
 

 
 

P
age 285



Page 286

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

 1 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY 

 
 
 
 

Document Status: FinalDraft 

 

 

 

Originator: A Struthers 
 

Updated: A Struthers 
 

Owner: Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer 
 

Version: 01.01.0102 
 

Date: 01/03/1229/07/13 

 
 

 

 

 

Approved by Council 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 287



Appendix 2 

 2 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
 

Document Location 

 
This document is held by Tamworth Borough Council, and the document owner is 
Jane Hackett, Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer. 
 
Printed documents may be obsolete. An electronic copy will be available on 
Tamworth Borough Councils Intranet. Please check for current version before 
using.   
  
 

 
Revision History 
Revision Date Version Control Summary of changes 

01/03/12 1.01.01 Scheduled review  

29/07/13 1.01.02 Changes under the 
Enterprise and 
Regulatory Reform Act 
2013 

   

   

   

 
 
 

Approvals 
Name Title Approved 

Full Council Committee Approval 11/9/12 Yes 

Appointments & 
Staffing Committee 

Committee Approval  

Audit & 
Governance 
Committee 

Committee Approval YesYes 

CMT Group Approval YesYes 

TULG Trade Union Consultation YesYes 

Jane Hackett Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer YesYes 

Angela Struthers Head of Internal Audit Services Yes 

 
 

Document Review Plans 
 

Page 288



Appendix 2 

 3 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
This document is subject to a scheduled annual review. Updates shall be made 
in accordance with business requirements and changes and will be with 
agreement with the document owner. 
 
 

Distribution 
 
The document will be available on the Intranet and the website. 

Page 289



Appendix 2 

 4 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 became law in July, 1999.  This 

Act, introduced the protection of whistleblowers, and removes the limits 
of financial liability to which an organisation is exposed should a 
whistleblower receive unfair treatment.  This policy document sets out the 
Council’s response to the requirements of the Act. 

 
1.2 Under the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, any disclosure 

made using the Whistleblowing Policy, within reasonable belief of the 
worker making the disclosure will only be protected if it is made in the 
public interest.  It must also show one or more of the following: 

 

(a) that a criminal offence has been committed, is being committed 

or is likely to be committed,  

(b) that a person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with 

any legal obligation to which he is subject,  

(c) that a miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring or is likely 

to occur,  

(d) that the health or safety of any individual has been, is being or is 

likely to be endangered,  

(e) that the environment has been, is being or is likely to be 

damaged, or  

(f) that information tending to show any matter falling within any one 

of the preceding paragraphs has been, is being or is likely to be 

deliberately concealed. 

 
 
1.2 This policy is designed for workers.  Workers include: 
 

 employees,;  
however, the Council’s partners or members of the public can 

alsoagency workers;  
people that are training with an employer but not employed; and 
self-employed workers, if supervised or working off-site. 
 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2.54 cm

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Indent: First line:  1.04

cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2.54 cm,
First line:  0 cm

Page 290



Appendix 2 

 5 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
 raise concerns in the knowledge that they are protected under the 

safeguards of this policy. 
 

1.3 Local Government employees have an individual and collective 
responsibility regarding their conduct and practices, which are always 
subject to scrutiny.  As individuals, employees are required to work within 
the Code of Conduct for Tamworth Borough Council Employees and the 
relevant codes of conduct including the standards appropriate to their 
professional organisations or associations.  The Council’s regulatory 
framework also includes Financial Regulations and Contract Standing 
Orders that must be met. 

 
1.4 All employees have a duty to bring to the attention of management any 

deficiency in the provision of service and any impropriety or breach of 
procedure, in accordance with Financial Regulations..  “t cases.” 

 
 
1.5 Employees, members of the council, or contractorsEmployees are often 

the first to realise that there may be something seriously wrong within the 
Council.  However, they may not express their concerns because they 
feel that speaking up would be disloyal to their colleagues or to the 
Council.  They may also fear harassment or victimisation.  In these 
circumstances it may be easier to ignore the concern rather than report 
what may just be a suspicion of malpractice. 

 
1.6 The Council is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, 

probity and accountability.  In line with that commitment it expects 
employees, and others that it deals with, who have serious concerns 
about any aspect of the Council’s work to come forward and voice those 
concerns.  It is recognised that most cases will have to proceed on a 
confidential basis. 

 
1.7 This policy document makes it clear that you can do so without fear of 

victimisation, subsequent discrimination or disadvantage.  This 
Whistleblowing Policy is intended to encourage and enable anyone to 
raise serious concerns in the public interest, in good faith within the 
Council rather than overlooking a problem or ‘blowing the whistle’ 
outside. 

 
1.8The policy applies to: 
 
 all employees of the Council, members of the Council, contractors 
working for the Council on Council Premises (eg agency staff), suppliers and 
those providing services under a contract with the council, people working in 
partnership with the council and its employees and members (eg volunteers, 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.5 cm,
Hanging:  1.04 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, First
line:  0 cm

Page 291



Appendix 2 

 6 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
trustees etc) 
 
 
1.91.8 These procedures are in addition to the Council’s complaints procedures 

including the Grievance Procedure and the Dignity and Respect at Work 
Policy, and other statutory reporting procedures applying to some 
Services.  You are responsible for making service users aware of the 
existence of these procedures. 

 
1.101.9 This policy has been discussed with the relevant trade unions and 

professional organisations and has their support. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Aims and Scope of this Policy 
 
2.1 This policy aims to: 

• encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns that are in 
the public interestand to question and act upon concerns about 
practice 

• provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive 
feedback on any action taken 

• ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are 
aware of how to pursue them if you are not satisfied 

• reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or 
victimisation if you have a reasonable belief that you have made any 
disclosure in good faith. 

 
2.2 There are existing procedures in place to enable you to disclose certain 

particular concerns.  These are: 
 
 

• The Authority’s Grievance Procedure which enables you to lodge a 
grievance relating to your own employment; 

• The Authority’s Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement, 
Strategy & Guidance Notes, which outlines how you can disclose 
potential fraud, bribery, corruption and theft; 

• The Authority’s Dignity and Respect at Work Policy, which enables 
you to disclose cases of potential harassment and bullying;  

• The Authority’s Children & Vulnerable Adult Protection Policy 
(which has its own Whistleblowing Policy in place), for disclosures 
regarding suspected mistreatment of children and vulnerable adults.  

 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Page 292



Appendix 2 

 7 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
 
2.3 This policy is intended to cover major concerns that may fall outside the 

scope of other procedures.  These include: 
 

Gconduct which is an offence or a breach of law 
Gdisclosures related to miscarriage of justice 
Ghealth and safety risks, (including risks to the public as well as other 

employees) 
Gdamage to the environment 
Gthe unauthorised use of public funds 
Gsexual or physical abuse of both employees and clients other than that covered 

under the Children & Vulnerable Adult Protection Policy, or 
Gother unethical conduct. 
 
2.4Thus, any serious concerns that you have about any aspect of service 

provision or the conduct of officers or members of the Council or others 
acting on behalf of the Council can be reported under the Whistleblowing 
Policy.  This may be something that: 

2.4  

•makes you feel uncomfortable in terms of known standards, your 
experience of the standards you believe the Council subscribes to; or 

•is against the Council’s Standing Orders and policies; or 

•falls below established standards of practice; or 

•amounts to improper conduct. 

•  
2.5This policy does not replace the corporate complaints procedure or other 

existing policies for raising issues regarding your employment. 
 
3 Safeguards 
 
3.1Harassment or Victimisation 
 
3.23.1 The Council is committed to good practice and high standards and shall 

be supportive of employees. 
 
3.33.2 The Council recognises that the decision to report a concern can be a 

difficult one to make.  If what you are saying is truewithin reasonable 
belief, you should have nothing to fear because you will be doing your 
duty to your employer and those for whom you are providing a service. 

 
3.43.3 The Council will not tolerate any harassment or victimisation (including 

informal pressures) and will take appropriate action to protect you when 
you raise a concern in good faith. 

 
 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,

Hanging:  1.5 cm, Tab stops:  1.5 cm,
Left + Not at  2.5 cm

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Page 293



Appendix 2 

 8 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
3.5Any investigation into allegations of potential malpractice will not influence or 

be influenced by any disciplinary or redundancy procedures that already 
affect you. 

 
 
4. Confidentiality 
 
4.1 All concerns will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made 

not to reveal your identity if you so wish.  At the appropriate time, 
however, you may need to come forward as a witness, but this will be 
discussed with you, as to whether and how the matter can be proceeded 
with . 

 
 
5. Anonymous Allegations 
 
5.1 This policy encourages you to put your name to your allegation whenever 

possible. 
 
5.2 Concerns expressed anonymously are much less powerful but will be 

considered at the discretion of the Council. 
 
5.3 In exercising this discretion the factors to be taken into account would 

include: 
 

• the seriousness of the issues raised 

• the credibility of the concern; and 

• the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources. 
 
 
6. Untrue Allegations 
 
6.1 If you make an allegation in good faith, but it is not confirmed by the 

investigation, no action will be taken against you.  If, however, you make 
an allegation frivolously, maliciously or for personal gain, disciplinary 
action may be taken against you. 

 
 
7. How to Raise a Concern 
 
7.1 As a first step, you should normally raise concerns with your immediate 

manager or their superior.  This depends, however, on the seriousness 
and sensitivity of the issues involved and who is suspected of the 
malpractice.  For example, if you believe that management is involved, 
you should approach the Chief Executive, Executive Director Corporate 
Services, Solicitor to the Council or Head of Internal Audit Services.  

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Page 294



Appendix 2 

 9 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
Where you feel unable to raise the concerns internally due to the nature 
of the disclosure you should contact the Audit Commission on their 
Confidential Public Interest Disclosure phone line – 0845 052 26460303 
444 8330.  The Commission will then ensure that the disclosure is 
properly investigated.   

 
7.2 To raise a concern is respect of Benefits Fraud, you can contact the 

Benefits fraud section on 01827 709525/541.  Alternatively you can call 
the National Benefit Fraud Hotline telephone number 0800 328 6340854 
440 or text phone number 0800 328 6341 0512 or write to them at PO 
Box No. 647, Preston, PR1 1WA. 

 
 
 
8 External contacts 
 
8.1 While it is hoped that this policy gives you the reassurance you need to 

raise such matters internally, it is recognised that there may be 
circumstances where you can properly report matters to outside bodies, 
such as prescribed regulators, some of which are outlined below, or the 
police, or if applicable your own union, will be able to advise you on such 
an option and on the circumstances in which you may be able to contact 
an outside body safely.   

 
8.2 Relevant Prescribed Regulators are as follows: 
 

Health and Safety risks  Health and Safety Executive 
Environmental issues  The Environmental Agency 
Fraud and Fiscal Irregularities  Serious Fraud Office, HM Revenues & 

Customs 
Public Sector Finance  National Audit Office  

and Audit Commission 
 Competition & Consumer Law Office of Fair Trading 
 Elected Member’s conduct  Standards Committee for the 

authoritySolicitor to the Council & 
Monitoring Officer 

       (details available on the website) 
 Others    Certification Officer (Trade Unions), 
       Charity Commission, 
       Information Commissioner 
 
8.3 Concerns may be raised verbally or in writing.  Staff who wish to make a 

written report are invited to use the following format: 
 

• the background and history of the concern (giving relevant dates); 

• the reason why you are particularly concerned about the situation. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  7.62 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm, First

line:  0 cm

Page 295



Appendix 2 

 10 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
 
8.4The earlier you express the concern the easier it is to take action . 
8.4  
8.5 Although you are not expected to prove beyond doubt the truth of an 

allegatiand yon, you will need to be able to demonstrate to the person 
contacted that there are reasonable grounds for your concern. 

 
8.6 Contact points for Aadvice/guidance on how to pursue matters of 

concern can be obtained from: 
 

• Chief Executive – 709220 

• Executive Director Corporate Services – 709252 

• Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer – 709258 

• Head of Internal Audit Services – 709234 
 
8.7 You may wish to consider discussing your concern with a colleague first 

and you may find it easier to raise the matter if there are two (or more) of 
you who have had the same experience or concerns. 

 
8.9 You may invite your trade union, professional association representative 

or professional association representative or a friendmember of staff to 
be present during any meetings or interviews in connection with the 
concerns you have raised. 

 
 
9. How the Council Will Respond 
 
9.1 The Council will always respond to your concerns.  Do not forget that 

testing out your concerns is not the same as either accepting or rejecting 
them. 

 
9.2 Where appropriate, the matters raised may: 
 

• be investigated by management, internal audit, or through the 
disciplinary process 

• be referred to the police 

• be referred to the external auditor 

• form the subject of an independent inquiry. 
 
9.3 In order to protect individuals and those accused of misdeeds or possible 

malpractice, initial enquiries will be made to decide whether an 
investigation is appropriate and, if so, what form it should take.  The 
overriding principle which the Council will have in mind is the public 
interest.  Concerns or allegations which fall within the scope of specific 
procedures (for example, child protection or discrimination issues) will 
normally be referred for consideration under those procedures. 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Page 296



Appendix 2 

 11 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
 
9.4 Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for 

investigation.  If urgent action is required this will be taken before any 
investigation is conducted. 

 
9.5 Within ten working days of a concern being raised, the Solicitor to the 

Council will write to you: 
 

• acknowledging that the concern has been received  

• indicating how the Council propose to deal with the matter 

• giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response 

• telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made 

• supplying you with information on how the Council will support you if 
you think this is necessary, whilst the matter is under consideration, 
and  

• telling you whether further investigations will take place and if not, 
why not. 

 
9.6 The amount of contact between the officers considering the issues and 

you will depend on the nature of the matters raised, the potential 
difficulties involved and the clarity of the information provided.  If 
necessary, the Council will seek further information from you. 

 
9.7 Where any meeting is arranged, off-site if you so wish, you can be 

accompanied by a trade union officer or professional association 
representative or a friendmember of staff. 

 
9.8The Council will take steps to minimise any difficulties which you may 

experience as a result of raising a concern.  For instance, if you are 
required to give evidence in criminal or disciplinary proceedings the 
Council will arrange for you to receive advice about the procedure. 

 
9.99.8 The Council accepts that you need to be assured that the matter has 

been properly addressed.  Thus, subject to legal constraints, we will 
inform you of the outcome of any investigation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
10. The Responsible Officer 
 
10.1 The Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility 

for the maintenance and operation of this policy.  That officer maintains a 
record of concerns raised and the outcomes (but in a form which does 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Page 297



Appendix 2 

 12 
This information can be produced on request in other formats and languages 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Right

Formatted: Font: Bold
not endanger your confidentiality) and will report as necessary to the 
Council. 

 
 
11. How the Matter can be Taken Further 
 
11.1 If you feel that the Council has not responded correctly at any stage, 

remember you can go to the other levels and bodies mentioned earlier.  
While it cannot be guaranteed that all matters will be addressed in the 
way that you might wish, it will always be the Council’s intention to 
handle the matter fairly and properly.  By using this policy, you will help 
achieve this 

 
11.2 If you do take the matter outside the Council, you should ensure that you 

do not disclose confidential information.  Check with the contact point 
about that. 

 

Page 298



      COUNCIL 

         17 DECEMBER 2013  

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO FOR ECONOMY AND EDUCATION  

CREATION OF A JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR THE SUPERVISORY 
BOARD OF THE GREATER BIRMINGHAM AND SOLIHULL LOCAL 

ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP  

1. Purpose of the Report 

To seek approval of a Joint Committee, draft Constitution and Terms of 
Reference and for the creation of a Joint Scrutiny Committee for the Supervisory 
Board of the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership (GBS 
LEP). 

 

2.        RECOMMENDATION 

That the Council approves  

(1) The establishment of a Joint Committee, in accordance with Article 12 of the 
constitution, the Localism Act 2011, and the Local Government Acts1972 and 
2000 for the purposes of acting as a Supervisory Board for the Greater 
Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership (GBSLEP) for decisions on 
any funds devolved from government as part of a Single Local Growth Fund  
and  
(2) The Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership (GBSLEP) 
draft Constitution, Terms of Reference and Joint Scrutiny Committee 
arrangements as detailed in the documents attached in the Appendices  in 
accordance with the Constitution and Article 11 thereof ; 

 
 

3. Background 

In September 2012, a delegation of Birmingham politicians and business leaders, 
including the GBS LEP Chair went to meet the Prime Minister. At that meeting, 
an offer was made to pilot outcomes from Lord Heseltine’s review into how to 
drive economic growth. This sparked the Prime Minister’s interest and the 
outcome a few months later was the initiation of the Greater Birmingham Project 
(GBP). 

His intense eight week review saw the GBS LEP work with Lord Heseltine to         
assess the economic benefit of implementing the recommendations contained 
within his report ‘No Stone Unturned’.  The link below will take you to Lord 
Heseltine’s report :- 

http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/corporate/docs/n/12-1213-no-stone-unturned-in-
pursuit-of-growth.pdf 

 
The 89 recommendations included the creation of a £49bn capital pot of devolved 
funds from Whitehall which local areas can bid into to fund economic 
development activity. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 299



The findings of the review were published on Sunday 17 March 2013. The 
‘Greater Birmingham Project: the Path to Local Growth’. 

The link below will take you to the findings of the review :-  

http://centreofenterprise.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/GBSLEP-Report-
version_complete.pdf 

 

The review  outlined how outcomes would be improved if the Greater Birmingham 
area had control over a large capital fund that it could use to drive economic 
growth and improve the quality of life of local people. 

 

The report also acknowledged that governance would need to be strengthened if 
the LEP was to start making spending decisions over significant sums of money. 
In the document, the GBS LEP committed to forming a Supervisory Board 
comprised of the nine elected local authority leaders, if a substantial Single Pot 
was created.  The report stated that the Supervisory Board would: 

• Provide clear political accountability for the management of the Single 
Pot.   

• Operate a cabinet style of accountability and be a formal governance 
structure between a Joint Committee and a Combined Authority. 

• Empower the LEP Board through formal decision making and a scheme 
of delegated authority. 

The commitment by the Government (led by the current Conservative/Lib Dem 
administration), announced by the Chancellor of the Exchequer and confirmed in 
the recent Budget that 

“Government spending should be aligned with the priorities of the local business 
community  …  from April 2015, the Government will place more of the funding 
that currently goes to local transport, housing skills and getting people back to 
work into a Single Pot that LEPs can bid for.”… is welcomed.  

Moreover, it is  acknowledged that the democratic accountability deficit currently 
exhibited by LEPs given that there is insufficient elected member oversight of 
decisions taken by LEPs requires to be addressed. In the Government’s 
response to the Heseltine Review, among the principles for effective partnership, 
it is stated that local authorities will ‘manage an account for the localised funds 
through binding and long lived decision making structures such as joint 
committees as a minimum, or combined authority (preferable), or other similar 
arrangement’.   

This devolution of funding and responsibilities should be subject to meaningful 
local democratic accountability to ensure there is also alignment with community 
priorities. 

Accordingly, Cabinet welcomed the statement in the Greater Birmingham Project: 
the Path to Local Growth, once the details of the single pot are announced, that 
the Greater Birmingham & Solihull LEP will ‘immediately establish a Supervisory 
Board comprised of the nine local authority leaders.  This will provide clear 
political accountability for the management of the single pot.  It will operate a 
cabinet style of accountability and will be a formal government structure between 
a Joint Committee and a Combined Authority.” 

Page 300



In response to Lord Heseltine’s ‘No Stone Unturned’, the Government has 
created a Local Growth Fund of c£2billion, of which about half will be available for 
LEPs to bid into competitively. To be successful, LEPs will be expected to 
demonstrate a number of things including arrangements for delivering their 
Strategic Economic Plan which “deliver collective decisions, from all local 
authority leaders, including district councils within the LEP, with evidence of 
underpinning robust partnership arrangements” such as Joint Leaders 
Committees (Growth Deals – Initial Guidance for Local Enterprise Partnerships’: 
HM Government (July 2013)). The expectation from Government is therefore that 
LEPs will strengthen their governance arrangements if a formal structure is not 
already in place 

4. Creation of a Supervisory Board  

Cabinet agreed on 22 August 2013 to: 

(1) The establishment of a Joint Committee, subject to approval of Council, in 
accordance with Article 12 of the constitution, the Localism Act 2011, and the 
Local Government Acts1972 and 2000 for the purposes of acting as a 
Supervisory Board for the GBSLEP for decisions on any funds devolved from 
government as part of a Single Local Growth Fund ; 
(2) The GBSLEP draft constitution, terms of reference and scrutiny arrangements 
as detailed in the documents attached in the Appendices be referred to Council 
for approval in accordance with the Constitution and Article 11 thereof ; 
(3) The Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer be authorised to make any 
amendments to the relevant documents and finalise the detail for the GBSLEP 
Constitution, terms of reference and scrutiny arrangements as the proposals are 
developed between the LEP and local authority members of the Joint Committee  
and 
(4) Delegate to the Leader and in his absence the Portfolio Holder for Economy 
and Education the membership position on the GBSLEP as contained in the 
Terms of Reference with full voting rights on all Supervisory Board. 

 

 A copy of the report,  the draft Constitution and Terms of Reference are attached 
at Appendices  (1), (2) and (3).  

 

The necessary approvals are being sought by each of the other local authorities  
in the LEP.  

Membership of the Supervisory Board will comprise the nine Local Authority 
Leaders (or other appointed member) of the GBSLEP. The GBSLEP Chair will be 
invited to be a member (using the power to co-opt non-authority members on to a 
committee contained in Section 102(3) of the Local Government Act 1972) but 
will be a non-voting member of the Board. 

Political proportionality rules will not apply to the Joint Committee as so 
constituted. 

Objects of the Supervisory Board will be to: 

• Provide effective decision-making and clear political accountability for the 
management of the Local Growth Fund and other significant funding streams that 
cover the full GBS LEP geography as agreed by the LEP Board 

• To empower the LEP Board to deliver decisions taken; 

• To oversee and review the activities of the GBS LEP Board; 

Page 301



• To co-ordinate and liaise with the GBS Local Transport Board; 

• To consider any further measures necessary to strengthen the GBS LEP Board. 

 Birmingham City Council will host the Supervisory Board.  

 

4 Creation of a Joint Scrutiny Committee 

As the Supervisory Board performs executive functions it is necessary to create a 
Joint Scrutiny Committee to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action 
taken, in connection with the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the Supervisory Board.  

It is proposed that the Joint Scrutiny Board will be formed of one member from 
each local authority, making a total of nine. Quorum will be four, one from each 
area of the LEP (i.e. Birmingham, Solihull, North Worcestershire and South 
Staffordshire). As each Local Authority will be nominating its member, the 
composition of the Scrutiny Committee will not accord with political balance rules.  

The Joint Scrutiny Committee will be hosted under local government 
arrangements by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council and the Chief Executive 
of Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council shall be Secretary to the Joint Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Standing Orders will apply to the Joint Scrutiny 
Committee. The Host Authority will also provide s151 and Monitoring Officer roles 
to the Joint Scrutiny Committee. 

The draft Terms of Reference for the Joint Scrutiny Committee are attached at 
Appendix 4  

 

Appendices 

• (1) Report to Cabinet on 22 August 2013 – Creation of a Supervisory Board     
for the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership  

• (2) Draft Constitution  

• (3) Terms of Reference  

• (4) Draft Terms of Reference for the Joint Scrutiny Committee  

 

Report Author   

            Jane M Hackett, Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer  tel: 709258 

 

Page 302



CABINET 
 

22nd August 2013 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ECONOMY AND EDUCATION 
 

 
 

The Creation of a Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership 
Supervisory Board and Scrutiny Arrangements 

 
 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE 
 
 
To inform the Cabinet of the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership 
(GBSLEP) proposed Governance arrangements in relation to the management of the Single 
Local Growth Fund.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
That Cabinet agree:- 
 
1) to the establishment of a Joint Committee in accordance with Article 12 of the Constitution,  
the Localism Act 2011, and the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000 for the purposes of 
acting as a Supervisory Board for the GBSLEP for decisions on any funds devolved from 
government as part of a Single Local Growth Fund; 
 
2) that the GBSLEP draft constitution, terms of reference and scrutiny arrangements as 
detailed in the documents attached in the  Appendices be referred to Council for approval in 
accordance with the Constitution and Article 11 thereof ;  
 

3) that the Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer be authorised to make any 
amendments to the relevant documents and finalise the detail for the GBSLEP Constitution, 
terms of reference and scrutiny arrangements as the proposals are developed between the 
LEP and local authority members of the Joint Committee;  
 
4) to delegate to  the Leader and in his absence the Portfolio Holder for Economy and 
Education the membership position on the GBSLEP  as contained in the Terms of 
Reference with full voting rights on all Supervisory Board matters. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 303



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 

In October 2012 Lord Heseltine published his Independent report with recommendations on 
how to increase UK growth. Lord Heseltine was concerned that the variety of funding 
streams impacted on the ability to deliver growth. He recommended: 

 

“Recommendation 1: Central government should identify the budgets administered by 
different departments which support growth. These should be brought together into a 
single funding pot for local areas, without internal ring fences.” 

 

In its report, ‘The Greater Birmingham Project: the Path to Local Growth’, the Greater 
Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise partnership (GBSLEP) committed to forming a 
Supervisory Board comprised of the nine elected local authority leaders, if a substantial 
Single Pot  of funding was created.  The report stated that the Supervisory Board would: 

• Provide clear political accountability for the management of the Single Pot.   

• Operate a cabinet style of accountability and will be a formal governance structure 
between a Joint Committee and a Combined Authority. 

• Empower the LEP Board through formal decision making and a scheme of delegated 
authority. 

In the Government’s response to Lord Heseltine’s ‘No Stone Unturned’ it states that the 
strength of governance arrangements in place, including decision-making structures for local 
authorities and for joint LEP and local authority decision-making on spend will be a key 
criteria in the negotiations around accessing the Single Local Growth Fund.  

The report stipulates that: “Local authorities will manage and account for the localised 
funding through binding and long-lived decision-making structures such as joint leaders 
committee as a minimum, or combined authority (preferable), or other similar arrangement”.   

There is therefore a clear expectation that robust governance arrangements will be in place 
for each LEP, regardless of the scale of the Single Pot. 
 
Work has been undertaken by GBSLEP over the past few months to develop proposals for 
the Supervisory Board. Various options were discussed by GBSLEP Leaders on the 13th 
June. The draft Constitution attached at Appendix 1 reflects the outcome of this discussion.  

The proposal is to establish the Supervisory Board as a Joint Committee with each Council 
delegating functions to it.   

Terms of reference have been drafted and are in Appendix B. A paper detailing the Draft 
Scrutiny arrangements is in Appendix C.  

Once each local authority has the appropriate approvals, the LEP Board’s Articles of 
Association should be reviewed and amended as necessary to reflect the new governance 
model. It is intended that the Supervisory Board should be in operation by end of September 
2013.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 304



 
 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
None identified at this stage 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
The Legal implications are detailed in the report. There are no identified risk implications at 
this stage.  
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
None identified 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
None 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
Matthew Bowers, Head of Planning and Regeneration x276 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
A – Draft constitution 
B – Terms of reference 
C – Scrutiny arrangements  
 

Page 305



Page 306

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda item No 3b 
 

01/07/2013  1 of 2 

Appendix 1 
 

Supervisory Board: Draft Constitution 
 

1 Governance 
 

The Supervisory Board will act as a Joint Committee under ss 101, 102 Local Government 
Act 1972 and s 20 Local Government Act 2000 and pursuant to the Local Authorities 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012 
 
Political Proportionality rules will not apply to the Supervisory Board as so constituted. 

 
1.1 Access to Meetings 
 

Normal rules apply as to public access i.e. as a Joint Committee the public has access 
except for exempt business. 

 
1.2  Approvals Process 
 

Cabinet authority at each constituent authority will be required to authorise and delegate 
functions to the Joint Committee. Local Authorities may also need to take it through Full 
Council depending on their Constitution.  

 
1.3 Host Authority 
 

The Supervisory Board will be hosted under local government arrangements by Birmingham 
City Council and the Chief Executive or nominated Strategic Director of Birmingham City 
Council shall be Secretary to the Supervisory Board. Birmingham City Council Standing 
Orders will apply to the Supervisory Board. The Host Authority will also provide s151 and 
Monitoring Officer roles to the Joint Committee. 

 
2 Objects of Supervisory Board 
 
2.1 To provide effective decision making and clear political accountability for management of the 

Single Local Growth Fund and other significant funding streams that cover the full GBS LEP 
geography as agreed with the LEP Board; 

 

2.2 To empower the GBSLEP Board; 

 

2.3 To co-ordinate and liaise with GBS Local Transport Board; and  

 

2.4 To consider any further measures necessary to strengthen the GBSLEP Board. 
 
3 Membership 
 
3.1 One member from each constituent authority. Such member to be the Leader (or other 

appointed member) from each constituent authority (voting). 

 

3.2 The Chair of GBSLEP (non-voting). 

 

3.3 Each Supervisory Board member should identify an alternate.  
 
4 Voting 

 

4.1 One member one vote for local authority members.  
 

Page 307



Agenda item No 3b 
 

01/07/2013  2 of 2 

4.2 Normal rules as to declarations of interest to be applied in accordance with the law and 
regulations governing pecuniary interests and Birmingham City Council Code of Conduct. 
The Chair has the right to decide whether observers declaring an interest can observe the 
meeting or should be asked to leave.  

 

4.3 No ability to vote for private sector members. Under current legislation private sector 
members are not allowed to vote on such a Joint Committee.  

 
5 Quorum 
 
5.1 Four members present (one from Birmingham City Council, one from Solihull MBC, one 

District from Staffordshire and one District from Worcestershire).  
 
6 Meetings 
 
6.1 The Chair of the Meeting will be [elected at the first meeting]. Terms of Reference and 

Standing Orders will provide for an appropriate substitute in the event of unavailability.  

 

6.2 The Supervisory Board will normally meet on the same day and immediately following the 
GBSLEP Board meeting, but meetings can be called at other times as needed.   

 
7 Scrutiny 

 

7.1 Local Authorities are required under s21 Local Government Act 2000 to ensure that their 
overview and scrutiny committees have power to “review or scrutinise decisions made by the 
executive”. As Districts are delegating their executive decision making a Joint Scrutiny 
Committee will be appointed to oversee the decisions of the Supervisory Board. Its 
membership will be drawn from the nine local authorities and its focus will be on Call-In of 
decisions.    

 

Page 308



       

         
  

 

 

09/12/2013  1 of 3 

  
Supervisory Board: Draft Terms of Reference 

1.  Governance 

1.1 The Supervisory Board acts as a Joint Committee under ss 101, 102 Local 
Government Act 1972 and s 20 Local Government Act 2000 and pursuant to 
the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

 
1.2 Political Proportionality rules will not apply to the Supervisory Board as so 

constituted. 

2. Host Authority 

2.1 The Supervisory Board will be hosted under local government arrangements 
by Birmingham City Council and the Chief Executive or nominated Strategic 
Director of Birmingham City Council shall be Secretary to the Supervisory 
Board. The Host Authority will also provide s151 and Monitoring Officer roles 
to the Joint Committee. 

3.  Objects of Supervisory Board 

3.1.  To provide effective decision making and clear political accountability for 
management of the Single Local Growth Fund and other significant funding 
streams that cover the full GBS LEP geography as agreed with the LEP 
Board; 

 
3.2.  To empower the GBSLEP Board; 
 
3.3   To oversee and review the activities of the GBSLEP Board;  
 
3.4.  To co-ordinate and liaise with GBS Local Transport Board; and  
 
3.5    To consider any further measures necessary to strengthen the GBSLEP 

Board. 

4.  Membership 

4.1.  One member from each constituent authority. Such member to be the Leader 
(or other appointed member) from each constituent authority (voting). 

  
4.2.  The Chair of GBSLEP (non-voting). 
 
4.3   Each Supervisory Board member to identify an alternate.  

5.  Voting 

5.1.  One member one vote for local authority members.  
 
5.2.  Normal rules as to declarations of interest to be applied in accordance with 

the law and regulations governing pecuniary interests and Birmingham City 
Council Code of Conduct. The Chair has the right to decide whether 
observers declaring an interest can observe the meeting or should be asked 
to leave.  

 

Page 309



       

         
  

 

 

09/12/2013  2 of 3 

5.3.  No ability to vote for private sector members.  
 
5.4.  In the event of any voting member of the Committee ceasing to be a member 

of the Council which appointed him/her, the Council shall forthwith appoint 
another voting member in his/her place.   

5.5  Except as otherwise provided by the Local Government Acts 1972 and 1985, 
all questions shall be decided by a majority of the votes of  the voting 
members present, the Chair having the casting vote in addition to his/her vote 
as a Member of the Committee. 

6  Quorum 

 
6.1.  Four members present (one from Birmingham City Council, one from Solihull 

MBC, one District from Staffordshire and one District from Worcestershire).  

7  Meetings 

 
7.1.  The Chair of the Meeting will be elected at the first meeting and then each 

Annual Meeting of the Supervisory Board (usually on the same day as the 
LEP’s AGM) and if the Chair is not present at any meeting within 10 minutes 
of the start of the meeting then those present will elect a Chair to act for that 
meeting.  

 
7.2  Only a voting member is entitled to be elected as Chair or Vice-Chair of the 

Committee. 
 
7.3 Each person entitled to attend will send an alternate as per para 4.3  in the 

event of his or her unavailability. The Secretary for the Supervisory Board 
shall be informed prior to the commencement of the meeting of any alternate  
members attending. 

7.4  The Supervisory Board will normally meet on the same day and immediately 
following the GBSLEP Board meeting, but meetings can be called at other 
times as needed.  A meeting of the Supervisory Board must be convened by 
the Chair within 28 days of the receipt of a requisition of any two voting 
members of the Supervisory Board addressed to the Secretary to the 
Supervisory Board.  All requisitions shall be in writing and no business other 
than that specified in the requisition shall be transacted at such a meeting. 

8 Standing Orders 

8.1. Standing Orders for the Supervisory Board shall be the Standing Orders 
from time to time of Birmingham City Council 

9 Administration 

9.1 (i) The Secretary shall keep proper accounts of the money received and 
expended by the Supervisory Board. 

9.1 (ii) The Secretary shall apportion the expenses of the Supervisory Board 
between the Councils in proportion to the population of each Council in the 
Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership area. 

Page 310



       

         
  

 

 

09/12/2013  3 of 3 

9.2  This Terms of Reference and, subject as hereinafter mentioned, the 
functions of the Supervisory Board may be amended at any time by the 
unanimous agreement of the voting members of the Supervisory Board. 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 311



Page 312

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

 

GBSLEP Joint Scrutiny Committee – Draft Terms of Reference  
 

1.       Governance 
 

The Joint Scrutiny Committee will act as a Joint Committee under sections 
101 and 102 Local Government Act 1972 and s9F Local Government Act 
2000 (as amended). 

 
1.2  Access to Meetings 
 

Normal rules apply as to public access i.e. as a Joint Committee the public 
has access except for exempt business. 

 
1.3  Host Authority 
 
1.3.1 The Joint Scrutiny Committee will be hosted under local government 

arrangements by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council and the Chief 
Executive of Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council shall be Secretary to the 
Joint Scrutiny Committee. 

 
1.3.2 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Standing Orders will apply to the Joint Scrutiny 

Committee (save for section 5 below). 
 
1.3.3 The Host Authority will also provide s151 and Monitoring Officer roles to the 

Joint Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
2.   Objects of Joint Scrutiny Committee 
 
2.1  To review and/or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 

connection with the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of 
the Supervisory Board  

 

2.2  To make reports or recommendations to the Supervisory Board with respect 
to the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the 
Supervisory Board. 

 
3.  Membership 
 
3.1 One member from each constituent authority. 
 
3.2 Power for the committee to co-opt other members as it sees fit [this can 

include further councillors but also covers ability to co-opt members from the 
private sector etc.] 

 
4.   Voting 

4.1  One member one vote for local authority members i.e. nine in total.  
 
4.2 No ability to vote for non-local authority members or Members co-opted under 

(3.2). 
 

Page 313



Appendix 2 

 

4.3  Conflicts of Interest will be dealt with in accordance with the Members Code 
of Conduct of the Host authority. 

 
5   Quorum 
 
5.1 Four members present (one from Birmingham City Council, one from Solihull 

MBC, one District from Staffordshire and one District from Worcestershire).  
 
6  Meetings 
 
6.1 The Chair of the Meeting will be elected at the first meeting of the Committee 

at the start of each municipal year. A Vice Chair shall also be elected at the 
same meeting.  

 
6.2 Meetings are to take place when there is a valid call-in of a decision and also 

when the Committee considers it expedient to have an overview of the overall 
expressed purpose and intended outcomes of the GBSLEP provided that a 
minimum of one meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee shall be held in 
each municipal year. 

Page 314



COUNCIL 

 
17 DECEMBER 2013 

 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 

ENVIRONMENT AND WASTE MANAGEMENT AND CABINET 

 
 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 2013-2016 

 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 

Nil 

 
 
PURPOSE 

To seek Council approval of Tamworth’s Statement of Policy under the Gambling Act 
2005. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That Council adopt the Statement of Policy. 
 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Prior to the implementation of the Gambling Act 2005, Tamworth published a 
statement of policy which, following widespread consultation, was subsequently 
adopted by the Council in January 2010.  There is a requirement, however, under the 
Act for this policy to be reviewed every 3 years. 
 
The review of the Policy was undertaken earlier this year using Gambling 
Commission guidance which is considered best practice for licensing authorities.  
The consultation included all relevant responsible authorities and interested parties 
including licence holders, residents and other interested bodies.  No responses to the 
consultation were received. 
 
Licensing Committee considered the Policy at its meeting on 8 August 2013 and 
Cabinet endorsed the proposed Statement of Policy on 24 October 2013.     
 
The consultation has provided opportunity for all stakeholders and interested parties 
to assist in determining the Council’s policy in respect of the Gambling Act.  The final 
version of the Statement of Policy is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 

 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 

The publishing of a Statement of Principles is a legal obligation of the Council. 
 
Reputation – The implementation and enforcement of the Gambling legislation will 
enhance the Council’s reputation. 

Agenda Item 11

Page 315



 
Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998). The objectives of the Gambling 
Act seek to ensure that communities are protected from unfair trading, crime and 
disorder and that vulnerable people and children are not exploited in any way be 
gambling. 
 
Equality & Diversity – None, this report has been prepared having regard to the 
Council's Diversity and Equality Policies and Consultation requirements are set out in 
the report. 
 

 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

The services for the regulation of Gambling contribute to the strategic priority of being 
healthier and safer in Tamworth. 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   

1. Guidance to Licensing Authorities, Gambling Commission, April 2012. 
 

 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 

“If Members would like further information or clarification prior to the meeting please 
contact Steve Lewis, Head of Environmental Health. Ext 437 
 

 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Nil 

 
 
APPENDICES 

1. Proposed Statement of Principles 2013 - 2016. 
 

Page 316



 

 
  

            
 
 
 
 
 

TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
 
 
 

DRAFT STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 
2013 - 2016 

 

Page 317



 1 

CONTENTS 
 
Section 
 

Subject Page 
 

PART A 
1.0 
 

 
The Licensing Objectives  .................................................. 

 
 2 

2.0 Introduction   2 
3.0 Declaration  .......................................................................  4 
4.0 Responsible Authorities .....................................................  5 
5.0 Interested Parties ...............................................................  5 
6.0 Exchange of Information ....................................................  7 
7.0 Enforcement ......................................................................  8 
8.0 The Licensing Process and Delegation of Functions ..........  9 
9.0 Licensing Authority Functions ............................................  11 

 
PART B PREMISES LICENCES  

10.0 General Principles .............................................................  11 
11.0 Adult Gaming Centres ........................................................  19 
12.0 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres ..........................  19 
13.0 Casinos  .......................................................................  20 
14.0 Bingo  .......................................................................  21 
15.0 Betting Premises ................................................................  22 
16.0 Tracks  .......................................................................  22 
17.0 Travelling Fairs ..................................................................  24 
18.0 Provisional Statements ......................................................  25 
19.0 Reviews  .......................................................................  26 

 
PART C PERMITS / TEMPORARY & OCCASIONAL USE NOTICES  

20.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Gaming Machine Permits  27 
21.0 Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits  28 
22.0 Prize Gaming Permits  29 
23.0 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits  30 
24.0 Temporary Use Notices  31 
25.0 Occasional Use Notices  32 

 
PART D FURTHER INFORMATION   

26.0 Further Information  34 
 APPENDIX 1 List of Consultees   

 
This Statement of Licensing Principles was approved by [x][ Council on [date] 
 
All references to the Guidance refer to the Gambling Commission's Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, 4th Edition, published  June 2012. 
 
 

 

Page 318



 2 

PART A -  
 
1.0 The Licensing Objectives 
 
1.1 The Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council as the licensing authority to 

carry out its various licensing functions with a view to promoting the 
following three licensing objectives: 

· preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime; 

· ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and 

· protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling. 

 
1.2 It should be noted that the requirement in relation to children is explicitly to 

protect them from being harmed or exploited by gambling”.   
 
1.3 This licensing authority in making decisions about premises licences and 

temporary use notices will aim to permit the use of premises for gambling 
in so far as the authority thinks it: 
 

· in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission; 

· in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

· reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and; 

· in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy. 
 
2.0 Introduction 
 
2.1 The Gambling Act 2005 introduced a new regime for the regulation of all 

forms of gambling in the United Kingdom and came into force in 
September 2007.  It repealed the Betting Gaming and Lotteries Act 1963; 
the Gaming Act 1968 and the Lotteries and Amusements Act 1976 and 
gave to local authorities new and extended responsibilities for licensing 
premises for gambling.  Some responsibilities which previously lay with 
local licensing justices passed to the local authority, such as betting, 
casino gaming and bingo. 

 
2.2 This document sets out the approach that Tamworth Borough Council as 

the licensing authority takes, in respect of the responsibilities given to it 
under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
2.3 The Borough of Tamworth is located in the south-eastern corner of 

Staffordshire, 15 miles north-east of Birmingham and covers an area of 
3,095 hectares.  It is situated at the confluence of two rivers, the river 
Tame and Anker. Tamworth is essentially urban in character, which 
includes a vibrant town centre and smaller centres within local districts. 

   

Page 319



 3 

2.4 Tamworth’s resident population of around 76,800 makes it one of the main 
urban centres in Southern Staffordshire.  It has the highest population 
density (24.9 people per hectare) of all Southern Staffordshire districts 
and second only to Stoke on Trent (26.6 people per hectare) in the 
County as a whole.  (Source – Census 2011, ONS). 

 
2.5 The Council area is illustrated on the map below 
 

  
 
 

2.6 Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to 
publish a statement of the principles which they proposed to apply when 
exercising their functions.  This statement must be published at least every 
3 years.  The statement must also be reviewed from “time to time” and any 
amended parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must be then re-
published. 

 
2.7 Tamworth Borough Council consulted widely upon this statement before 

finalising and publishing.  A list of those persons consulted is provided at 
Appendix 1.   

 
2.8 The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by 

licensing authorities: 
 

· The Chief Officer of Police; 

· One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the 
authority’s area; 

· One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of 
the authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 

Page 320



 4 

2.9 Our consultation will take place between July 2013 and October 2013 and 
we followed the HM Government Code of Practice on Consultation 
(published July 2008), which is available at:  

 
http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file47158.pdf 

 
2.10 The full list of comments made and the consideration by the Council of 

those comments is available by request to:  
 
 Environment Health and Regulatory Services, Public Health Team,  
 Tamworth Borough Council, Marmion House Lichfield Street,  
 Tamworth, B79 7BZ   
 or via the Council’s website at: www.tamworth.gov.uk 
. 
2.11 This draft will be presented for approval at future Committee/Full Council 

and published via our website. Copies will be placed in the public libraries 
of the area as well as being available in the Council Offices at Marmion 
House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth B79 7BZ. 

 
2.12 Should you have any comments as regards this policy statement please 

send them via e-mail or letter to the following contact: 
 
  Head of Environmental Health  
 Environment Health and Regulatory Services  
 Tamworth Borough Council, Marmion House Lichfield Street, 
 Tamworth, B79 7BZ   
 or via email: publicprotection@tamworth.gov.uk 
 tel: 01827 709437; or 01827 709445 
 
2.13 This statement of principles will be applied during the 3 year period from 

31 January 2013 until 31 January 2016 and during that time will be kept 
under review and revised when and if appropriate, during that 3 year 
period. 

 
2.14 This document should be read in conjunction with the Act, Regulations 

made under the Act and Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. 
This statement is designed to be a strategic gambling policy, not an 
operational guide to the Act. 

 
2.15 It should be noted that this statement of licensing principles will not 

override the right of any person to make an application, make 
representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence, as 
each will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory 
requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.   

 
3.0 Declaration 
 
3.1 In producing the final statement, this licensing authority declares that it has 

had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission, and 
any responses from those consulted on the statement. 

Page 321



 5 

 
3.2 In carrying out its licensing functions the Authority will have regard to any 

guidance issued by the Gambling Commission from time to time. 
 
3.3 The Authority will not seek to use the Act to resolve matters more readily 

dealt with under other legislation.   
 
3.4 To ensure the licensing objectives are met, the Authority has a close 

working relationship with the Police, the Gambling Commission and, where 
appropriate, other responsible authorities. 

 
4.0  Responsible Authorities 
 
4.1 These are generally public bodies that must be notified of all applications 

and who are entitled to make representations to the licensing authority if 
they are relevant to the licensing objectives. 

 
4.2 Section 157 of the Act defines those authorities as: 

· the Gambling Commission; 

· the Police; 

· the Fire Service; 

· the Local Planning Authority; 

· Environmental Health; 

· HM Revenue and Customs; 

· a licensing authority in whose area the premises is situated (that is, 
the Council itself and also any adjoining Council where premises 
straddle the boundaries between the two).   

 
4.3 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it 

will apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to 
designate, in writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority 
about the protection of children from harm.  The principles are: 

· the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the 
whole of the licensing authority’s area; and 

· the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected 
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group. 

 
4.4 In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s 

Guidance to licensing authorities, this authority designates the 
Staffordshire Safeguarding Children's Board, and the Health and 
Consumer Services Trading Standards Department or any successor 
Board or Directorate of Staffordshire County Council for this purpose. 

 
4.5  The contact details of all the responsible authorities under the Gambling 

Act 2005 are available via the Council’s website at 
www.tamworth.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 322



 6 

5.0 Interested Parties 
 
5.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or 

apply for a review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as follows: 

 “For the purposes of this part, a person is an interested party in relation to 
an application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of 
the licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the applications 
is made, the person - 

 
  a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by 

the authorised activities; 
 b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 

activities; or 
 c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b).” 
 
5.2 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it 

will apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to 
determine whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are:   

 
5.3 Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a 

rigid rule to its decision making.  It will consider the examples of 
considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 
licensing authorities at 8.11 and 8.19. 

 
5.4 It will also consider the Gambling Commission's Guidance that "has 

business interests" should be given the widest possible interpretation and 
include partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 

 
5.5 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as 

councillors and MPs.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an 
interested person will be required as long as the councillor/MP represents 
the ward likely to be affected.  Likewise Parish Councils likely to be 
affected will be considered to be interested parties.  Other than these 
however, this authority will generally require written evidence that a 
person/body (e.g. an advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who either 
lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities and/or has business interests that might be affected 
by the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons, requesting 
the representation is sufficient. 

 
5.6 If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their 

views, then care should be taken that the councillors are not part of the 
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are any 
doubts then please contact the Environment, Health and Regulatory 
Services Team on 01827 709445 or email 
publicprotection@tamworth.gov.uk 

 
5.7 In determining whether someone lives sufficiently close to a particular 

premises as to likely to be affected by the authorised activities, or has 

Page 323



 7 

business interests likely to be affected, the licensing authority may take 
account of: 

 

· the size of the premises 

· the nature of the premises 

· the distance of the premises from the location of the person making the 
representation 

· the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes 
likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment); and 

· the nature of the complainant.  This is not the personal characteristics 
of the complainant but the interests of the complainant which may be 
relevant to the distance from the premises.  For example, it could be 
reasonable for an authority to conclude that “sufficiently close to be 
likely to be affected” could have a different meaning for (a) a private 
resident (b) a residential school for children with truanting problems 
and (c) residential hostel for vulnerable adults.  

 
5.8 In respect of representations made by a gambling business, the licensing 

authority will have regard to any guidance on this matter in current 
Gambling Commission Guidance to licensing authorities.  The licensing 
authority should be satisfied that the relevant business is likely to be 
affected.  In this respect the licensing authority should bear in mind that 
the “demand test” in the 1963 and 1968 Acts has not been preserved in 
the 2005 Act.  Factors that are likely to be relevant include: 

· the size of the premises; 

· the ‘catchment’ area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit); 
and 

· whether the person making the representation has business interests 
in the catchment area, that might be affected.”  

 
5.9 The licensing authority will not consider representations that are frivolous 

or vexatious, or which relate to demand or need for gambling facilities.  
Decisions on whether representations are frivolous or vexatious will be 
made objectively and not on the basis of any political judgement.  Where 
representations are rejected, the person making that representation will be 
given a written reason.  A report will be made to the licensing committee 
determining the application (if appropriate), indicating the general grounds 
of the representation and the reason it was rejected.   

 
5.10 A vexatious representation is generally taken to be one which is repetitive, 

without foundation or made for some other reason such as malice.  A 
frivolous representation is generally taken to be one that is lacking in 
seriousness, or is unrelated to the licensing objectives, guidance issued by 
the Gambling Commission or this statement of principles. 

 
6.0 Exchange of Information 
 
6.1 Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the 

principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under 
sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information 
between it and the Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 

Page 324



 8 

350 of the Act with the respect to the exchange of information between it 
and the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

 
6.2 The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in 

accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange 
of information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 
1998 will not be contravened.  The licensing authority will also have regard 
to any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to local authorities 
on this matter as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary 
of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
6.3  Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with 

other bodies then they will be made available 
 

7.0 Enforcement  
 
7.1 Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 

2005 to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the 
functions under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of 
premises; and the powers under section 346 of the Act to institute criminal 
proceedings in respect of the offences specified. 

 
7.2 This licensing authority’s principles are that: 
 

It will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local 
authorities and will endeavour to be: 
 

· Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  
remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs 
identified and minimised; 

· Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be 
subject to public scrutiny; 

· Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented 
fairly; 

· Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple 
and user friendly;  and 

· Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and 
minimise side effects.  

 
7.3 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities this 

licensing authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory 
regimes so far as possible. 

 
7.4 This licensing authority will also adopt a risk-based inspection programme 

based on 

· The licensing objectives 

· Relevant codes of practice 

· Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 
36 

· The principles set out in this statement of principles 
 

Page 325



 9 

7.5 The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in 
terms of the Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises 
licences and other permissions which it authorises.  

 
7.6 The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for the operating and 

personal licences. Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of 
gaming machines are not dealt with by the licensing authority but will be 
notified to the Gambling Commission.   

 
7.7 This licensing authority also keeps itself informed of developments as 

regards the Regulators Compliance Code and the Principal of the 
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. 

 
 
 
 

7.8 Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this licensing authority’s 
enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available 
upon request to the Head of Environmental Health, Tamworth Borough 
Council. 

 
8.0 The Licensing Process and Delegation of Functions 
 
8.1 Licensing authorities are required under the Act to: 

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to 
take place by issuing Premises Licences  

 Issue Provisional Statements  
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 

undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or 
Club Machine Permits  

 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs  
 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 

unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres  
 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 

2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines  
 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 

sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines  

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds  
 Issue Prize Gaming Permits  
 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices  
 Receive Occasional Use Notices  
 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 

licences issued (see section above on ‘information exchange) 
 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 

functions 
 
It should be noted that licensing authorities are not be involved in licensing 
remote gambling at all, which is regulated by the Gambling Commission via 
operating licences. 
 
8.2 Applications are determined in accordance with the following delegation 

criteria: 
  

Page 326



 10 

Table of Delegations of Licensing Functions 
 
Matter to be Dealt With 
 

Full 
Council 

Licensing Committee Officers 

3 year licensing policy 
 

X 
  

Policy not to permit 
casinos 

X 
  

Fee Setting 
when appropriate 

 Executive / Cabinet  

Application for 
premises licences 

 

Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received / 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Application for a 
variation to a licence 

 

Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received / 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Application for a 
transfer of a licence 

 

Where representations 
have been received from 
the Commission 

Where no 
representations 
received from the 
Commission 

Application for a 
provisional statement 

 

Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received / 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Review of a premises 
licence 

 X 
 

Application for club 
gaming / club machine 
permits 

 

Where representations 
have been received and 
not withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received / 
representations 
have been 
withdrawn 

Cancellation of club 
gaming / club machine 
permits 

 X  

Applications for other 
permits 

  Refer to * below 

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits 

  X 

Consideration of 
temporary use notice 

  X 

Decision to give a  X  

Page 327



 11 

Matter to be Dealt With 
 

Full 
Council 

Licensing Committee Officers 

counter notice to a 
temporary use notice 

Determination as to 
whether a person is an 
Interested Party 

  X 

Determination as to 
whether 
representations are 
relevant 

  X 

Determination as 
whether a 
representation if 
frivolous, vexatious or 
repetitive 

  X 

 
X   Indicates at the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated. 
 
* In respect of applications for amusement with prizes machines in alcohol 

licensed premises, the following procedure will be adopted: 
 

i) Officers will determine under delegated authority, applications for 
amusement with prize machines where the application is for not more 
than 5 machines.   

 
ii) Applications for more than 5 amusement with prize machines will be 

referred to Licensing Committee for determination. 
 

9.0  Licensing Authority Functions 
 
9.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to: 

· Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities 
are to take place by issuing Premises Licences; 

· Issue Provisional Statements;  

· Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 
undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits 
and/or Club Machine Permits;  

· Issue Club Machine Permits to commercial clubs;  

· Grant Permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 
unlicensed family entertainment centres;  

· Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the 
Licensing Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines;  

· Issue licensed premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises 
licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed 
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than 
two machines; 

·  Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds  

· Issue Prize Gaming Permits; 

·  Receive and endorse Temporary Use Notices; 

·  Receive Occasional Use Notices; 

Page 328



 12 

·  Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 
licences issued (see section above on ‘information exchange); 

· Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under 
these functions. 

 
9.2 The licensing authority is not involved in licensing remote gambling at all, 

which is regulated by the Gambling Commission via operating licences. 
 
 

PART B 
PREMISES LICENCES: CONSIDERATION OF APPLICATIONS 

 

10.0 General Principles  
 
10.1 Premises licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling 

Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State.  Licensing authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also 
attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate. 

 
10.2  Decision – making 
 
10.3 This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises 

licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far 
as it thinks it: 

· in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission; 

· in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission ; 

· reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

· in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy. 
 
10.4 Objections made on moral grounds to gambling are not a valid reason to 

reject applications for premises licences" (except as regards any 'no 
casino resolution' - see section 13 on Casinos below).  In addition unmet 
demand is not a criterion for determining whether to grant a premises 
licence. 

 
10.5 The licensing authority will therefore consider any application in 

accordance with the Act, on it’s individual merits without regard to demand 
or moral objection to gambling in general.  

 
10.6 When applying these principles the licensing authority will consider, in the 

light of relevant representations, whether exceptions should be made in 
any particular case.  

 
10.7 Definition of “premises” – In the Act, "premises" is defined as including 

"any place".  Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises 
licence applying to any place.  But a single building could be subject to 
more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts of the 
building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably regarded 

Page 329



 13 

as being different premises.  This approach has been taken to allow large, 
multiple unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping 
mall to obtain discrete premises licences, where appropriate safeguards 
are in place.  However, licensing authorities should pay particular attention 
if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single building or plot and 
should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access between 
premises are observed. 

 
10.8 The Gambling Commission states in the fourth edition of its Guidance to 

Licensing Authorities that: “In most cases the expectation is that a single 
building/plot will be the subject of an application for a licence, for example, 
32 High Street.  But, that does not mean 32 High Street cannot be the 
subject of separate premises licences for the basement and ground floor, if 
they are configured acceptably.  Whether different parts of a building can 
properly be regarded as being separate premises will depend on the 
circumstances.  The location of the premises will clearly be an important 
consideration and the suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for 
discussion between the operator and the licensing officer. However, the 
Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially 
or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can 
properly be regarded as different premises.”  

 
10.9 This licensing authority takes particular note of the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities which states that: 
licensing authorities should take particular care in considering applications 
for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. In particular they should 
be aware of the following: 

· The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being 
harmed by gambling. In practice that means not only preventing them 
from taking part in gambling, but also preventing them from being in 
close proximity to gambling. Therefore premises should be configured 
so that children are not invited to participate in, have accidental access 
to or closely observe gambling where they are prohibited from 
participating.  

· Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not 
“drift” into a gambling area. In this context it should normally be 
possible to access the premises without going through another 
licensed premises or premises with a permit. 

· Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 
premises licence. 

 
10.10 The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority 

should be aware of, which may include: 

· Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates 

· Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or 
someone else? 

· Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 
passageway? 

Page 330



 14 

· Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling 
premises? 

 
10.11 This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.  
 
10.12 The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each 

premises type are reproduced below:  
 
10.13 Casinos 

· The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street 
(as defined at 7.23 of the Guidance, The Gambling Act 2005 
(Mandatory and Default Conditions) Regulations define street as 
“including any bridge, road, lane, footway, subway, square, court, alley 
or passage (including passages through enclosed premises such as 
shopping malls) whether a thoroughfare or not”.  This is to allow 
access, for example to casinos from hotel foyers).  

· No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or 
mainly by children and/or young persons  

· No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other 
premises which holds a gambling premises licence 

 
10.14 Adult Gaming Centre 

· No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any 
other licensed gambling premises 

 
 
10.15 Betting Shops 

· Access must be from a street (as per para 7.23 Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities) or from another premises with a betting premises licence 

· No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the 
retail sale of merchandise or services. In effect there cannot be an 
entrance to a betting shop from a shop of any kind and you could not 
have a betting shop at the back of a café – the whole area would have 
to be licensed.  

 
10.16 Tracks 

· No customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 
- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 

 
10.17 Bingo Premises 

· No customer must be able to access the premise directly from: 
- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 
- a betting premises, other than a track 

 
10.18 Family Entertainment Centre 

· No customer must be able to access the premises directly from: 
                  - a casino 

      - an adult gaming centre 

Page 331



 15 

      - a betting premises, other than a track 
 
10.19 Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 

contains further guidance on this issue, which this authority will also take 
into account in its decision-making. 

 
10.20 Premises “ready for gambling” 
 
10.21 The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should 

only be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be 
satisfied are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably 
near future, consistent with the scale of building or alterations required 
before the premises are brought into use.  

 
10.22 If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need 

alteration, or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then 
an application for a provisional statement should be made instead.  

 
10.23 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 

outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority 
will determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage 
consideration process:- 

· First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for 
gambling  

· Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater 
for the situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which 
they ought to be before gambling takes place. 

 
10.24 Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is 

appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to 
grant such a licence.  

 
10.25 More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may 

be granted can be found in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities under “Relationship between planning permission, 
building regulations and granting of a premises licence. 

 
10.26 Location - This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be 

considered with regard to the location of premises but that considerations 
in terms of the licensing objectives are relevant to its decision-making.  As 
per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this 
authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well 
as issues of crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided 
upon as regards areas where gambling premises should not be located, 
this statement will be updated.  It should be noted that any such policy 
does not preclude any application being made and each application will be 
decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how 
potential concerns can be overcome.   

 

Page 332



 16 

10.27 Planning - The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
states:7.59 – In determining applications the licensing authority has a duty 
to take into consideration all relevant matters and not to take into 
consideration any irrelevant matters, i.e. those not related to gambling and 
the licensing objectives. One example of an irrelevant matter would be the 
likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building 
regulations approval for their proposal. 

 
10.28 This authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as per the above 

guidance. In addition this authority notes the following excerpt from the 
Guidance: 7.66 - When dealing with a premises licence application for 
finished buildings, the licensing authority should not take into account 
whether those buildings have or comply with the necessary planning or 
building consents.  Those matters should be dealt with under relevant 
planning control and building regulation powers, and not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.  Section 210 of the 2005 Act 
prevents licensing authorities taking into account the likelihood of the 
proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or building consent when 
considering a premises licence application.  Equally the grant of a 
gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that 
may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building. 

 
10.29 Duplication with other regulatory regimes - This licensing authority 

seeks to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems 
where possible, including planning.  This authority will not consider 
whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning permission 
or building regulations approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though, 
listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which are 
not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a 
situation arise. 

 
10.30 When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, 

this authority will not take into account whether those buildings have to 
comply with the necessary planning or buildings consents. Fire or health 
and safety risks will not be taken into account, as these matters are dealt 
with under relevant planning control, buildings and other regulations and 
must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.  

 
10.31 Licensing objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably 

consistent with the licensing objectives.  With regard to these objectives, 
this licensing authority has considered the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities and some comments are made below. 

 
10.32 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime - 
This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a 
leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The 
Gambling Commission's Guidance does however envisage that licensing 
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling 
premises in terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, where an area has 
known high levels of organised crime this authority will consider carefully 

Page 333



 17 

whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether 
conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This 
licensing authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and 
nuisance and will consider factors (for example whether police assistance 
was required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could 
see it) so as to make that distinction.   

 
10.33 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way - This 

licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it 
generally does not expect licensing authorities to be concerned with 
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be 
addressed via operating and personal licences.  There is however, more of 
a role with regard to tracks which is explained in more detail in the 'tracks' 
section–16.  

 

10.34 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling - This licensing authority has noted the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance that this objective means preventing 
children from taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising 
so that gambling products are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to 
children).  The licensing authority will therefore consider, as suggested in 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, whether specific measures are 
required at particular premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  
Appropriate measures may include supervision of entrances / machines, 
segregation of areas etc.  

 
10.35 This licensing authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Codes 

of Practice as regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific 
premises.   

 
10.36 As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling 

Commission does not seek to offer a definition but states that “it will for 
regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble 
more than they want to; people who gambling beyond their means; and 
people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions 
about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.”  This 
licensing authority will consider this licensing objective on a case by case 
basis.   

 
10.37 Conditions - Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and 

will be: 

· relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility; 

· directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

· fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 

· reasonable in all other respects.  
 
10.38 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case 

basis, although there will be a number of measures this licensing authority 
will consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc.  There are 

Page 334



 18 

specific comments made in this regard under some of the licence types 
below.  This licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to 
offer his/her own suggestions as to the way in which the licensing 
objectives can be met effectively. 

 
10.39 This licensing authority will also consider specific measures which may be 

required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  
Such measures may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of 
gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the 
supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises 
in order to pursue the licensing objectives.  These matters are in 
accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance. 

 
10.40 This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines 

are on offer in premises to which children are admitted: 

· all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier 
which is effective to prevent access other than through a designated 
entrance; 

· only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are 
located; 

· access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

· the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can 
be observed by the staff or the licence holder; and 

· at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where 
multiple premises licences are applicable. 

 
10.41 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 

than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified 
area of the track.  As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this 
licensing authority will consider the impact upon the third licensing 
objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises 
are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they 
are not permitted to enter. 

 
10.42 It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot 

attach to premises licences which are: 

· any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to 
comply with an operating licence condition;  

· conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method 
of operation; 

· conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be 
required (the Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership 
requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it 
being reinstated; and 

· conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes. 
 

Page 335



 19 

10.43 Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities that if a licensing authority is concerned that a 
premises may attract disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised 
access (for example by children and young persons) then it may require 
that the entrances to the premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and 
is entitled to impose a premises licence to this effect.  

 
10.44 Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate 

for particular cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA 
licensed or not will be necessary.  It will not be automatically assumed that 
they need to be licensed, as the statutory requirements for different types 
of premises vary (as per the Guidance, Part 33). 

 
11.0 Adult Gaming Centres 
 
11.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 

children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be 
sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not 
have access to the premises.   

 
11.2 This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 

objectives, such as: 
 

· Proof of age schemes; 

· CCTV; 

· Supervision of entrances/machine areas; 

· Physical separation of areas; 

· Location of entry; 

· Notices/signage; 

· Specific opening hours; 

· Self-exclusion schemes; 

· Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare. 

 
11.3 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of 

example measures. 
 
11.4 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will 
expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly 
imposed.  Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must 
demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or 
the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default 
conditions. 

 
12.0 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 
 
12.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 

children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 

Page 336



 20 

and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, that there 
will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machine areas.   

 
12.2 This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 

objectives, such as: 
 

· CCTV; 

· Supervision of entrances/machine areas; 

· Physical separation of areas; 

· Location of entry; 

· Notices/signage; 

· Specific opening hours; 

· Self-exclusion schemes; 

· Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare; 

· Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises. 

 
12.3 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of 

example measures. 
 
12.4 This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, 

refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to 
operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the 
category C machines should be delineated.  This licensing authority will 
also make itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions on these 
premises licences, when they have been published.   

 
 
12.5 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will 
expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly 
imposed.  Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must 
demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or 
the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default 
conditions. 

 
13.0 Casinos 
 
13.1 No casino resolution - This licensing authority has not passed a ‘no 

casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is 
aware that it has the power to do so.    

 
 
13.2 Should this licensing authority decide in the future to pass such a 

resolution, it will update this policy statement with details of that resolution.  
Any such decision will be made by the Full Council.   

 

Page 337



 21 

13.4 Casinos and competitive bidding - This licensing authority is aware that 
where a licensing authority area is enabled to grant a premises licence for 
a small /large casino there are likely to be a number of operators which will 
want to run the casino.  In such situations the licensing authority will run a 
‘competition’ under Schedule 9 of the Gambling Act 2005.  This licensing 
authority will run such a competition in line with the Gambling (Inviting 
Competing Applications for Large and Small Casino Premises Licences) 
Regulations 2008, as well as following the procedure set out in Part 17 of 
the Guidance.  

 
13.5 Licence considerations/conditions – This licensing authority will attach 

conditions to casino premises licences according to the principles set out 
in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance at paragraph 9, bearing in mind 
the mandatory conditions listed in paragraph 17 of the Guidance, and the 
Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice published by the Gambling 
Commission.  

 
13.6 Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling 

Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the 
number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, 
and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and 
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable 
people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer. 

 
 
 
 

14.0 Bingo Premises 
 
14.1 This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 

states: 
 

18.4 - Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can 
be played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. 
This will be a relevant consideration where the operator of an existing 
bingo premises applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the 
existing premises from its ambit and then applies for a new premises 
licence, or multiple licences, for that or those excluded areas.  

 
14.2 This authority also notes the Guidance at paragraph – 

18.8 - regarding the unusual circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-
existing premises into two adjacent premises might be permitted, and in 
particular that it is not permissible to locate sixteen category B3 gaming 
machines in one of the resulting premises, as the gaming machine 
entitlement for that premises would be exceeded.  
18.7 - Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; 
however they are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B 
or C machines are made available for use these must be separated from 
areas where children and young people are allowed.  
 

14.3 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 
mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will 

Page 338



 22 

expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly 
imposed.  Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must 
demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or 
the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default 
conditions. 
 

15.0  Betting Premises 
 
15.1 Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling 

Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the 
number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, 
and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and 
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable 
people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer. 

 
15.2 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door 

supervisors for the protection of the public.  The authority will make a door 
supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of 
trading at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised 
from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and 
proportionate. 

 
15.3 Betting premises are able to provide a limited number of gaming machines 

and some betting machines.   
 
15.4 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will 
expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly 
imposed.  Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must 
demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or 
the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default 
conditions. 

 
15.5 Each application will be considered on its own individual merits. 
 
16.0  Tracks 
 
16.1 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 

than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified 
area of the track.  

 
16.2 In accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing 

authority will especially consider the impact upon the third licensing 
objective (i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances 
to each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from 
gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 

Page 339



 23 

16.3 This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access 
to adult only gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons 
will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are 
provided on days when dog-racing and / or horse racing takes place, but 
that they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines 
(other than category D machines) are provided. 

 
16.4 This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 

objectives, such as: 
 

Proof of age schemes; 

· CCTV; 

· Supervision of entrances / machine areas; 

· Physical separation of areas; 

· Location of entry; 

· Notices / signage; 

· Specific opening hours; 

· Self-exclusion schemes; 

· Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare. 

 
16.5 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of 

example measures. 
 
16.6 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will 
expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly 
imposed.  Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must 
demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or 
the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default 
conditions. 

 
16.7 Gaming machines  Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating 

licence and is going to use the entitlement to four gaming machines, 
machines (other than category D machines) should be located in areas 
from which children are excluded 

 
 
 
 

16.8 Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per Part 6 of the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the 
premises and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by 
children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or 
by vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances 
of betting machines an operator proposes to offer. 

 
16.9 Applications and plans - The Gambling Act (s51) requires applicants to 

submit plans of the premises with their application, in order to ensure that 
the licensing authority has the necessary information to make an informed 
judgement about whether the premises are fit for gambling. The plan will 

Page 340



 24 

also be used for the licensing authority to plan future premises inspection 
activity. (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.28). 

 
16.10 Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be 

drawn to scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include the 
information required by regulations. (See Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities, para 20.29). 

 
16.11 Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is 

not defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point 
racetracks. In such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises 
licence holders may erect temporary structures to restrict access to 
premises (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.31). 

 
16.12 In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely 

that the track in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent 
holding of sporting events or races. In such cases betting facilities may be 
better provided through occasional use notices where the boundary 
premises do not need to be defined. 
(See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.32). 

 
16.13 This authority appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise 

location of betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting 
facilities are provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by 
virtue of the fact that betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and 
because of the difficulties associated with pinpointing exact locations for 
some types of track. Applicants should provide sufficient information that 
this authority can satisfy itself that the plan indicates the main areas where 
betting might take place. For racecourses in particular, any betting areas 
subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known as betting rings) must be 
indicated on the plan. (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.33). 

 
 
 
17.0 Travelling Fairs 
 
17.1  This licensing authority is responsible for deciding whether, where 

category D machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is 
to be made available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement 
that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary 
amusement at the fair is met. 

 
17.2 The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within 

the statutory definition of a travelling fair. 
 
17.3 It is noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a 

fair  applies on a per calendar year basis, and that it applies to the piece of 
land on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or 
different travelling fairs occupying the land.  This licensing authority will 
work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which crosses 
our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

Page 341



 25 

 
18.0 Provisional Statements 
 
18.1 Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements 

before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge 
whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to 
obtain a premises licence. There is no need for the applicant to hold an 
operating licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.  

 
18.2 Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an 

application to the licensing authority for a provisional statement in respect 
of premises that he or she: 

 -expects to be constructed; 
 -expects to be altered; or 
 -expects to acquire a right to occupy. 
 
18.3 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is 

the same as that for a premises licence application. The applicant is 
obliged to give notice of the application in the same way as applying for a 
premises licence. Responsible authorities and interested parties may 
make representations and there are rights of appeal.  

 
18.4 In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have 

to hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling 
Commission (except in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a 
right to occupy the premises in respect of which their provisional 
application is made.  

 
18.5 The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises 

licence once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The 
licensing authority will be constrained in the matters it can consider when 
determining the premises licence application, and in terms of 
representations about premises licence applications that follow the grant of 
a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless: 

· they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the 
provisional statement stage, or 

·  they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.   
 
18.6 In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on 

terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by 
reference to matters: 

· which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional 
statement stage;  

· which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances; or 

· where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the 
plan submitted with the application. This must be a substantial change 
to the plan and this licensing authority notes that it can discuss any 
concerns it has with the applicant before making a decision. 

 

Page 342



 26 

19.0 Reviews of Premises Licences 
 
19.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 

parties or responsible authorities; however, it is for the licensing authority 
to decide whether the review is to be carried-out.  This will be on the basis 
of whether the request for the review is relevant to the matters listed 
below; 

· in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission; 

· in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

· reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

· in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles. 
 
19.2 The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the 

authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will 
certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the 
licence, or whether it is substantially the same as previous representations 
or requests for review. 

 
19.3 The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises 

licence, or a particular class of premises licence on the basis of any 
reason which it thinks is appropriate. 

 
19.4 Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing 

authority, representations can be made by responsible authorities and 
interested parties during a 28 day period. This period begins 7 days after 
the application was received by the licensing authority, who will publish 
notice of the application within 7 days of receipt.  

 
19.5 The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after 

the 28 day period for making representations has passed.  
 
19.6 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing 

authority should take any action in relation to the licence. If action is 
justified, the options open to the licensing authority are:-  

 
(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the licensing 

authority; 
(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. 

opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion; 
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; 

and 
(d) revoke the premises licence. 

 
19.7 In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the 

licensing authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 
of the Act, as well as any relevant representations. 

 
19.8 In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a 

premises licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not 

Page 343



 27 

provided facilities for gambling at the premises. This is to prevent people 
from applying for licences in a speculative manner without intending to use 
them. 

 
19.9 Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as 

soon as possible, notify its decision to: 
- the licence holder 
- the applicant for review (if any) 
- the Commission 
- any person who made representations 
- the chief officer of police or chief constable; and 
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs 

 

19.10 Licensing authority officers may be involved in the initial investigations of 
complaints leading to a review, or may try informal mediation or dispute 
resolution before a full review is conducted.  Unlike the Licensing Act 
2003, the licensing authority may review premises licences of its’ own 
volition.  A referral to the Licensing Committee of a premises licence for a 
review will be first approved by the Assistant Director (Environment and 
Regulatory Services). 

 
19.11 The Gambling Commission is a responsible authority in premises licence 

reviews.   
 
 

PART C - PERMITS/TEMPORARY AND OCCASIONAL USE NOTICE 
 
20.0  Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 

(Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7) 
 
20.1 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide 

gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit.  It 
should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be 
wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use 
(Section 238). 

 
20.2 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a 

statement of principles that they propose to consider in determining the 
suitability of an applicant for a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or 
considering applications, it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing 
objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the 
Commission under section 25.  The Gambling Commission’s Guidance  to 
Licensing Authorities also states: “In their three year licensing policy 
statement, licensing authorities may include a statement of principles that 
they propose to apply when exercising their functions in considering 
applications for permits…., licensing authorities will want to give weight to 
child protection issues." (24.6) 

 
20.3 Guidance also states: “...An application for a permit may be granted only if 

the licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an 
unlicensed FEC, and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the 

Page 344



 28 

application....Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking 
applications to demonstrate: 

· a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 
that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; 

· that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act; and 

· that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes. (24.7) 

 
20.4 It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this 

type of permit. 
 
20.5 Statement of Principles.  This licensing authority will expect the applicant 

to show that there are policies and procedures in place to protect children 
from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but 
includes wider child protection considerations.  The efficiency of such 
policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however, 
they may include appropriate measures/training for staff as regards 
suspected truant school children on the premises, measures/training 
covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being 
on the premises, or children causing perceived problems on/around the 
premises.  This licensing authority will also expect, as per Gambling 
Commission Guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full understanding of 
the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in 
unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that 
are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are trained to have a 
full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 

 
21.0 (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits - (Schedule 13 

paragraph 4(1)) 
 
21.1 Automatic entitlement: 2 machines - There is provision in the Act for 

premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises to 
automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The 
premises merely need to notify the licensing authority.   

 
21.2 The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect 

of any particular premises if: 

· provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit 
of the licensing objectives; 

· gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 
section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been 
provided to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and 
that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 
about the location and operation of the machine has been complied 
with);  

· the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

· an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the 
premises. 

 

Page 345



 29 

21.3 Permit: 3 or more machines - If a premises wishes to have more than 2 
machines, then it needs to apply for a permit and the licensing authority 
must consider that application based upon the licensing objectives, any 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 of 
the Gambling Act 2005,  and “such matters as they think relevant.” 

 
21.4 This licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a 

case by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harmed or being exploited by 
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will 
be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the 
authority that there will be no access may include the adult machines 
being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that the 
machines are not being used by those under 18.  Notices and signage 
may also be help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, 
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 
21.5 The procedure for administering applications for gaming machine 

permits in alcohol licensed premises will be as follows: 
 

i) Notifications and applications for up to 5 machines will generally be 
dealt with by licensing officers.  Applications for more than 5 
machines will be referred to Licensing Committee for consideration. 

 
ii) It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for 

a premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such 
application would most likely need to be applied for, and dealt with 
as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence 

 
21.6 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a 

premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such 
application would most likely need to be applied for, and dealt with as an 
Adult Gaming Centre premises licence. 

 
21.7 It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the 

application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category 
of machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be 
attached. 

 
21.8 It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any 

Code of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location 
and operation of the machine. 

 
22.0  Prize Gaming Permits  
 
22.1 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a 

statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their 
functions under this Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters 

Page 346



 30 

that the licensing authority proposes to consider in determining the 
suitability of the applicant for a permit”.   

 
22.2 This licensing authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which is 

that the applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is 
intending to offer and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:  

· that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations;  

· that the gaming offered is within the law 

· Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from 
harm. 

 
22.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing 

authority does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing 
objectives but must have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.  
(Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)). 

 
22.4 It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by 

which the permit holder must comply, but that the licensing authority 
cannot attach conditions.  The conditions in the Act are: 

· the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be 
complied with; 

· all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the 
premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the 
game must be played and completed on the day the chances are 
allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the 
premises on the day that it is played;  

· the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount 
set out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if 
non-monetary prize); and 

· participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in 
any other gambling.  

 
23.0  Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 
 
23.1 Members Clubs and Miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) 

may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Clubs Gaming machines permit.  
The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and 
games of chance as set-out in forthcoming regulations.  A Club Gaming 
machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B, C or D). 

 
23.2 Gambling Commission Guidance states: "Members clubs must have at 

least 25 members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for 
purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate 
regulations. The Secretary of State has made regulation and these cover 
bridge and whist clubs, which replicates the position under the Gambling 
Act 1968. A members’ club must be permanent in nature, not established 
to make commercial profit, and controlled by its members equally.  

Page 347



 31 

Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of Royal British Legion 
and clubs with political affiliations." 

  
23.3 The Commission Guidance also notes that "licensing authorities may only 

refuse an application on the grounds that: 
 (a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 

commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not 
entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied; 

 (b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children 
and/or young persons; 

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been 
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

 (d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous 
ten years; or 

  (e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 
 
23.4 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises 

which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 
(Schedule 12 paragraph 10).  As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities states: "Under the fast-track procedure there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, 
and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced." 
and "The grounds on which an application under the process may be 
refused are: 

 (a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming 
prescribed under schedule 12; 

(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides 
facilities for other gaming; or 

(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the 
applicant in the last ten years has been cancelled." 

 
23.4 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 

category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies 
with any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and 
operation of gaming machines. 

 
Temporary Use Notices 
 
24.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where 

there is no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use 
the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that 
might be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according the Gambling 
Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and sporting 
venues. 

 
24.2 The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person 

or company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino 
operating licence.  

 
24.3 The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling 

can be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing 

Page 348



 32 

this Statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 
2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary 
Use Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities or equal 
chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, 
which in practice means poker tournaments. 

 
24.4 There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices.  

The meaning of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the 
Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  As with 
"premises", the definition of "a set of premises" will be a question of fact in 
the particular circumstances of each notice that is given.  In the Act 
"premises" is defined as including "any place".  
In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of 
premises", the licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, 
the ownership/occupation and control of the premises. 

 
24.5 This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that 

their effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be 
described as one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  

 
25.0  Occasional Use Notices 
 
25.1 The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices 

aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is 
not exceeded.  This licensing authority will though consider the definition 
of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of 
the notice.   

 
25.2. Small Society Lotteries 
 
This licensing authority will adopt a risk based approach towards its enforcement 
responsibilities for small society lotteries. This authority considers that the 
following list, although not exclusive, could affect the risk status of the operator: 

· submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three 
months 
after the date on which the lottery draw was held) 

· submission of incomplete or incorrect returns 

· breaches of the limits for small society lotteries 
 
Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial event, 
either as an incidental or principal activity at the event. Events are non-
commercial if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain. The proceeds of 
such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is organised: 

· by, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes 

· to enable participation in, or support of, sporting, athletic or cultural activities. 
 
Charities and community groups should contact this licensing authority at the 
details below to seek further advice. 
 
 

Page 349



 33 

 
 
 
 
PART D - FURTHER INFORMATION  
 
26.0 Further Information 
 
 Further information about the Gambling Act 2005 and the licensing 

authority's statement of principles can be obtained from: 
 
 Environment Health and Regulatory Services 
 Tamworth Borough Council 
 Marmion House  
 Lichfield Street 
 Tamworth 
 Staffordshire 
 B79 7BZ 
 
 Telephone  (01827) 709445 
 E-mail  publicprotection@tamworth.gov.uk 
 
 
 This draft statement of principles is available on the Council's web-site 

www.tamworth.gov.uk 
 
 
Annex: 
 

1. Policy Statement consultees. 
 
 
 
 

Page 350



 34 

Annex 1 
 

SCHEDULE OF CONSULTEES TO THE DRAFT POLICY STATEMENT 

 

Holders of existing licences, permits and registrations who will be affected by the 
provisions of the Act 

Local Residents/Associations 
Staffordshire Chief Officer of Police 
Staffordshire Fire & Rescue 
Staffordshire County Council – Department of Social Care & Health 
TBC - Chief Executive  
TBC – Director, Assets and Environment 
TBC – Director, Communities, Planning & Partnerships 
Solicitor to the Council c/o TBC - Legal & Democratic Services 
TBC – Director, Housing & Health 
TBC - Crime and Disorder Partnership 
Local Strategic Partnership - Chairman 
Violence Action Group - Chairman 
Tamworth Town Safe Licensee Forum - Chairman 
Southern Staffordshire Chamber of Commerce & Industry 
NHS South East Staffordshire and Seisdon Peninsula  
East Staffordshire Social Equality Council 
British Amusement Catering Association 
British Casino Association 
Bingo Association 
British Horse Racing Board 
British Greyhound Racing Board 
Casino Operators Association 
Club & Institute Union 
Gamcare 
Responsibility in Gambling Trust 
Gamblers Anonymous 
Licensed Victuallers Association 
Lotteries Commission 
Luminar Leisure 
Mitchells & Butlers 
Poppleston Allen, Solicitors 
Rutherfords Solicitors 
Hammonds Solicitors 
John Gaunt & Partners 
Berwin Leighton Paisner 
Yates Group 
British Beer & Pubs Association 
Campaign for Real Ale 
Garner Canning & Co Solicitors 
Dewes Sketchley, Solicitors 
Enoch Evans, Solicitors 
Edwards Geldard, Solicitors 
Bond Pearce Solicitors 
Inn Court, Licensing Consultants 
Challinors, Solicitors 

Page 351



 35 

Martyn Amey & Co Solicitors 
 

Page 352



COUNCIL 
 

17 DECEMBER 2013 
 

 
 REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ENVIRONMENT & WASTE 

MANAGEMENT  
 

SCRAP METAL DEALERS ACT 2013 FEES 
 

 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
Nil 
 
PURPOSE 
To provide details of proposed Policy, Scheme of Delegation and fee structure 
applicable to the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
That Council: 
a) endorse the scheme of delegation, policy, and; 
 b) endorse the proposed fee levels. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 received Royal Assent on 28th February 2013 and 
will be phased in between 1st September and 1st December 2013.  The Act provides 
the legislative framework in relation to the licensing of Scrap Metal Dealers.  It 
introduced a revised regulatory regime for the scrap metal dealing and vehicle 
dismantling industries. 

 
On 22 August 2013, the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Waste Management 
reported on the interim arrangements for the new regulatory process and this was 
agreed by Cabinet.  
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
The fees are a realistic indicator of the cost of administering the legislation and follow 
best practice in fee-setting in collaboration with the Neighbourhood Authority Working 
Group (NAWG).  This group comprises Staffordshire, Warwickshire; West Midlands 
Metropolitan and Shropshire Authorities.  
 
The fee leveIs have been calculated at £421.00 for site licences and £198.00 for 
collectors’ licences and covers a licence period of three years.  These figures are in 
the mid-range of fees submitted to the NAWG.   
 
The Environmental Health and Regulatory Services team will accept and process 
applications in addition to their current duties.  As more details on the overall process 
are still forthcoming from the Home Office and application numbers are only 
estimated at this stage, it is not entirely clear what the overall impact will be.  Officers 
will need to monitor the situation over the first six months of implementation to 
assess whether there are sufficient resources to respond to the new requirements.  
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
Under the 'Functions & Responsibilities Regulations', neither the Cabinet nor a 

Agenda Item 12

Page 353



Cabinet Member can make a final decision in relation to the fee levels applied to 
scrap metal dealers or the delegation of powers under the Act – this is a 'Council 
function' under the regulations and therefore a final decision must be made by Full 
Council. 
 
If the Scrap Metal Dealers fee levels are not in place within the required timeframes, 
Tamworth Borough Council will not be able to perform its function under the Act. The 
reporting process through Cabinet and Council have been planned to ensure that 
these are in place at the required time. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
None – It is considered that the reform of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act will improve 
the impact on metal theft affecting national transport infrastructure, electricity, 
telecommunication links and street furniture etc.  An efficient and effective licensing 
regime ensures the Council has an opportunity to monitor and manage activity in this 
area of trade and provides a framework to set expectations on individuals regarding 
behaviour and how businesses should operate. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
The scheme of delegation proposed at Appendix 1 involves decisions where there is 
no reason not to approve an application being taken at Officer level in the interest of 
efficiency and speed of processing.  However, where an applicant/licensee has 
exercised their right to request an oral hearing before a final decision is taken, e.g. in 
relation to a proposed refusal of a licence, proposed refusal to vary a licence or 
proposed revocation of a licence, then a decision will be taken by Licensing 
Committee. 
 
The fee leveIs have been calculated at £421.00 for site licences and £198.00 for 
collectors’ licences and covers a licence period of three years.  These figures are in 
the mid-range of fees submitted to the NAWG.  Since Cabinet considered this issue 
on 22 August 2013, the Home Office has issued its statutory guidance on fee setting. 
Officers have followed this guidance.  This Guidance was also used in calculating the 
proposed fee levels for renewals and variations to licences, these fees are shown at 
Appendix 2. 
 
Tamworth Borough Council’s Scrap Metal Policy is attached at Appendix 3. 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
“If Members would like further information or clarification prior to the meeting please 
contact Steve Lewis, Head Of Environmental Health. Ext 437 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
1. Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 - 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/10/enacted 
2. The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 (Commencement and Transitional Provisions) 
Order 2013 (2013/1966) 
3. Scrap Metal Dealer Act 2013: Home Office Guidance on Licence Fee Charges 
 
APPENDICES 
1. Delegations. 
2. Fee Levels. 
3. Tamworth Borough Council Scrap Metal Policy. 
 

Page 354



APPENDIX 1 

SCRAP METAL DEALERS ACT 2013 

DELEGATIONS 
 

Matters to be dealt 
with 

 

Full 
Council 

Licensing 
Committee 

Officers 
Licensing 

Team 

    

 
Fee Setting  
 
 

 
X 

                     
                    

 

 
Processing 
Applications and 
supply of 
Information to 
External Agencies 

   
X 

 
Entry, Inspection 
and Enforcement 
 

   
X 

 
Inclusion of 
Conditions under 
Section 3(8) 

  
 

 
X 

 
Refusal of Licence 
 

  
If the applicant 
requests a hearing 
 

 
If no hearing is 
requested 

 
Variation/Imposition 
of Conditions on a 
Licence under 
Section 4 

  
If the applicant 
requests a hearing 

 
If no hearing is 
requested 

 
Revocation of 
Licence 

  
If the applicant 
requests a hearing 
 

 
If no hearing is 
requested 

 

 

Page 355



Page 356

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 

Tamworth Borough Council Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 - Fees 

 

Grant Site Licence £421.00 

Additional Site(s) £321.00 

Renewal Site Licence £421.00 

Variation Site Licence £148.50 

Grant Collectors Licence £198.00 

Renewal Collectors Licence £198.00 

Variation Collectors Licence £148.50 

Replacement or copy licence £10.00 

Change of licence details (Trading Name, address etc) £49.50 

Change of Site Manager £49.50 

Change of Site £148.50 

Change Collectors to Site Licence £321.00 

Change Site to Collectors Licence £49.50 

 

Page 357



Page 358

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

SCRAP METAL DEALERS ACT 2013 

POLICY DOCUMENT 

CONTENTS 

Section       Page Number 

1 Introduction       2 

2 Types of Licence      3 

3 Suitability of Applicant     4 

4 Revocation of Licence/Imposing of Conditions  8 

5 Supply of Information by Authority   9 

6 Register of Licences     9 

7 Notification Requirements     9 

8 Display of Licence      10 

9 Verification of Suppliers Identity    10 

10 Payment for Scrap Metal     11 

11 Records: Receipt of Metal     11 

12 Records: Disposal of Metal     11 

13 Records: Supplementary     12 

14 Right of Entry & Inspection     13 

15 Application Procedure     14 

16 Closure of Unlicensed Sites    17 

17 Offences & Penalties     20 

18 Definitions       22 

29 Potential list of Consultees     23 

 

  

Page 359



2 
 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Policy 

1.1.1 This document states the Council’s policy on the regulation of Scrap Metal 

Dealers in its capacity as the relevant local authority for the purposes of the 

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 (and the expressions “Council” and “local 

authority” shall be construed accordingly). 

1.2 The Law 

1.2.1 The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 (“the Act”) received Royal Assent on 28 

February 2013. The Act repeals the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964 (and linked 

legislation) and Part 1 of Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001 creating a revised 

regulatory regime for the scrap metal recycling and vehicle dismantling 

industries. 

The Act maintains local authorities as the principal regulator, but replaces the 

old registration system with a full licensing regime. It grants power to refuse a 

licence to “unsuitable” applicants and a power to revoke licences if the dealer 

becomes “unsuitable”. 

The Act requires a scrap metal dealer to obtain a licence in order to carry on 

business as a scrap metal dealer. 

1.3 Definition of a Scrap Metal Dealer 

1.3.1 A person carries on business as a scrap metal dealer if: 

(a) they wholly or partly buy or sell scrap metal (whether or not sold in the 

form it was bought); or 

(b) they carry on business as a motor salvage operator (see 1.3.3). 

1.3.2 Ancillary sales - a person selling scrap metal merely as surplus materials or 

as a by-product of manufacturing articles is NOT regarded as a scrap metal 

dealer. 

1.3.3 Motor salvage operation is defined in the Act as a business that consists 

wholly or mainly of: 

(a) recovering  salvageable  parts  from motor  vehicles  for  re-use  or  

sale  and selling the remainder of the vehicle for scrap 

(b) buying written-off vehicles, repairing and reselling them 

(c) buying or selling motor vehicles which are to be the subject of any of 

the activities mentioned in (a) or (b) 

Page 360



3 
 

(d) wholly or mainly in activities falling within paragraphs (b) and (c) 

1.3.4 Scrap metal includes: 

(a) Any old, waste or discarded metal or metallic material, and 

(b) Any product, article or assembly which is made from or contains metal 

and is broken, worn out or regarded by its last holder as having 

reached  the  end of its useful life.  

1.3.5 Scrap metal does not include: 

(a)  Gold  

(b) Silver 

(c) Any alloy of which 2% or more by weight is attributable to gold or silver 

 

2 TYPES OF LICENCE 

2.1 Anyone wishing to operate a business as a scrap metal dealer will require: 

I. a site licence; or  

II. a collector’s licence.  

The licence is valid for three years and permits the licence holder to operate 

within the boundaries of the issuing authority. 

A person may hold more than one licence issued by different local authorities 

but may not hold more than one licence issued by any one authority. 

2.2 SITE LICENCE 

2.2.1 The site licence authorises the licensee to carry on business at the site(s) 

identified in the licence. 

2.2.2 The site licence must include: 

(a) the name of the licensee 

(b) the name of the authority 

(c) identify all the sites in the authority’s area at which the licensee is 

authorised to carry on business 

(d) the name of the site manager of each site 

(e) the date of expiry 

2.2.3 The site licence also permits the licence holder to act as a collector. 

Page 361



4 
 

2.3 COLLECTOR’S LICENCE 

2.3.1 The collector’s licence authorises the licensee to carry on business as a 

mobile collector within the authority’s area. 

2.3.2 The collector’s licence must include: 

(a) the name of the licensee 

(b) the name of the authority 

(c) the date of expiry 

 

3 SUITABILITY OF APPLICANT 

3.1 A local authority must determine whether the applicant is a suitable person to 

carry on business as a scrap metal dealer and may not issue a licence unless 

satisfied that the applicant is suitable. 

3.2 In determining this, the authority may have regard to any information which it 

considers to be relevant, in particular: 

(a) whether the applicant or site manager has been convicted of any 

relevant offence; 

(b) whether the applicant or site manager has been the subject of any 

relevant enforcement action; 

(c) any previous refusal of an application for the issue or renewal of a 

scrap metal licence (and the reasons for the refusal); 

(d) any previous refusal of an application for a relevant environmental 

permit or registration (and the reasons for the refusal); 

(e) any previous revocation of a scrap metal licence (and the reasons for 

the revocation); 

(f) whether the applicant has demonstrated that there will be in place 

adequate procedures to ensure that the provisions of this Act are 

complied with. 

3.3 In this section: 

(a) “site manager” means an individual proposed to be named in the 

licence as a site manager 

(b) “relevant offence” means an offence which is prescribed for the 

purposes of the Act in regulations made by the Secretary of State, and 

Page 362



5 
 

(c) “relevant enforcement action” means enforcement action which is so 

prescribed by regulations. 

3.4 In determining whether a company is suitable to carry on business as a scrap 

metal dealer, a local authority is to have regard, in particular, to whether any 

of the following is a suitable person: 

(a) any director of the company 

(b) any secretary of the company 

(c) any shadow director of the company (that is to say, any person in 

accordance with  those  directions  or  instructions  the  directors  of  

the  company  are accustomed to act) 

3.5 In determining whether a partnership is suitable to carry on business as a 

scrap metal dealer, a local authority is to have regard, in particular, to whether 

each of the partners is a suitable person. 

3.6 The authority must also have regard to any guidance on determining 

suitability which is issued from time to time by the Secretary of State 

3.7 The authority may consult other persons regarding the suitability of an 

applicant, including in particular: 

(a) any other local authority; 

(b) the Environment Agency; 

(c) an officer of a police force; 

3.8 If the applicant or any site manager has been convicted of a relevant offence, 

the authority may include in the licence one or both of the following conditions: 

(a) that the dealer must not receive scrap metal except between 9am and 

5pm on any day; 

(b) that all scrap metal received must be kept in the form in which it is 

received for a specified period, not exceeding 72 hours, beginning with 

the time when it is received. 

3.9 Having regard to the objectives of the Act the authority has determined that it 

will presume that the applicant is unsuitable to be issued with a licence where 

an applicant or any other person required to be named or identified in the 

application has been convicted of any of the offences as listed within “The 

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 (Prescribed Relevant Enforcement Action) 

Regulations 2013” within the period of three years prior to the application. 

 

Page 363



6 
 

 The authority is aware of its duty not to fetter its discretion and shall permit 

representations from the applicant as to any exceptional circumstances 

indicating that it may nevertheless be appropriate to receive a licence. 

3.10 The authority may require further information from the applicant to assist in 

determining the suitability of the applicant.  

3.11 Having regard to the objectives of the Act the authority has determined that it 

will presume that the applicant is unsuitable to be issued with a licence where 

an applicant or any other person required to be named or identified in the 

application has been the subject of any of the following forms of enforcement 

action within the period of three years prior to the application: 

• Closure notice pursuant to the Act 

• Closure order pursuant to the Act 

• Action for recovery of possession of out of date or discontinued licences 

 The authority is aware of its duty not to fetter its discretion and shall permit 

representations from the applicant as to any exceptional circumstances 

indicating that it may nevertheless be appropriate to receive a licence. The 

authority may not treat any such enforcement action as a “relevant 

enforcement action” for the purposes of the Act but shall nevertheless 

consider such an action as a significant issue in relation to the suitability of the 

applicant to hold a licence. 

3.12 Having regard to the objectives of the Act the authority has determined that it 

will consider the following offences or enforcement actions relating to any 

person relevant to the licence as being of particular relevance to the suitability 

of the licence holder: 

• Written warning relating to scrap metal licence compliance 

• Waste regulations 2011 – enforcement, compliance and stop notices 

• Permitting regulations notices 

• Planning Breach of Condition / Enforcement Notices 

• Statutory nuisance abatement notice 

• Breach of statutory nuisance abatement notice  

 

3.13 In relation to all considerations of possible revocation or variation and all 

applications for grant or renewal of a licence the authority shall consider the 

suitability of the applicant or licence holder with regard to adherence or 

otherwise by the licence holder or any other person identified in the licence to 

the Code of Practice annexed to this policy at Appendix A or the applicant’s 

willingness to adhere to the Code of Practice or to any other relevant body or 

licensing authority’s Code of Practice in the case of a first application. Failure 

Page 364



7 
 

to adhere to the Code of Practice shall be considered particularly relevant to 

the suitability of the applicant or licence holder to hold a licence. 

 Without prejudice to the above, where an officer of the Council has reason to 

believe that a licence is not being operated in accordance with the Code of 

Practice but it is in that officer’s opinion reasonable to deal with the cause of 

complaint by way of a written warning or further written warning then the 

matter may be dealt with by written warning to the licence holder. 

Where a licence holder has received a second written warning from an officer 

of the Council then the licence holder shall be asked to meet with the 

appropriate officer of the Council to discuss the reasons for the issue of the 

previous written warnings and the officer shall warn the licence holder that the 

licence shall be subject to revocation should there be any repetition of the 

matter of complaint, on the basis that the licence holder is no longer 

considered to be suitable to hold a licence.  

Where an officer of the Council has reason to believe that there are grounds 

for issuing a third written warning then the relevant licence holder shall be 

presumed by the Council to be an unsuitable person to hold a licence, subject 

to any representation from the licence holder that there may be exceptional 

circumstances to justify the circumstances of the failure to remedy the cause 

of complaint. 

 

4 REVOCATION OF LICENCE/IMPOSITION OF CONDITIONS 

4.1 The authority may revoke a scrap metal licence if it is satisfied that the 

licensee does not carry on the business of scrap metal dealing at any of the 

sites identified in the licence. 

4.2 The authority may revoke a licence if it is satisfied that a site manager named 

in the licence does not act as site manager at any of the sites identified in the 

licence. 

4.3 The authority may revoke a licence if it is no longer satisfied that the licensee 

is a suitable person to carry on business as a scrap metal dealer and the 

authority shall have particular regard to any “relevant offences” and “relevant 

enforcement action” and to those matters contained in paragraphs 3.10, 3.11, 

3.12 and 3.13 of this policy. 

4.4 If the licensee or any site manager named in a licence is convicted of a 

relevant offence, the authority may vary the licence by adding one or both of 

the conditions set out in paragraph 3.8. 

Page 365



8 
 

4.6 A revocation or variation comes into effect when no appeal under paragraph 

16.9 is possible in relation to the revocation or variation, or when any such 

appeal is finally determined or withdrawn. 

4.7 If the authority considers that the licence should not continue in force without 

conditions, it may by notice provide: 

(a) that, until a revocation comes into effect, the licence is subject to one 

or both of the conditions set out in paragraph 3.8, or 

(b) that a variation under this paragraph comes into effect immediately. 

4.8 All licences issued by the Council pursuant to the Act remain the physical 

property of the Council and must be returned to the Council as required on 

expiry or revocation of the relevant licence or copy licence. Action may be 

taken for the recovery of any licence not returned as required by the Council 

and any such action may be taken into account in relation to any future 

application for a licence. 

4.9 All reference in this policy to copy licences shall be construed as original 

copies officially endorsed and issued by the Council as the licensing authority. 

 

5. SUPPLY OF INFORMATION BY AUTHORITY 

5.1 This section applies to information which has been supplied to a local 

authority under this Act and relates to a scrap metal licence or to an 

application for or relating to a licence. 

5.2 The local authority must supply any such information to any of the following 

persons who request it for purposes relating to this Act: 

(a) any other local authority; 

(b) the Environment Agency; 

(c) an officer of a police force. 

5.3 This section does not limit any other power the authority has to supply that 

information. 

 

6. REGISTER OF LICENCES  

6.1 The Environment Agency maintains a register of scrap metal licences issued 

by authorities in England and each entry must record: 

(a) the name of the authority which issued the licence 

Page 366



9 
 

(b) the name of the licensee 

(c) any trading name of the licensee 

(d) the address of the site identified in the licence 

(e) the type of licence, and 

(f) the date on which the licence is due to expire 

6.3 The registers are to open for inspection to the public 

 

7. NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 

7.1 An applicant for a scrap metal licence, or for the renewal of variation of a 

licence, must notify the authority to which the application was made of any 

changes which materially affect the accuracy of the information which the 

applicant has proved in connection with the application. 

7.2 A licensee who is not carrying on business as a scrap metal dealer in the area 

of the authority which issued the licence must notify the authority within 28 

days. 

7.3 If a licence is issued to a business under a trading name the licensee must 

notify the authority which issued the licence of any change to that name within 

28 days. 

7.4 The authority must notify the Environment Agency, of – 

(a) any notification given to the authority under paragraph 7.2 or 7.3 

(b) any variation made by the authority under paragraph 16.3 (variation of 

type of licence or matters set out in licence), and 

(c) any revocation by the authority of a licence 

7.5 Notification under paragraph 7.4 must be given within 28 days of the 

notification, variation or revocation in question. 

 

8. DISPLAY OF LICENCE 

8.1 A copy of a site licence must be displayed at each site identified in the 

licence.  The copy must be displayed in a prominent place in an area 

accessible to the public. 

Page 367



10 
 

8.2 A copy of a collector’s licence must be displayed on any vehicle that is being 

used in the course of the dealer’s business. This must be displayed in a 

manner which enables it easily to be read by a person outside the vehicle. 

 

9. VERIFICATION OF SUPPLIER’S IDENTITY 

9.1 Prior to receiving scrap metal the scrap metal dealer must verify the person’s 

full name and address by reference to documents, data or other information 

obtained from a reliable and independent source. 

Should verification not be gained then each of the following are guilty of an 

offence: 

(a) the scrap metal dealer 

(b) if metal is received at the site, the site manager 

(c) any person who, under arrangements made by a person within sub-

paragraph (a) or (b), has responsibility for verifying the name and 

address. 

 

 

10. PAYMENT FOR SCRAP METAL 

10.1 A scrap metal dealer must only pay for scrap metal by either: 

(a) a cheque (which is not transferrable under Section 81A Bills of 

Exchange Act 1882); or 

(b) electronic transfer of funds (authorised by a credit, debit card or 

otherwise) 

Payment includes paying in kind – with goods or services. 

 

11. RECORDS: RECEIPT OF METAL 

11.1 If any metal is received in the course of the dealer’s business the dealer must 

record the following information: 

(a) description of the metal, including its type (types if mixed), form, 

condition, weight and any marks identifying previous owners or other 

distinguishing features 

(b) date and time of receipt 

Page 368



11 
 

(c) the registration mark of the vehicle delivered by 

(d) full name and address of person delivering it 

(e) full name of the person making payment on behalf of the dealer 

11.2 The dealer must keep a copy of any documents used to verify the name and 

address of the person delivering the metal. 

11.3 If payment if made via cheque, the dealer must retain a copy of the cheque. 

11.4 If payment is made via electronic transfer, the dealer must keep a receipt 

identifying the transfer, or (if no receipt identifying the transfer) record 

particulars identifying the transfer. 

 

12. RECORDS: DISPOSAL OF METAL 

12.1 The Act regards the metal to be disposed of: 

(a) whether or not in the same form it was purchased, 

(b) whether or not the disposal is to another person 

(c) whether or not the metal is despatched from a site 

12.2 Where the disposal is in the course of business under a site licence, the 

following must be recorded: 

(a) description of the metal, including its type (or types if mixed), form and 

weight 

(b) date and time of disposal 

(c) if to another person, their full name and address 

(d) if payment is received for the metal (by sale or exchange) the price or 

other consideration received 

12.3 If disposal is in the course of business under a collector’s licence, the dealer 

must record the following information: 

(a) the date and time of the disposal 

(b) if to another person, their full name and address 

 

13. RECORDS: SUPPLEMENTARY 

Page 369



12 
 

13.1 The information in paragraphs 11 and 12 must be recorded in a manner which 

allows the information and the scrap metal to which it relates to be readily 

identified by reference to each other. 

13.2 The records mentioned in paragraph 11 must be marked so as to identify the 

scrap metal to which they relate. 

13.3 Records must be kept for a period of 3 years beginning with the day on which 

the metal is received or (as may be the case) disposed of. 

13.4 If a scrap metal dealer fails to fulfil a requirement under paragraph 11 or 12 or 

this paragraph each of the following is guilty of an offence by way of section 

15 of the Act: 

(a) the scrap metal dealer 

(b) if the metal is received at or (as the case may be) despatched from a 

site, the site manager 

(c) any person who, under arrangements made by a person within 

paragraph(a)or (b) has responsibility for fulfilling the requirement. 

13.5 It is a defence for a person within who is charged with an offence under 

section 15 of the Act to prove that the person: 

(a) made arrangements to ensure that the requirement was fulfilled, and 

(b) took all reasonable steps to ensure that those arrangements were 

complied with. 

 

14. RIGHT OF ENTRY & INSPECTION 

14.1 A constable or an officer of the Council may enter and inspect a licensed site 

at any reasonable time on notice to the site manager. 

14.2 A constable or an officer of the Council may enter and inspect a licensed site 

at any reasonable time, otherwise than on notice to the site manager, if 

(a) reasonable attempts to give notice have been made and failed, or 

(b) entry to the site is reasonably required for the purpose of ascertaining 

whether the provisions of this Act are being complied with or 

investigating offences under it and (in either case) the giving of the 

notice would defeat that purpose. 

14.3 Paragraphs 14.1 and 14.2 do not apply to residential premises. 

Page 370



13 
 

14.4 A constable or an officer of the Council is not entitled to use force to enter 

premises in the exercise of the powers identified in paragraphs 14.1 and 14.2. 

14.5 A justice of the peace may issue a warrant authorising entry in accordance 

with section 16 of the Act to any premises within paragraph 14.6 if the justice 

is satisfied by information on oath that there are reasonable grounds for 

believing that entry to the premises is reasonably required for the purpose of: 

(a) securing compliance with the provisions of the Act, or 

(b) ascertaining whether those provisions are being complied with 

14.6 Premises are within this paragraph if 

(a) the premises are a licensed site, or 

(b) the premises are not a licensed site but there are reasonable grounds 

for believing that the premises are being used by a scrap metal dealer 

in the course of business. 

14.8 A constable or an officer of the Council may, if necessary, use reasonable 

force in the exercise of the powers under a warrant under section 16 of the 

Act. 

14.9 A constable or an officer of the Council may: 

(a) require production of, and inspect, any scrap metal kept at any 

premises mentioned in paragraphs 14.1 or 14.2 or in a warrant under 

section 16. 

(b) require production of, and inspect, any records kept in accordance with 

section 13 or 14 of the Act and any other records relating to payment 

for scrap metal 

(c) take copies of or extracts from any such records. 

14.10 Officers of the Council will undertake where reasonable and practicable to 

give a notice of their powers and your rights on entry to any site licensed 

pursuant to the Act and the licence holder, site managers and other 

operatives should note that officers may use recording to assist them in their 

duties whilst on site. 

 

15. APPLICATION PROCEDURE 

15.1 Term of Licence 

A licence is valid for three years beginning from the day it is issued. A renewal 

application must be received prior to the licence expiry. 

Page 371



14 
 

If withdrawn the licence expires at the end of the day of withdrawal. 

If refused, the licence expires with no appeal is possible or any such appeal is 

finally determined or withdrawn. 

If renewed, the licence expires at the end of the three year period from the 

date of the renewal. 

15.2 Application 

The application form, available from Tamworth Borough Council, 

Environment, Health and Regulatory Services, Licensing Team, should be 

accompanied by: 

a) full name of applicant (if an individual), date of birth and usual place of 

residence 

b) name and registered number of the applicant (if a company) and 

registered office 

c) if a partnership – full name of each partner, date of birth and usual 

place of residence 

d) proposed trading name 

e) telephone number and email address (if any) of applicant 

f) address of any site within any other local authority at which carry on 

business as a scrap metal dealer or propose to do so 

g) any relevant environmental permit or registration in relation to the 

applicant 

h) details of any other scrap metal licence issued to the applicant within a 

period of 3 years ending with the date of the application. 

i) details of the bank account which is proposed to be used in order to 

comply with section 11 

j) details of any relevant conviction or enforcement action taken against 

the applicant. 

For site licence, the applicant must also provide: 

a) the address of each site proposed to be identified in the licence (or if 

renewal, each site identified for which renewal is sought) 

b) the full name, date of birth and usual place of residence of each 

individual proposed to be named in the licence as a site manager 

(other than the applicant). 

Page 372



15 
 

c) site manager details to be included for (g) (h) and (j) above 

Please note the collectors licence allows a business or individual to operate 

only within that authority’s area, therefore individuals wishing to collect across 

borders will be required to obtain a collectors licence from the relevant local 

authority where they wish to collect and sell. 

All applicants are required to provide a basic disclosure of criminal convictions 

with the application.  

 15.3 Variation of Licence 

A licence may be varied from one type to the other. A variation application 

must be made to reflect changes to: 

o Site licence – the name of licensee, the sites, site manager  

o Collector’s licence – name of licensee 

The variation can amend the name of the licensee but cannot transfer the 

licence to another person. 

Application is to be made to the issuing authority and contain particulars of the 

changes to be made to the licence. 

15.4 Renewal 

When a licence is renewed the three year validity period commences on the 

day of receipt.  Should a renewal application be withdrawn, the licence 

expires at the end of the day on which the application is withdrawn. 

Where a renewal application has been refused – the licence expires when no 

appeal has been made under paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 of the Act or any 

such appeal has resulted in confirmation of the refusal. 

15.5 Further Information 

The Council may request (at the time of application or later) that additional 

information is provided, as may be considered relevant for the purpose of 

considering the application. 

Failure to provide such information may result in the application being 

declined. 

15.6 Fee 

The application must be accompanied by the fee set by the Council, under 

guidance from the Secretary of State with the approval of the Treasury. 

15.7 Right to Make Representations 

Page 373



16 
 

If the Council proposes to refuse an application or to revoke/vary a licence a 

notice shall be issued to the applicant/licensee setting out what the authority 

proposes to do and the reasons for this. The notice shall also state that within 

the period specified the applicant/licensee can either: 

a) make representations about the proposal, or 

b) inform the authority that the applicant/licensee wishes to do so. 

The period specified in the notice shall be not less than 14 days beginning 

with the date on which the notice is given to the applicant/licensee. Within this 

time the applicant/licensee must notify the Council whether the 

applicant/licensee wishes to make representations. Should this period expire 

and the applicant/licensee has not made representations or informed the 

authority of their wish to do so the authority may refuse the application, or 

revoke or vary the licence. 

If, within the period specified, the applicant/licensee informs the authority that 

they wish to make representations, the authority shall allow a reasonable 

period to make representations and may refuse the application or revoke or 

vary the licence if they fail to make representations within that period. 

If the applicant/licensee notifies the authority that they wish to make oral 

representations, the authority shall give them the opportunity of appearing 

before, and being heard by, a person appointed by the authority. 

 15.8 Notice of Decision 

If the application is refused, or the licence is revoked or varied, notice shall be 

given to the applicant/licensee setting out the decision and the reasons for it. 

The notice shall also state that the applicant/licensee may appeal against the 

decision, the time within which the appeal may be brought (21 days beginning 

with the day on which notice of the decision was given) and, if revoked or 

varied, the date on which the revocation of variation is to take effect. 

15.9 Appeals 

An applicant may appeal to a magistrates’ court against the refusal of an 

application or a variation. The licensee may appeal to a magistrates’ court 

against the inclusion in a licence of a condition under Section 3(8) of the Act 

or the revocation or variation of a licence. 

An appeal must be made within 21 days beginning on the day the notice to 

refuse the application, to include the condition or to revoke or vary the licence 

under section 4 was given. 

Page 374



17 
 

On appeal, the magistrates’ court may confirm, vary or reverse the authority’s 

decision, and give such directions as it considers appropriate having regard to 

the provisions of the Act. 

The authority must comply with any directions given by the magistrates’ court. 

Although the authority need not comply with such directions until the time for 

making an application under section 111 of the Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980 

has passed or if such an application is made, until the application is finally 

determined or withdrawn. 

 

16. CLOSURE OF UNLICENSED SITES 

16.1 Interpretation 

A person with an interest in premises is the owner, leaseholder or occupier of 

the premises. 

16.2 Closure Notice 

These are not applicable if the premises are residential premises. 

A constable or the local authority must be satisfied that the premises are 

being used by a scrap metal dealer in the course of business and that the 

premises are not a licensed site. 

In such circumstances a “closure notice” may be issued by a constable or 

local authority which states they are satisfied of the above, the reasons for 

that, that the constable or local authority may apply to the court for a closure 

order and the notice shall specify the steps which may be taken to ensure that 

the alleged use of the premises ceases. 

The notice shall be given to the person who appears to be the site manager of 

the premises and any person who appears to be a director, manager or other 

officer of the business in question. The notice may also be given to any 

person who has an interest in the premises. 

The notice shall be given to a person who occupies another part of any 

building or structure of which the premises form part and the constable or 

local authority believes at the time of giving the notice, that the person’s 

access to that other part would be impeded if a closure order were made in 

respect of the premises. 

16.3 Cancellation of Closure Notice 

A “cancellation notice” issued by a constable of local authority may cancel a 

closure notice. This takes effect when it is given to any one of the persons to 

Page 375



18 
 

whom the closure notice was given. This must also be given to any other 

person to whom the closure notice was given. 

16.4 Application for Closure Order 

When a closure notice has been given, a constable or the local authority shall 

make a complaint to a justice of the peace for a closure order. This may not 

be made less than 7 days after the date on which the closure notice was 

given or more than 6 months after that date. 

A complaint under this paragraph may not be made if the constable or 

authority is satisfied that the premises are not (or are no longer) being used 

by a scrap metal dealer in the course of business and there is no reasonable 

likelihood that the premises will be so used in the future. 

16.5 Closure Order 

A closure order requires that a premises be closed immediately to the public 

and remain closed until a constable or the local authority makes a termination 

of closure order by certificate, the use of the premises by a scrap metal dealer 

in the course of business be discontinued immediately and that any defendant 

pay into court such sum as the court determines and that the sum will not be 

released by the court to that person until the other requirements of the order 

are met. 

The closure order may include a condition relating to the admission of 

persons into the premises, the access by persons to another part of any 

building or other structure of which the premises form part. 

A closure order may include such provision as the court considers appropriate 

for dealing with the consequences if the order should cease to have effect. 

As soon as practicable after the closure order is made, the complainant must 

fix a copy of it in a conspicuous position on the premises in respect of which it 

was made. 

A sum ordered to be paid into court under a closure order is to be paid to the 

designated officer for the court. 

 16.6 Termination of Closure Order by Certificate 

Once a closure order has been made and a constable or the local authority is 

satisfied that the need for the order has ceased a certificate may be issued. 

This ceases the closure order and any sum paid into a court is to be released 

by the court to the defendant. 

As soon as is practicable after making a certificate, a constable or local 

authority must give a copy to any person against whom the closure order was 

Page 376



19 
 

made, give a copy to the designated officer for the court which made the order 

and fix a copy of it in a conspicuous position on the premises in respect of 

which the order was made. 

A copy of the certificate must be given to any person who requests one. 

16.7 Discharge of Closure Order by Court 

A closure order may be discharged by complaint to a justice of the peace. 

This can be done by any person to whom the relevant closure notice was 

given or any person who has an interest in the premises but to whom the 

closure notice was not given. 

The court will make a discharge order if it is satisfied that there is no longer a 

need for the closure order. The justice may issue a summons directed to a 

constable as the justice considers appropriate or the local authority, requiring 

that person appear before the magistrates’ court to answer to the complaint. 

If a summons is issued, notice of the date, time and place at which the 

complaint will be heard must be given to all persons to whom the closure 

notice was given (other than the complainant). 

16.8 Appeal in relation to Closure Orders 

Appeal may be made to the Crown Court against: 

a) a closure order 

b) a decision not to make a closure order 

c) a discharge order 

d) a decision not to make a discharge order 

The appeal must be made before the end of 21 days beginning with the day 

on which the order or decision in question was made. 

An appeal under (a) or (b) may be made by any person to whom the relevant 

closure notice was given or any person who has an interest in the premises 

but to whom the closure notice was not given. 

An appeal under (b) or (c) may be made by a constable or the local authority. 

16.9 Enforcement of Closure Order 

A person is guilty of an offence, if without reasonable excuse they permit 

premises to be open in contravention of a closure order, or fail to comply with, 

or do an act in contravention of a closure order. 

Page 377



20 
 

If the closure order has been made, a constable or a person authorised by the 

local authority may (if necessary using reasonable force) enter the premises 

at any reasonable time, and having entered the premises, do anything 

reasonably necessary for the purpose of securing compliance with the order. 

If the owner, occupier or other person in charge of the premises requires the 

office to produce evidence of identity or evidence of authority to exercise 

powers, the officer must produce that evidence. 

 

17. OFFENCES & PENALTIES 

The following are prescribed by the Act as criminal offences: 

Section 1           Carrying on business as a scrap metal dealer without licence 

(level 5)            

Section 8 Failure to notify authority of any changes to details given with 

application (level 3) 

Section 10  Failure to display site licence or collectors licence (level 3) 

Section 11(6) Receiving scrap metal without verifying persons full name and 

address (level 3) 

Section 11 (7) Delivering scrap metal to dealer and giving false details (level 3)  

Section12 (6)  Buying scrap metal for cash (level 5) 

Section 13  Failure to keep records regarding receipt of metal (level 5) 

Section 14  Failure to keep records regarding disposal of metal (level 5) 

Section 15 (1)   Failure to keep records which allow the information and the 

scrap metal to be identified by reference to one another (level 5) 

Section 15 (2)  Failure to keep copy of document used to  verify  name  and 

address of person bringing metal, or failure to keep a copy of a 

cheque issued (level 5) 

Section 15 (3) Failure to keep information and records for three years (level 5) 

Section 16 Obstruction to right of entry and failure to produce records (level 

3) 

Section 17 Where an offence under this Act is committed by a body 

corporate and it is proved— 

Page 378



21 
 

(a) to have been committed with the consent or connivance of a 

director, manager, secretary or other similar officer, or 

(b) to be attributable to any neglect on the part of any such 

individual, 

the individual as well as the body corporate is guilty of the 

offence and is liable to be proceeded against and punished 

accordingly. 

(2)Where the affairs of a body corporate are managed by its 

members, subsection (1) applies in relation to the acts and 

omissions of a member in connection with that management as 

if the member were a director of the body corporate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 379



22 
 

DEFINITIONS 

“Licensed site” means a site identified in a scrap metal licence. 

“Mobile collector” means a person who— 

a) carries on business as a scrap metal dealer otherwise than at a site, and 

b) regularly engages, in the course of that business, in collecting waste materials 

and old, broken, worn out or defaced articles by means of visits from door to 

door. 

“police officer” includes a constable of the British Transport Police Force. 

“Premises” includes any land or other place (whether enclosed or not). 

“Relevant environmental permit or registration ”means— 

a) any environmental permit under regulation 13 of the Environmental 

(Permitting) Regulations 2010 authorising any operation by the applicant in 

the local authority's area; 

b) any registration of the applicant under Schedule 2 to those Regulations in 

relation to an exempt waste operation (within the meaning of regulation 5 of 

those Regulations) carried on in that area; 

c) any registration of the applicant under Part 8 of the Waste (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2011 (carriers, brokers and dealers of controlled waste). 

“Relevant offence” and “relevant enforcement action” have the meaning given by 

section 3(3) of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013. 

“Site” means any premises used in the course of carrying on business as a scrap 

metal dealer (whether or not metal is kept there). 

“Site manager”, in relation to a site at which a scrap metal dealer carries on 

business, means the individual who exercises day-to-day control and management 

of activities at the site. (An individual may be named in a licence as site manager at 

more than one site; but no site may have more than one site manager named in 

relation to it). 

“Trading name” means a name, other than that stated in the licence under which a 

licensee carries on business as a scrap metal dealer. 

Page 380



23 
 

ANNEX A 

Code of Practice Requirements: 
 

All scrap metal dealers and merchants signing up to this Code agree to abide by 
the following requirements: 
 

• All reasonable steps will be taken to ensure stolen metals are not bought. 

• Metals will only be accepted from those whose ID has been/can be verified as required 

by the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 

• No payment shall be made to any person other than the person as identified on the 

scrap metal collector’s licence displayed on the vehicle where metals are produced by 

a licensed scrap metal collector. 

• Staff must be trained in administrative processes and all paperwork should be 

relevant and kept up-to-date. 

• Dealers will co-operate with police and local authorities by allowing access and 

inspection when requested. 

• No blackened copper wire that has obviously had its insulation removed should be 

bought. 

• Metals will not be accepted from customers on foot. 

• Metal will not be accepted from customers arriving in taxis or private hire vehicles. 

• Dealers will display prominent signage at their premises stating that “We report 

suspected metal thieves to the Police”. 

• In order to comply with the Act’s requirements concerning record keeping and 

identification no metals shall be received without at a minimum taking and retaining a 

digital photograph(s) of the scrap metal load as presented, cross-referenced with the 

appropriate waste transfer note. 

• Dealers shall have available and actively use UV torches for detecting forensically 

marked metals. 

• Suspicious persons will be reported to the local police force for the area concerned. 

• Suspicious transactions will be reported to the local police force for the area concerned. 

• Dealers will work towards adopting into an electronic ‘alert’ notification scheme for 

early notification of stolen metals. 

• All scrap metal dealers agree to work towards installing automatic number plate 

recognition cameras or police approved CCTV systems at site entrances and/or 

weighbridges. (Where such systems have been installed posters advertising the fact 

will clearly be displayed on the premises). 

 

Page 381



24 
 

 

POSSIBLE LIST OF CONSULTEES 

Police 

British Transport Police   

Fire & Rescue Service 

Environment Agency 

Trading Standards 

Environmental Health 

Health & Safety 

Planning and Development Control 

Neighbourhood Services   

Individuals & companies currently registered as scrap metal dealers  

Individuals & companies currently registered as motor salvage operator.  

 

Page 382



COUNCIL 
 

17 DECEMBER 2013 
 

 
REPORT OF THE SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 
 

REVIEW OF ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
 

 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE 
 
This report provides the Council with the revised and updated  Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To adopt the revised Anti-Money Laundering Policy in the Council’s policy 
framework as approved by Audit & Governance Committee. 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Review of Anti-Money Laundering Policy 
 
The Council is committed to high standards of Ethical and Corporate Governance 
which give a high organisational commitment to zero tolerance to fraud, corruption 
and bribery. 
 
The revised Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and Whisteblowing Policy are also 
under review as part of an internal audit on fraud awareness, and reports on updating 
these policies were along with the Anti-Money Laundering Policy,  submitted to Audit 
and Governance Committee on 31 October 2013 for approval and are now being 
presented to full Council for adoption. The opportunity has been taken to update all 
three policies at this stage. As a result of the review the policies will be fit for purpose 
and ensure high standards of corporate governance of the Council’s affairs. The Anti-
Fraud and Corruption Policy and Whisteblowing Policy policies have  been presented 
to the unions and reported to Appointments and Staffing Committee on 11 December 
2013 to comply with employment regulations. The Anti-Money Laundering Policy will 
be passed to the unions for information purposes. 
 
Training sessions will be carried out for all staff and members on Anti-Money 
Laundering requirements through the Council net-consent facility. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 13

Page 383



RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
There will be no resource implications.  Any amendments to the Council’s policies will  
be placed on the Council’s website and included as required in the Constitution. 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
There are no Financial, Equality, Diversity and Human Rights, Consultation, 
Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk Management Implications other than 
mentioned in the executive summary. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
Background 
 
Governance is about how the Council ensures that it is doing the right things, in the 
right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable 
manner. It comprises the systems and processes, and cultures and values, by which 
such bodies are directed and controlled and through which they account to, engage 
with and, where appropriate, lead their communities. 
 
The Council strives to meet the highest standards of corporate governance to help 
ensure it meets its objectives. Members and Officers are responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of the Council’s affairs and the 
stewardship of the resources at its disposal. 
 
The Council’s Ethical Governance arrangements are a key part of good Corporate 
Governance and important component parts of this are the Council’s Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy as well as the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and the 
Whistleblowing Policy. The policies are subject to regular review to ensure that they 
remain fit for purpose. The Audit & Governance Committee  reviewed the Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy, the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Whistleblowing 
Policy at its meeting on 31 October 2013. The Council is now asked to adopt its Anti-
Money Laundering Policy. 
 
Governance forms parts of the Council’s commitment to customer excellence which 
underpins the Council’s Strategic Plan and vision. 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Jane M Hackett Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer Tel: 709258 if you would like further 
information or clarification prior to the meeting. 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Draft Policy – Attached (Appendix 1) 

Page 384



 

Page 385



Page 386

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

APPENDIX 1      

 TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy 
 

 
1. Introduction 
 
Although local authorities are not directly covered by the requirements of the 
Money Laundering Regulations 2007, guidance from CIPFA indicates that they 
should comply with the underlying spirit of the legislation and regulations. 
 
Tamworth Borough Council is committed to the highest possible standards of 
conduct and governance, therefore, it has put in place appropriate and 
proportionate anti-money laundering safeguards and reporting arrangements. 
 
All organisations, including the Council, must report any money laundering 
suspicions for cash transactions over 15,000 Euros. However, where any 
member of staff has concerns at accepting a large cash payment they can 
contact the MLRO for guidance. To help prevent money laundering, the 
Council has set a cash payment limit of £5,000. No cash payments above 
£5,000 are to be accepted by any Council service unless such is approved 
by the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) or in her absence the 
Section 151 Officer.  
 
The MLRO will when appropriate meet the payee and go through a series of 
checks prior to making a decision on whether to accept the payment.  
 
This is not designed to prevent customers making payments for Council services 
but to minimise the risk to the Council of high value cash transactions. 
 
2. Scope of the Policy  
 
This policy applies to all employees, whether permanent or temporary, and 
Members of the Council. 
 
Its aim is to enable employees and Members to respond to a concern they have 
in the course of their dealings for the Council. Individuals who have a concern 
relating to a matter outside work should contact the Police. 
 
 
 
 

Page 387



 2

3. Definition of Money Laundering 
 
Money laundering describes offences involving the integration of the proceeds of 
crime or terrorist funds into the mainstream economy. Such offences are defined 
under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (“the Act”); the following are ‘prohibited 
acts’:  
 
� Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal 

property from the UK  
� Becoming involved in an arrangement which an individual knows or 

suspects facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal 
property by or on behalf of another person 

� Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property 
� Failure to disclose one of the offences listed above, where there are 

reasonable grounds for knowledge or suspicion  
� Doing something that might prejudice an investigation e.g. falsifying a 

document 
� Tipping off a person(s) who is or is suspected of being involved in money 

laundering in such a way as to reduce the likelihood of or prejudice an 
investigation 

 
Provided the Council does not undertake activities regulated under the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000, the offences of failure to disclose and tipping off 
do not apply. However, the Council and its employees and Members remain 
subject to the remainder of the offences and the full provisions of the Terrorism 
Act 2000. 
 
The Terrorism Act 2000 made it an offence of money laundering to become 
concerned in an arrangement relating to the retention or control of property likely 
to be used for the purposes of terrorism, or resulting from acts of terrorism. 
 
Although the term ‘money laundering’ is generally used to describe the activities 
of organised crime, for most people it will involve a suspicion that someone they 
know, or know of, is benefiting financially from dishonest activities. 
 
Potentially very heavy penalties (unlimited fines and imprisonment up to fourteen 
years) can be handed down to those who are convicted of one of the offences 
above. 
 
 
4. Requirements of the Money Laundering Legislation  
 
The main requirements of the legislation are: 
 
� To appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer  
� Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances  

Page 388



 3

� Implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money 
laundering  

� Maintain record keeping procedures  
 
 
5. The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) 
 
The Council has designated the Monitoring Officer as the Money Laundering 
Reporting Officer (MLRO). She can be contacted on 01827 709258 or by email  
jane-hackett@tamworth.gov.uk. 
 
 
In the absence of the MLRO or in instances where it is suspected that the MLRO 
could be involved in suspicious transactions, concerns should be raised with the 
Section 151 Officer – Executive Director (Corporate Services).  He can be 
contacted on 01827 709252 or by email john-wheatley@tamworth.gov.uk. 
 
 
6. Reporting Procedure for Suspicions of Money Laundering 
 
Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is taking/has taken 
place, or become concerned that your involvement in a matter may amount to a 
prohibited act under the Act, you must report your suspicions immediately to the 
MLRO.  
 
The report must include as much detail as possible including: 
 
� Full details of the people involved  
� Full details of the nature of their/your involvement.  
� The types of money laundering activity involved  
� The date(s) of such activity/ies  
� Whether the transactions have happened, are ongoing or are imminent;  
� Where they took place (if applicable);  
� How they were undertaken (if applicable);  
� The (likely) amount of money/assets involved;  
� Why, exactly, you are suspicious.  

 
Along with any other available information to enable the MLRO to make a sound 
judgement as to whether there are reasonable grounds for knowledge or 
suspicion of money laundering and to enable her to prepare a report to the 
National Crime Agency (NCA), where appropriate. You should also enclose 
copies of any relevant supporting documentation. 
 
If you are concerned that your involvement in the transaction would amount to a 
prohibited act under sections 327 – 329 of the Act (see appendix 1), then your 
report must include all relevant details, as you will need consent from the NCA, 

Page 389



 4

via the MLRO, to take any further part in the transaction - this is the case even if 
the client gives instructions for the matter to proceed before such consent is 
given. You should therefore make it clear in the report if such consent is required 
and clarify whether there are any deadlines for giving such consent e.g. a 
completion date or court deadline. 
 
Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions 
she may give you. You must NOT make any further enquiries into the matter 
yourself: any necessary investigation will be undertaken by the NCA. Simply 
report your suspicions to the MLRO who will refer the matter on to the NCA if 
appropriate. All members of staff will be required to co-operate with the MLRO 
and the authorities during any subsequent money laundering investigation. 
 
Similarly, at no time and under no circumstances should you voice any 
suspicions to the person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering, even if the 
NCA has given consent to a particular transaction proceeding, without the 
specific consent of the MLRO; otherwise you may commit the criminal offence of 
“tipping off”. 
 
Do not, therefore, make any reference on a client file to a report having been 
made to the MLRO – should the client exercise their right to see the file, then 
such a note will obviously tip them off to the report having been made and may 
render you liable to prosecution. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in 
a confidential manner. 
 
 
7. Consideration of the disclosure by the Money Laundering Reporting 

Officer  
 
Upon receipt of a report, the MLRO must note the date thereof and acknowledge 
receipt. She should also advise you of the timescale within which she expects to 
respond to you. 
 
The MLRO will consider the report and any other available internal information 
she thinks relevant e.g. 
 
� reviewing other transaction patterns and volumes;  
� the length of any business relationship involved;  
� the number of any one-off transactions and linked one-off transactions;  
� any identification evidence held;  

 
She will also undertake such other reasonable inquiries that are appropriate in 
order to ensure that all available information is taken into account in deciding 
whether a report to the NCA is required (such enquiries being made in such a 
way as to avoid any appearance of tipping off those involved). The MLRO may 
also need to discuss the report with you. 

Page 390



 5

 
Once the MLRO has evaluated the report and any other relevant information, she 
must make a timely determination as to whether: 
 
� there is actual or suspected money laundering taking place; or  
� there are reasonable grounds to know or suspect that is the case; and  
� there is a requirement to seek consent from the NCA for a particular 

transaction to proceed. 
 
Where the MLRO does so conclude, then she must disclose the matter as soon 
as practicable to the NCA on their standard report form and in the prescribed 
manner, unless she has a reasonable excuse for non-disclosure to the NCA (for 
example, if you are a lawyer and you wish to claim legal professional privilege for 
not disclosing the information). 
 
Where the MLRO suspects money laundering but has a reasonable excuse for 
non-disclosure, then she must note this accordingly; she can then immediately 
give her consent for any ongoing or imminent transactions to proceed. 
 
In cases where legal professional privilege may apply, the MLRO must liaise with 
the Section 151 Officer to decide whether there is a reasonable excuse for not 
reporting the matter to the NCA. 
 
Where consent is required from the NCA for a transaction to proceed, then the 
transaction(s) in question must not be undertaken or completed until the NCA 
has specifically given consent, or there is deemed consent through the expiration 
of the relevant time limits without objection from the NCA. 
 
Where the MLRO concludes that there are no reasonable grounds to suspect 
money laundering then she shall note this accordingly and give consent for any 
ongoing or imminent transaction(s) to proceed. 
 
All reports referred to the MLRO and reports made by her to the NCA must be 
retained by the MLRO in a confidential file kept for that purpose, for a minimum 
of five years. 
 
The MLRO commits a criminal offence if she knows or suspects, or has 
reasonable grounds to do so, through a disclosure being made to her, that 
another person is engaged in money laundering and she does not disclose this 
as soon as practicable to the NCA.  
 
 
8. Training 
 
Officers considered likely to be exposed to suspicious situations, will be made 
aware of these by their senior officer and provided with appropriate training. 

Page 391



 6

 
Additionally, all employees and Members will be familiarised with the legal and 
regulatory requirements relating to money laundering and how they affect both 
the Council and themselves. 
 
Notwithstanding the paragraphs above, it is the duty of officers and Members to 
report all suspicious transactions whether they have received their training or not. 
 
9. Conclusion  
 
Given a local authority’s legal position with regard to the legislative requirements 
governing money laundering, the Council believes that this Policy represents a 
proportionate response to the level of risk it faces from money laundering 
offences. 
 
10. Review 
 
This policy and associated procedures will be reviewed annually.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 392



 7

 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 

 

Sections 327-329 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

 
 

S327 Concealing etc 

(1)A person commits an offence if he—  

(a) conceals criminal property;  

(b) disguises criminal property;  

(c) converts criminal property;  

(d) transfers criminal property;  

(e) removes criminal property from England and Wales or from Scotland or from Northern Ireland.  

(2)But a person does not commit such an offence if—  

(a) he makes an authorised disclosure under section 338 and (if the disclosure is made before he does the 

act mentioned in subsection (1)) he has the appropriate consent;  

(b) he intended to make such a disclosure but had a reasonable excuse for not doing so;  

(c) the act he does is done in carrying out a function he has relating to the enforcement of any provision of 

this Act or of any other enactment relating to criminal conduct or benefit from criminal conduct.  

(3)Concealing or disguising criminal property includes concealing or disguising its nature, source, location, 

disposition, movement or ownership or any rights with respect to it.  

 

328 Arrangements 

(1)A person commits an offence if he enters into or becomes concerned in an arrangement which he knows 

or suspects facilitates (by whatever means) the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by 

or on behalf of another person.  

(2)But a person does not commit such an offence if—  

Page 393



 8

(a) he makes an authorised disclosure under section 338 and (if the disclosure is made before he does the 

act mentioned in subsection (1)) he has the appropriate consent;  

(b) he intended to make such a disclosure but had a reasonable excuse for not doing so;  

(c) the act he does is done in carrying out a function he has relating to the enforcement of any provision of 

this Act or of any other enactment relating to criminal conduct or benefit from criminal conduct.  

 

329 Acquisition, use and possession 

(1)A person commits an offence if he—  

(a) acquires criminal property;  

(b) uses criminal property;  

(c) has possession of criminal property.  

(2)But a person does not commit such an offence if—  

(a) he makes an authorised disclosure under section 338 and (if the disclosure is made before he does the 

act mentioned in subsection (1)) he has the appropriate consent;  

(b) he intended to make such a disclosure but had a reasonable excuse for not doing so;  

(c) he acquired or used or had possession of the property for adequate consideration;  

(d) the act he does is done in carrying out a function he has relating to the enforcement of any provision of 

this Act or of any other enactment relating to criminal conduct or benefit from criminal conduct.  

(3)For the purposes of this section—  

(a) a person acquires property for inadequate consideration if the value of the consideration is significantly 

less than the value of the property;  

(b) a person uses or has possession of property for inadequate consideration if the value of the 

consideration is significantly less than the value of the use or possession;  

(c) the provision by a person of goods or services which he knows or suspects may help another to carry out 

criminal conduct is not consideration.  

 

 

Page 394


	Agenda
	2 To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Tamworth Parliamentary Constituency - Review of Polling Places
	Appendix A - List of Stakeholders and Consultees
	Appendix B - List of Polling Districts and Polling Places
	Appendix C Œ Detailed Summary of Comments and Proposed Actions
	Appendix D - Potential Polling Place Visit Report for Sacred Heart Catholic Church
	Appendix E - Potential Polling Place Visit Report for Dosthill Boys Club
	Appendix F - Potential Polling Place Visit Report for the Norman Chapel, St. Paul's Church

	7 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2013/14
	Enc. 1 for Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2013/14
	Enc. 2 for Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2013/14
	Enc. 3 for Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2013/14

	8 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15
	Appendix 1 -Council Tax Reduction Caseload Summary
	Appendix 2 -Council Tax Reduction Expenditure Summary
	Draft 2014/15 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme Policy
	Cabinet Report 15/08/12 detailing preferred option for Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme
	Full Council Report 13/12/12 for Decision to adopt the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme

	9 Fraud and Corruption Update Report
	Appendix 1 - Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement, Strategy and Guidance Notes
	Appendix 2 - Whistleblowing Policy

	10 Local Enterprise Partnership Governance Arrangements
	Appendix 1 Cabinet report 22 August 2013
	Appendix 2 - Draft constitution
	Appendix 3 Terms of Reference
	Appendix 4 Draft Terms of Reference for the Joint Scrutiny Committee

	11 Revised Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2013-2016
	Gambling Act Statement of Principles 2013-16.pdf

	12 Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 Fees
	Appendix 1 - Tamworth BC Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 Delegations
	Appendix 2 - Tamworth BC Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 Fee Levels
	Appendix 3 -Scrap Metal Policy

	13 Review of Anti-Money Laundering Policy
	Appendix 1 Draft Anti-Money Laundering Policy


